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Glossary

For definitions of our financial terms,
used throughout this report, please see
our glossary on pages 154 to 156.

Consistent with our approach since the introctuction of IFRS 10 in 2014, the financial data
presented in the Cverview and Strategic report is taken from the Investment basis financial
staterments. The Investment bas:s (which is unaudited) is an altermative performance
measure ("APM") and is described on page 38 and the differences from, and the
reconciliation to, the IFRS Audited financial statements are detailed on pages 39 to 42.

Disclaimer
Tne Annual report and accounts have been prepared sclely 1o provide information ta shareholders.
Trney should not be relied on by any other party or for any other purpose.

The Strategic report on pages 2 1o 56, the Directors’ report on pages 58 1¢ 72 and 83 to 90, and the
Directars’ remuneration report on pages 73 to 82 have been drawn up and presented in accordance with
and in reliance upon English company law and the liabilities of the Directors in connection with thase
reports shall be subject to the imitatians and restrictions provided by that law This Annual report may
contam statements about the future, including certain statemants about the future outiook tor 3i Group
ple and 1ts subbsicharies (“3i” or “the Group”) These are not guarantees of future performance and will
nat be updated. Although we believe our expectations are based on reasonable assumptions, any
statemerts about the future outlook may be influenced by factors that could cause actual outcomes

and results to be materially different
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Starting with capital of £15 million in
1945, today 3i is a leading international
investment company focusing on private
equity and infrastructure.

We provide our shareholders with access

to the higher growth potential of mid-market
unquoted companies. We use our strong
balance sheet and our expertise in specific
sectors and geographies to realise this
potential and aim to generate mid to high
teens returns for our shareholders.

Image removed

What we do Business model and strategy
3iis an investment company with two We have a diverse investment portfolio
complementary businesses, Private and disciplined investment processes.
Equity and Infrastructure, specialising This, together with our clear and
in core investment markets in northern consistent strategy, underpins our
Europe and North America. competitive advantage.

1 .Fur more Grow investment

infarmation portfolio samings

Realize investments with
good cash-to-cash returns

Maintain an operating
cash profit

Use our strony
balance shaet

Increase shareholder
distributions

1 Fer more
information

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018
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Overview

Performance highlights
for the year to 31 March 2018

724p

NAV per share

(31 March 2017; 604p)

30.0p

Dividend

per share
(20617, 26.5p)

£1,323m

Realised

proceeds
(2017 £1,275m%)

£1.1bn

Advised 3i
Infrastructure plc
("3iN") on the
disposals of Elenia
and Anglian Water
Group ("AWG")

{(2017: nily

Y Operating cash prafit in 2017 15 on a continuing basis

24%

Total return

on equity
(2017: 36%)

£11m

Operating
cash profit

(2017 £5m’)

£587m

Private Equity

cash invested
{2017 £478m)

2 tnciudes proceeds of £270 millign from the sale of Debt Management

Certan financial measures used it aur Annual Report, such as operating cash prohi, ara not defined
under IFRS ard are therefore termed APMs Furthe- detalls on AFMs are included on page 43

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018

FY2018 was another successful year
for 3i. Our two divisions generated
strong returns and we maintained

-our excellent track record of

realisations, generating proceeds
of £1,323 million (2017: £1,275
million). Importantly, we completed
or announced over £700 million

of investment in Private Equity.

In addition, we completed our

first Infrastructure investment in
North America and launched two
infrastructure funds in Europe to
complement our mandate for 3iN.

Market environment

FY2018 was a year dominated by global
politics and increasing tensions across

the world stage. This, coupled with the
expectation of interest rate rises in the US,
led to an increase in volatility across

capital markets, ever though the broad
macro-economic picture remained strong.
Financing markets remained relatively robust
throughout the year, more closely reflecting
the healthy macro-economic outlook.

The Group used this strong back-drop to sell
a number of significant investments across
both divisions, which delivered outstanding
investment returns for shareholders. At the
same time, the Group's investment teams in
key geographes originated attractive new
investments while remaining focused on
price discipline.



Performance and dividend

The Group's total return for the year was
£1,425 million (2017: £1,592 million). Net asset
value increased to 724 pence per share

{31 March 2017: 604 pence) and our retyrn
on opening shareholders’ funds was 24%
{2017: 36%). We remained net divestars in
FY2018, ending the year with net cash of
£479 million and liquidity of £1,404 million
{31 March 2017 net cash of £419 million and
liquidity of £1,323 million). knmediately after
the year end, on 3 Aprit 2018, we completed
the £135 million investment in Royal Sanders
announced in February 2018.

In recognition of the Group's financial
perfarmance in FY2018 and the strength

of its balance sheet, the Board has
recommended a dividend of 22.0 pence
(2017 18.5 pence). This is made up of the
balance of the base dividend (8 pence

per share, after the 8 pence paid in January
2018) and an additional dividend of 14.0
pence. Subject to sharehclder appraval,
the dividend will be paid tc sharehalders in
July 2018 and makes a total dividend for the
year of 30.0 pence (2017: 24.5 pence).

Our policy of paying a base and additional
dividend was introduced in May 2012. it has
warked well as we reshaped the Group's
strategy and simplified our business modet.
Six years of successful strategic delivery
since then have supported an increase in
the total dividend from 8.1 pence in FY2013
to 30.0 pence in FYZ018.

In light of the Group’s continued progress

in executing its strateqy, we now propose

to replace our base and additicnal dividend
policy with a ssmpler policy. The Board will
maintain its conservative balance sheet
strategy, which excludes structural gearing
at the Group level, and will carefully consider
the outlook for investments and realisations
and market conditions. Subject to that,

the Board will 2im to maintain or grow the
dividend each year, from the 30.0 pence
this year. We will continue to pay an interim
dividend, which we expect to set at 50% of
the prior year's total dividend, subject to the
same considerations.

Board and management

After last year's changes, this year the
compasition of the Board was stable. | would
like to thank the Board, the management
team and all of our employees for their
contribution to this year's excellent results.

Qutlook

We enter FY2019 with a high-performing
portfolic of investments in both of our
divisions and a strong balance shaet.
Competition in both private equity and
infrastructure remains intense, with high
asset prices demanding a disciplined
approach to investment Butlremain
confident that the Group will be agile and
opportunistic as we navigate what looks
likely to be ancther year of significant
econcmic and geo-political uncertainty.

Simon Thompson
Chairman

Chairman’s
statement

Image removed
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Overview

Chief

Executive's
statement

3i delivered another strong ali-round
performance in FY2018, with NAV per share
increasing by 20% to 724 pence (31 March 2017
604 pence). Unlike FY2017, which included

a £297 million gain on currency translation,

our total return of £1,425 million (2017: £1,592
million) was after a £16 million loss on currency.
This return was 24% of opening shareholders’
funds, marking the fourth consecutive year of
greater than 20% returns. This was a profitable
year for realisations; we received £1.3 billion of
cash and announced a further c.£350 million of
proceeds which will complete by summer 2018.
It was also a good year for new investment,
with £827 million invested, including in five
new companies. So FY2018 was a very active
year and further confirmation of the Group's
strategy and return potential.

Image removed
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A strong portfolio

in Private Equity

In Private Equity, we have a quality
investment portfolio, which is performing
strangly overall. Earnings increased in
91% of the portfolio by value in the year
{2017 93%) and generated attractive
returns for shareholders.

Longer-term hold assets

QOur largest Private Equity investment,
Action, had ancther strong year. Action’s
expansion continued at an impressive

rate, with 243 net new stores opened

in calendar year 2017. Revenue grew by

28% 1o €34 billion, like-for-like sales by

5.3% and EBITDA by 25% to €387 million
{2017: €2 7 billion, 9% and €310 mitlion).
Action now has over 1,100 stares and intends
1o open more stores in 2018 than 2017,

New Action stores become profitable in

one year on average and the rapid expansion
programme led to another year of strong
value growth.

Action’s straightforward business model,
built on a consistent, one-store format and
good quality but inexpensive products, has
been proven to work in seven countries so
far. However, growth at this pace requires
very significant investrment in logistics,
supply chain, [T, risk maragement and HR.
To manage the enormous volume of goods,
Action opened a further two distribution
centres {"2Cs") in 2018 and commenced
building two more.

£307m

proceeds from
Action refinancing

The newer DCs wilt help support Action’s
expansion and reduce costs in the future,

as those stores that are a long distance from
a DC incur materially higher transport costs.
Growth an this scale is very challenging to
manage and Action encountered its share
of issues in logistics and distribution and
within certain product categories in 2017,
These challenges, together with building

a pan-European infrastructure to cope with
the medium-term ambition of €10 billion

of revenues, will have a dampening effect
en the rate of profit growth expected

this year, as they did in 2017. But Action is

an exceptional business, it is still likely to
generate sector-leading sales and profit
growth in 2018 and this ongoing investment
in logistics and infrastructure will facilitate its

considerable medium-term growth potential.

Notwithstanding the above, Action remains
very cash generative due to its asset-light
model and structurally negative warking
capital, and the company completed its fifth
refinancing in March 2018. The proceeds

of the €24 billion refinancing supported

a return of capital to shareholders, of

which 3i received £307 million, taking total
distributions to 3i since investment to

£834 millicn, a 7.1x cash return to date.

7.4x

money multiple on
upcoming Scandlines
transaction

Our other long-term hoid asset, Scandlires,
had a significant year. 3i, together with
Eurofund V ("EFV"), initially invested

€81 miltion (3i only: £31 million} to acquire

a 40% stake in Scandlines in 2007.

We purchased a further 10% stake for

€43 million (3i only: £21 million) in 201G
before acquiring the final 50% stake for
€165 mullion (3i only: £77 million) in 2013,
Scandlines now has two highly efficient
ferry routes linking Cantinental Eurcpe to
Scandinavia and as a result of investing in
its ferry capacity, increasing the frequency
of crossings and investing in its border
shops, generates significant and stable cash
flows. This characteristic meant that, in July
2017, Scandlines completed an €862 million
infrastructure debt refinancing, which
substantially recuced its long-term cost

of debt.

Together, these initiatives enabled us to
announce the sale of Scandlines to funds
managed by First State Investments and
Hermes Investment Management for an
equity value of £1.7 billicn in March 2018.
This represents a 7.4x money multiple on
our total investment, and a 5.8x multiple

on our further investment in 2013. 3i remains
committed to the business and will

reinvest ¢ €600 million to hold a 35% stake,
alongside First State Investments and
Hermes Investment Management, as we
expect to generate attractive returns and
receive regular cash dividends over the
medium term. This will provide an important
contribution to the Group's operating

cash position.

3i Group Annual repart and accounts 2018
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Overview

Chief Executive’s

statement

continued

Pertfolio perfarmance

The portfolio of investments put together
between 2013 and 2016 is creating significant
value with notable increases from Basic-Fit,
Scandlines, Audley Trave! and Weener Plastic
{"WP"). In addition, we sold ATESTEQO far

a money multiple of 4.8x m February 2018

As at 31 March 2018, our 2013-2016 vintage
had already achieved a money multiple of
2.1% {31 March 2017 1.7%).

itis inevitable that there will be some
chaltenges in any Private Equity portfolio
and our German high street jeweller,
Christ, continues to suffer from structural
changes in the retaif sector such as the
heavily discounted Black Friday weekend
and the relentless shift to online. Christ saw
the fargest dedline in value of the year

at £53 million and we are working with
management to develop a medium-term
plan to help protect its strong brand as it
meets these headwinds

We have been active investors over the

last two years and, because of the
competitive ehvironment, we have
specifically targeted primary buy-out

or family company investiments, as well

as companies that require a degree of
operational improvement. Qur agenda

an buying these companies can be very
intensive in terms of reshaping the business,
restructuring finances, improving operational
efficiency, investing for growth and
changing or professionalising management.
These situations often invaive significant
early cash investment, as well as being
operationally disruptive.

21x

money multiple on

the 2013-2016 portfolio
of investments

{31 March 2017: 1.7%)

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018

This in turn means that returns can be
madest in the early years of our ownership
but then accelerate rapidly towards ext.
Schiermmer, Formel D and BoConcept

are good examples of investments

which are undergoing this type of radical
change programme,

Our proprietary capital model means
that we do not have the same pressure

to invest capital for the sake of generating
fees. Our teams have the time tc seek

out interesting companies and buwld
relationships with management teams
{ong before any auction process starts.

FY2018 was a good year for investment.
We invested £587 million n four companies
at sensible prices: Hans Anders, Lampenwelt,
Formel D and Cirtec Mediical (including

a follow-on investment to support its
acquisition of Vascotube), Our £135 million
investrment in Royal Sanders, anncunced

in February 2018, completed in April 2018,
We also announced our ¢.$150 million
investment in ICE {International Cruise

8 Excursions), a leading provider of loyalty
and travel solutions in April 2018, which is
expected to complete by June 2018.

We have invested in a number of companies
in recent years, such as WP, Cirtec Medical
{“Cirtec”), Ponroy Santé and Q Holding,
which are platform assets that can pursue
growth through bolt-on acquisitions or
strategic M&A. All of these companies are
In sectors with high growth potential where
there is significant opportunity to scale up
and build value. Recent acquisitions in our
portfolio ranged from smaller add-ons for
WP to Cirtec's transformative acquisition of
Vascotube and Ponroy Santé’s acquisition
of Aragan.

Four

new Private Equity
investments
2017:3)

An outstanding year
for Infrastructure

We have two broad prorities in
Infrastructure. First, we are focused on

our advisory relationship with 3iN and the
delivery of good returns from its portfolio.
Secand, our expertise in the sector is
allowing us to develop complementary fund
management jnitiatives in Europe and North
America in order to build the Group's fund
management income and contribute to our
operating cash position.

Ouyr Infrastructure team had a very strong
year. It advised 3iN on its disposals of

Elenia and AWG, 3iN's last investments in
regulated utilities, generating proceeds of
£1.1 billion and returns of 4 5x and 3.3x cost
respectively. The value uplifts from these
sales were returned 1o 3iN sharehalders via
a f425 million special dividend in March 2018,
af which 3i received £143 million. In addition,
we advised 3iN on six investments in mid-
market economic infrastructure businesses
totalling £525 million. Our main priority

this year will be to ensure that these recent
investments deliver good performance,

The 3i team, together with the 3iN Board,
has done an outstanding job in repositioning
3iN’s portfolic away from an increasing level
of regulatory risk. The realisations of Elenia
and AWG produced excellent financial
returns and reinforced 3i's reputation as
one of the leading infrastructure investment
teams in Europe.



3iN’s total return for the year was 29%,
the highest since its IPO in 2007 and, for
those sharehalders who invested in 3IN's
£385 million capital raise in June 2016
{including 3 Group), the 31% return on
their investment is impressive.

During the year, we raised two new funds,
the £700 million 3i Managed Infrastructure
Acquisitions LP and the 3i Eurcpean
Qperational Projects Fund ("EOPF”).

There was strong investor demand far EOPF,
which had its final close in April 2018 with
£456 million of commitments, ahead of its
€400 million target. The team is focused on
sourcing assets for the fund and has invested
or committed to invest €85 million of that
capital so far.

QOur new US Infrastructure team completed
its first investment in Smarte Carte in
November 2017 as a seed for the North
America fund management strategy.

We made a further investment in January
2018 to support Smarte Carte's acquisition

of Aviation Mobility, and the team completed
a $225 million refinancing of Smarte Carte in
March 2018. Over the last 12 months, we have
recruited selectively to build a team in the

US and they are now busy with an interesting
pipeline of cpportunities.

Qur Infrastructure platform is an important
source of fund managemenit fee income.
As a result of the increase in investment
activity, we generated £50 millian of fee
income (2017: £36 million), a performance
fee of £90 million from 3iN (2017: £4 million)
and closed the year with assets under
management of £3.4 billion (31 March
2017 £2 % billion).

L ]
Six
advised 3iN

on six investments
2017:6)

Proprietary capital model
underpinned by our strong
balance sheet

We ended the year with net cash of

£479 million {31 March 2017: £419 million).
FY2018 was an outstanding year for
realisations but generally we expect to hold
high levels of cash and liquidity to ensure
that we can continue to invest without
having to accelerate realisations ahead

of their full potential.

Our proprietary capital is the cornerstone
of the 3i business model, supported by

a complementary fund management
platform in Infrastructure, which ensures
our shareholders benefit from access to
our Private Equity investment returns with
minimal dilution from the costs of running
our business. 3i aims to be the investor

of choice in its core sectors of Business
and Technology Services, Cansumer and
Industrial. Qur long history of investing in
the mid-market with a consistent, local, on
the ground, presence in northern Europe
and North America gives us a sustainable
origination advantage. Qur ungeared
balance sheet allows us tc be competitive
and move fast for the right businesses.

To ensure that cur proprietary capital
model is as efficient as possible, we remain
disciplined on firm costs. We closed our
Madrid office this year following the sale
of Mémora, our last significant Private
Equity asset in Spain. Operating cash profit
increased to £11 million {2017: £5 million)

as advisory income from Infrastructure
improved and cash operating expenses
declined marginally to £115 million

(2017: £116 million).

£50m

of fee income
from Infrastructure
(2017: £36 miillion)

Outlook

We enter FY2019 with a good level of
momentum across the Group and, while
the wider gec-political environment
remains challenging, we are confident in our
ability to deliver continued strong growth
for shareholders together with healthy
dividends. We will stay focused on the mid
market, maintain our discipline on pricing for
new investments and use the rigour of our
investment processes ta manage our two
portfolios actively.

t would like tc thank the 3i team for their
good work and contribution to yet anather
strong year for the Group. These excellent
results are a further demonstration that 3i's
strategy is capable of delivering consistently
goad returns. Our fund management
initiatives, together with our reinvestment
into Scandlines, will generate important cash
income for the Group while our proprietary
capital portfolio remains well positioned ta
generate top tier capital returns.

Simon Borrows
Chief Executive

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018
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Overview

Action

Action is the fastest growing major
non-food discount retailer in Europe
with stores in saven countries. It now has
more than 1,100 stores that are visited
by over six million customers a week and
offers a surprising, ever changing range
of products at incredibly low prices,

Action has a very straightforward business
modei. Each store is simple in design and
offars over 6,000 products in 14 categories.
Only one-third of these products are part
of a standard range, the other two-thirds
change constantly.

Store expansion

at 31 Decembar

1,095
2

85 stores

stores

Graph removed

Geographical spread of stores
and DCs at 31 December 2017

6 stores

347 stores and 2 DCs
153 stores

216 stares and 1 DC
18 stores

335 storas and 2 DCs

3i Graup Annyal report and accounts 2018

Action can buy large volumes due to its scale
and this, together with a very low cost base,
means that the savings are passed onto its
customers and its prices are kept low.

In 2017, Action added 243 net new stares

in seven countries, opened its milestane
1,000th store and opened two DCsin
France and Germany. Action entered the
Polish market, another important step in its
geographic expansion, and intends to open
more stores in Poland in 2018. In France,
Action passed the 300th store mark within
five years of opening its first store in 2012

243

added since 2016

10

relocated

3

enlarged

14

refurbishad

Graph removed

In December 2017, Action generated more
revenue in France than in the Netherlands
for the first time. In Germany, Action opened
its 200th store at the end of November

2017 With over 700 stores outside the
Netherlands, the company that started in
1993 with one small store in Enkhuizen, the
Netherlands, is now a pan-Eurcpean retailer

To support this growth, Action empioyed a
further 6,000 pecpie in 2017, taking its total
headcount to 41,000. Action has invested
heavily in new OCs and hired new managers
with particular supply chain expertise. It also
implemented a new warehouse system

in its new DCs to enable a fast roll-out to
new warehouses and lay the foundation

far future expansion.

Key financial
figures

at 31 Dacember

Graph removed

People

41,000

Employees

6,000

New employees hired

Image removed




Image removed

Our
business

A summary of our business,
how we create value and
the strategy that drives

our performance

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018

o9



10

Our business

Our business
at a glance

1%
Sog 15%
. - North
Private Equity 4 Other Erana™
V\;(\e“c
£5,825m o
f ) 44
Proprietary capital value 5
. 8%
Scandlines
17%
£8.3bn
Activity Assets under Graph removed
* |nvestment and asset management Management
1o generate capital returns

« Investing in companies typically

with an enterprise value of

€100 million—-€500 million at acquisition
in our core investment markets of
northern Europe and North America

.

Focused on three sectors: Business
and Technology Services, Consumer
and Industrial

18%

Invested in Action and Scandlines for
the medium term to generate capital
returns and cash income

Portfolio of 35 unquoted assets and AUM breakdown by sector
one quoted stake

Consumer Industrial Business and Technology Services Other
18 Read more about
Private Equity
. -
Highlights
MKM ATESTEO
Cash money multiple on exit Cash money multiple on exit
59 4.8x
(May 2017) (February 2018)
Logo removed Image remaved Logo removed Image removed
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2% 52%

Infrastructure omher Eurape

n
v\:;tgi\('

£832m "
£3.4bn

Activity Assets under

* Investment and asset management to Management
gererate cash income and capital returns

21%

* nvestment Adviser to 3iN, which focuses
on ecanomic infrastructure and greenfield
project investments in developed
economies, principally in Europe

* Manage three European Infrastructure Graph removed

funds and one India Infrastructure fund

16%

* Set up a North American A%
Infrastructure team

25 Read more about
Infrastructure

S

AUM breakdown by fund

« 3i Infrastructure pic

» S infrastructure

= 3i India Infrastructure Fund

* BIIF Fund

+ 3i Managed infrastructure Acquisitions LP
s 3i European Operational Projects Fund

Smarte Carte 3iN
Investment Special dividend
{November 2017) (March 2018)

Image removed
| Logo removed I Logo removed
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Qur business

Our
business
model

Key resources

Expert people

Our business is built on the skills of
our people and the deep knowledge
they have in their core markets and
sectors. Where passible, we train our
people in-house and our graduate
programme is designed to develop
world-class investment professionals
and business teaders.

Network

Cur well-developed external
network of advisers and business
leaders assists us to identify

Our expertise and strong balance
sheet differentiate our investment
proposition and underpin our
capability to deliver growth and
returns to shareholders.

How we create value

Disciplined approach

Qur institutional investment
platform ensures a consistent
appraach to making investment
and divestment decisions.

Fund and portfolic income, together
with discipline on costs, avoids
dilution of returns.

and access opportunities, Investing in
carry out due diligence and opportunities in
provide invaluable resources line with our
to our portfolio companies. risk appetite

Reputation

As ap investment company established
far over 70 years, listed on the London
Stock Exchange and a member of the
FTSE 100, we have developed a strong
brand and reputation.

Strong balance sheet

Our strong balance sheet allows us the
flexibility and speed to invest in Private
Equity and Infrastructure opportunities.

We reinvest
a propertion
of our returns
to fund new
investments

12 3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018

Active management

Qur monthly portfolio monitering
meetings and semi-annual
investment reviews enable us to
pursue opportunities for growth as
well as to identify issues promptly.



Realisations,
fees and
portfalio
income

Net Balance sheet strategy to
generate good distributions

operating for sharehalders and funds
expense ta invest for future growth
Net carried
interest
payable Net interest
costs Shareholder
distributions

Funds
to invest

Graph removed

Capable of generating mid to high
teens returns through the cycle

£1.425m

24% total return

30.0p

dividend per share

Genarate

returns for our
shareholders

£1,323m

realised proceeds

3i Group Anrual report and accounts 2018
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Our business

Grow
investment
portfolio
earnings

Realise
investments

with good
Ou r cash-to-cash

Strateg ic Maintain an
objectives o

We focus on opportunities

where our sector and investment Use our
expertise, combined with our strong balance
international presence and sheet

strong capital position, can
create material value for our
stakeholders.

Increase
shareholder
distributions

14 3i Group Annual repart and accounts 2018



FY2018 progress FY2019 outlock
o) » Action's growth is expected to continue as it 18 Forfurther
(o] plans to open mare stores in 2018 than in 2017 Eeethe Private
uity section
of Private Equity * Strong performance from 2013-16 vintage and N
portfclio companies’ good potential in the 2016-19 virtage
(by value) grew earnings * Close monitoring of potential impact of
in FY2018 geo-political and macro-economic uncertainty
£ * Scandlines disposal and pla-rtial re-investment 18 Forturther
7 m (net proceeds of ¢ €350 million) expected to see the Private
Private Equity proceeds complete in the summer of 2018 Equity section
¢ Expect realisations to be at least £750 million,
subject to market conditions O For e
£143m .
Infrastructur
Special dividend from 3iN section
* Increasing cash income expected from PQ Forfurther
m Infrastructure and Scandlines see the

Operating cash profit?

» Continue to focus on generating income where
appropriate from the remainder of the Private
Equity portfolio

¢ Cost discipline will be maintained

Financial review

. Plan_ to invest up to £750 million pa of_proprietary 29 :;;m:;
m capital in four to seven Private Equity investments, see the

. . .. BURENT . Financial review
Invested in Private Equity whilst maintaining discipline on entry prices

£217m

Invested in Infrastructure

» Advise 3iN on its recent investments to deliver good
returns and source further investment opportunities

* Support Infrastructure’s fund management initiatives
in Europe and North America with new funds

 The dividend will be subject to the level of Fer further
- . N 1 rmation
. p investment, realisations and balance sheet strength sea tha Chairman's
statarment

® Aim to maintain or grow the dividend year-on-year

® Expect interim FY2019 dividend to be 50%
of FY2018's total dividend of 30.0 pence

Dividend per share

1 Inzludes 21 earmpanies valued an an earnings basis, as well as Basic-Fit and Scandlines

£ UISETETING Ei8h PROTT I3 3R AFT FUIthe: delails are included on page 47

Further information on how tnese strategic gnjectives are factored into decisions concerming the
Executive Directors’ remuneration s ircluded .» the Directors’ remunaration report on page 73

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018
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Our business

Key performance

indicators

KPt
Gross investment
return ("GIR"}12

as % of opening
portfolio value

Cash realisations'?

Cash investment'?

Ogperating cash
profit!2?

NAV
per share

Total shareholder
return (“TSR")

The performance of the
proprietary investment portfaho
expressed as a percentage of
the cpening portfclio value.

Support our returns to
shareholders, as well as
our ability to invest in
new gpportunities.
Cash realisations
Praceeds from the sale

of Debt Management/residual
Debt Management assets

ldentifying new cpportunities
in which to invest proprietary
capital is the primary driver of
the Group's ability to deliver
attractive returns. We also
invest further capital in
existing investments.

By covering the cash aperating
cost of running our business
with cash income, we reduce
the potential dilution of
capital returns

The measure of the fair value
per share of our proprietary
investrments and other assets
after the net cost of operating
the business.

The return 1o our shareholders
through the mavement in the
share price and dividends paid
during the year.

Dradends
Skare price

3i Group Annual repart and accounts 2018

Graph removed

Graph removed

Graph removed

Graph remeved

Graph removed

Graph removed

Link to strategic objaectives
Grow investment

portfolio earnings

Realise investments with
good cash-to-cash returhs

Realise investments with
good cash-to-cash returns

Increase sharsholder
distributions

Grow investment
portfolio sarnings

Use our strong
balance sheeat

Increase sharsholder
distributions

Maintain an operating
cash profit

increase shareholder
distributions

Grow invastment
portfolia earnings

Realise investments with
good cash-to-cash returns

Maintain an operating
cash profit

Incraase sharehoider
distributions



FY¥2018 progress

* Another year of strong performance with a GIR in Private Equity

of £1,438 million, or 30% and a Group GIR of £1,552 million, or 27%
Action performed strongly, apening 243 net new stores in calendar year
2017 and generating like-for-Ike sales growth of 5.3%

Significant uplifts recognised as a result of the highly competitive
process for $candlines and the sale of ATESTEO to a strategic buyer

2013-16 vintage of investments delivered a GIR of 29% (2017: 29%)
3iN delivered a TSR of 12% (2017: 16%)

GIR includes an £11 million gain from foreign exchange
(2017: £249 million gain)

Private Equity generated proceeds of £1,002 million from the
disposal of eight companies and the refinancing of three assets

Received a £143 million special dividend from 3iN following the
divestments of its holdings in Elenia and AWG

Recesved proceeds of £152 million from the sale of the residual
Debt Management investments

Total proceeads of £1,323 mikion include £46 million of cash in transit
at 31 March 2018

Invested £587 million {2017: £478 miliion} in four new Private Equity

investments and two important further investments in Cirtec and Ponroy
Santé to support their acquisitions of Vascotube and Aragan respectively

funds by investing £40 million

Increasing cash income from Infrastructure replaced cash income
previously generated by the Debt Management business

Decision to reinvest in Scandlines to generate cash dividend income
for the Group

* Remain disciplined over operating cash expenses, which declined
marginally to £115 million {2017: £116 million)

Very strong GIR from Private Equity

Net divestment, strong balance sheet and closing net cash support
a dividend of 30.0 perce per share

M b dutully G theae AP mree icluded Houor Friancial review un page w3

[P NY

Invested £177 million in our first North American infrastructure investrment,
Smarte Carte, and supported the launch of two new European Infrastructure

20% increase in NAV per share to 724 pence (31 March 2017: 604 pence)

TSR of 18% driven by a share price increase of 15% in the year, together with the
final £Y2017 dividend of 18.5 pence and interim FY2018 dividend of 8.0 pence

Key risks

* Investment rates or quality of new investments are
lower than expected

Subbdued M&A activity and/or reduced prices in 3i's core
sectors could impact timing of exits and cash returns

Operational underperformance in the portfolio companies
impacts earnings growth and exit plans

Sterling materially strengthens against the eurc and
US dollar; at 31 March 2018, 78% of the portfolio was
denominated in euros or US dollars

Subdued M&A activity in aur core sectors reduces
investor appetite for our assets

Macro-econamic uncertainty limits investor appetite
far the private equity and infrastructure asset classes

Debt markets become less supportive of leveraged
buyouts or refinancings

Competition from other private equity and infrastructure
investors, as well as trade and other financial buyers, could
make it more challenging to scurce investments at prices
that will meet our return targets

Failure to attract, invest in and retain the right investment
executives iImpacts our ability to originate and manage assets

Failure to maintain and develop our network of advisers and
business leaders reduces the quality of potential deal flow

Portfolic performance, and therefore portfolio income,
is weak

Reduced akility to generate interest and dividend income
in a private equity structure

Infrastricture initiatives do not generate sufficient fee income

Unplanned increase in the cost base; for example legal,
compliance or regulatory costs

Implications of the UK's decision ta leave the EU and
the current UK political uncertainty could limit the
attractiveness of UK plc

Ongoing geo-political uncertainty further dampens
investor sentiment

Wider G20 political and economic uncertainty impacts
3i's portfolic companies and valuations

* Lower NAV due to investment underperformance
or political and econemic uncertainty

lnvestor appetite for 31 shares could reduce in a volatile
macro-economic environment

A number of our KPls are cafculated using financizl informatian wnick s not defired uncer IFRS and therefare they are classified as APMs

Furtharinformat.on or how these KPls are factared nto decisions concerning the Exacutive Directors’ remuaneat-on s included in the Directors’ remunerat.on report or page 73

Qperating cash profit balances up to 2014 include the contribution of the Debt Management bus:ness, sold to Investcerp 'n March 2017

31 Group Annual report and accounts 2018
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Our business

Private Equity

!nVestments
in the year

Image removed

3i Group Arnual report and accounts 2018

Consumer

Hans Anders

Founded in 1982 and headquartered
in the Netherlands, Hans Anders is

a market jeading, value-for-money
optical retailer. The campany offers

a range of private label and branded
spectacies, as well as hearing aids,
contact lenses and sunglasses through
a network of over 400 stores.

Hans Anders represents an attractive
oppoertunity, is consistent with our
consumer strategy and will benefit
from long-term growth dynarmics
including an aging pepulation, and an
increasing focus by consumers an the
vaiue-for-money segment.

We have extensive experience of
investing in the value-for-money
segment through Action and
Basic-Fit and we think there are
significant opportunities for growth
inthe highly fragmented European
optical retail market.

£172m

3i investment

For more information, visit
www hansanders.nl

Image removed

Industrial

Formel D

Formel D is a service provider to the
automotive and component supply
industry, headquartered in Germany
and founded in 1993. Through its range
of testing and inspection services

far individual parts, systems and
vehicles, Formel D is an impartant
player in the automotive value chain.
Formel D's customers include premium
autemotive OEMs with whom it has
long standing relationships. It has over
7,000 employees and operates more
than 80 facilities in 17 countries.

Along with our investment partners,
we are working with management to
roll out Formel D’s existing services
to clients in other geographies,
expand its client base in Asia and
increase its higher vaiue add services
sich as vehicle test specification

and virtual testing.

£132m

3i investment

For more information, visit
www.formeid.com/en



Image remaved

Consumer

Lampenwelt

Founced in 2004, Lampenwelt is
the leading specialist online retaler
of lighting products in Eurepe.

The company is headquartered in
Germany from where it distributes
own-brand and third-party products
ta customers in 15 countries

across Europe.

Lampenwelt differentiates itself from
its competitors through an extensive
range of over 45,000 own and
branded products, in-depth product
knowledge, excellent customer
service ang high product availability.

Industrial

Cirtec Medical

Cirtec is a leading provider of
outsourced medical device design,
engineering and manufacturing.
Cirtec is headguartered in Minnesota
with three facilities across the US

and one in Germany. The business
has been in operation for over 25
years and has over 500 employees.

In December 2017, Cirtec completed
a transformational acquisition

of Vascotube, a market leading
manufacturer of precision engineered
tubing based in Germany.

Cirtec specialises in outsourced
salutions for active implartables

and minimally invasive devices in

the areas of neuromodulation, drug
delivery, structural heart, interventional
cardiovascular and neurovascular and
other fast growing, minimatly invasive
interventional therapeutics.

We had been following Lampenwelt
for some time and during 2016
approached the company to discuss

a potential investment in the business.
We undertook due diligence cutside a
formal sales process, with full access to
the business and sentor management.
Lampenwelt's growth plans fit well with
our strategy of supporting mid-sized
companies to grow internationally.

£95m

3i investment

For mare information, visit
www.lampenweit.de
www.lights.co.uk

The medical device outsourcing
{"MDO") market is expected 1o grow at
a high single digit to low doubie digit
rate over the next five years, as medical
device manufacturers increasingly focus
on core competencies of research and
development and commercial initiatives.
Cirtecis strategically positioned to serve
attractive end markets that are set to
grow at a rate beycnd the broader
MDO industry.

We are supporting Cirtec to execute
its strategy through internal investment
and targeted acquisitions (such

as Vascotube} within the highly
fragmented MDO market. Utilising our
sector experience and international
network, we are warking with Cirtec to
establish a low cost footprint, expand
its development and manufacturing
capabilities and support the team's
growth as the organisation scales.

£172m

3i investment

For more information, visit
www.cirtecrned.com

Image removed

ssauishy Ing

Image removed
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QOur business

Private Equity

Business review

Our Private Equity business generated very strong returns in
FY2018 with a GIR of £1,438 million, or 30% on the opening portfolio

(2017: £1,624 million, 43%), and realisations of £1,002 million

(2017: £982 million). Despite continued political uncertainty and
highly competitive markets, assets including Action, Audley Travel
and Basic-Fit performed well. The team made investments of
£587 million and delivered very strong returns from the realisation
of ATESTEQ and the upcoming exit of Scandlines.

Investment activity

We had a very busy year, completing four
new investments and a number of further
acquisitions. We invested £95 million

in Lampenwelt, the largest European

online specialist retailer in the lighting
space and £172 miltion in Hans Anders,

a value-for-money optical retailer based in
the Netherlands. We invested £132 million
in Formel D, a service pravider to the
automotive and component supply industry
based in Germany, bringing in CITIC Capital
as a co-investor to facilitate Formel D's
expansion in China and £103 million in
Cirtec, a leading provider of outsourced
medical device design, engineering and
manufacturing, headquartered in the US.

An impartant component of our
investment strategy is our ability to
facilitate transformative M&A in aur
portfolio companies. In November 2017,
we completed a further investment

in Cirtec to support its acquisition of
Vascotube, an outsourced medical
device manufacturer based in Germany.
This transaction represented an

attractive opportunity to add a European
manufacturer whose product 1s used in
the fast-growing mirmally invasive sector
that Cirtec specialises in. We also invested
£1Q million in Ponroy Santé to support

its acquisition of Aragan, a designer and
distributor of premium pharmaceutical
food supplements. Finally, tagether with
EFV, 3i acquired £11 million of Action
shares from other shareholders.

Table 1: Private Equity cash investment in the year to 31 March 2018

In addition to the £587 million investment
cornpleted in the year to 31 March 2018, our
£135 million investment in Royal Sanders, a
ieading European private label and contract
manufacturing producer of persanal care
products, completed on 3 April 2018.

In April 2018, we also announced a

<.$150 million investrnent in Internationa
Cruises and Excursions, a global travel and
loyalty cormnpany that connects leading
brands, travel suppliers and end consumers.
The acquisition is expected to complete

by Jjune 2018.

Proprietary

Total capital

investment  investment

Investment Type Business description Date £m fm
Lampenwelt New Oniine lighting specialist retailer May 2017 96 95
Hans Anders  New Value-for-money optical retailer May 2017 173 172
Formel D New Cuality assurance service provider for the automotive industry  July 2017 150 132
BoConcept  Qver-funding Urban living designer July 2017 (1 (113
Cirtec New/Further Outsourced medical device manufacturing August/November 2017 173 172
Ponroy Santé  Further (M&A) Manufacturer of natural healthcare and cosmetics products November 2017 1 10
Action Further Nan-foed discount retailer March 2018 19 "
QOther n/a n/a n/a 8 [}
Total Private Equity investment 619 587

3i Group Annual repart and accounts 2018




Realisations activity

Market conditions remained favourable,
resulting in some highly competitive exit
processes. As a resylt, we generated
proceeds of £603 million from the sale of
eight companies, realising an average money
multiple of 2.4x (2017: £621 million, 1.8x).

The sale of ATESTEQ generated proceeds
of £278 million and a money multiple on

our investment of 4 8x. This is an excellent
result from one of our 2013-2016 vintage
investments. In addition, we completed

the sale of some of our older investments,
such as Mémora and MKM, as weli as Oticas
Carol, our last remaining investment in Brazil.
We sold all of our remaining quoted stakes

in Dphone and Refresco Gerber.

Where appropriate, we refinance our
strongest assets when market conditions
and trading performance allow. In July
2017, Scandlines completed an €842 million
refinancing, which resulted in £30 millian

of proceeds for 3i. In November 2017,

we completed the second refinancing of
ATESTEQ, which generated proceeds of
£30 million. Action's strong growth and
cash flow generation enabled it to de-lever
rapidly during 2017, allowing a €24 billion
refinancing in March 2018, which resulted

in a £307 million distribution to 3i. Since our
investment in 2011, Action has returned
£834 million of refinancing proceedsto 31,

a 7.1x cash return on our investment to date.

Table 2: Private Equity realisations in the year to 31 March 2018

In aggregate, we generated total proceeds
of £1,002 million (2017: £982 million) and
realised profits of £199 millicn in the year
(2017: £38 million).

As at 31 March 2018, the portfalio compnised
35 assets and one quoted stake (31 March
2017: 37 assets and three quoted stakes).

In March 2018, we announced the sale of
Scandtines and our partial reinvestment
together with funds managed by First
State Investments and Hermes Investment
Management. The effect of these
transactions will be accounted for when
the transaction completes, expected to be
in the summer of 2018.

31 March Profit/(toss) Uplift on
Calendar 2017 3irealised n the opening Residual
year valug' proceeds year’ value? value Money
Investment Country invested £m £m £m % £m multiple? IRR
Full realisations
ATESTEO Germany 2013 130 278 139 100% - 4.8x 51%
Mémaora Spain 2008 86 119 32 37% - 1.4x 4%
MKM UK 2006 48 70 2 3% - 5%x 19%
Refresco Gerber Netherlands 2010 32 43 10 30% - 20x 13%
Foster ang Partnery UK 2007 4 a3 {1) (% - 1.8x 9%
Oticas Carol Brazil 2013 19 27 9 50% - 19% 15%
DOphane Hong Kong 2006 21 26 6 30% - 2.2x 7%
Hobbs UK 2004 9 7 2 22)% - 0.2x (14%
Total realisations 399 603 195 48% - 2.4x n/a
Refinancings®
Action Netherlands 201 307 307 - - 2,064 24.5x 9%
Scandiines Denmark/ 2007/2013 30 50 - - 803 T4x 34%
Germany
ATESTEC Germany 2013 30 30 - - - n/a n/a
Total refinancings 387 387 - - 2,867 nfa n/a
Partial realisationg'?
Other nfa n/a 4 6 - - 36 n/a n/a
Deferred consideration
Other n/a n/a 1 6 4 n/a - n/a n/a
Total Private Equity realisations 791 1,002 19¢ 25% 2,903 n/a n/a

1 For partal ~ealisations, 21 March 2017 value represents value of stake sola

T Cusb piuveeds realiser] b (he puriay SYEF BRBRING VElue

3 Cashproceeds aver cask irvested For partial real:sations ard refinancings, valuatiors of ary reraning investment are included n the multiple

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018

S58LIENG INQ

21



22

Our business

Private Equity
Business review
continued

Portfolio valuation

The strong performance of the portfolio
resulted in unrealised value growth of
£1,080 mittion (2017: £1,274 million)

Performance

The strong performance of the investrments
valued on an earnings basis resulted

in an increase in value of £541 million

(2017: £827 million) with the most significant
contribution coming from Action.

At 31 March 2018, Action was valued using
run-rate earnings at 31 March 2018. Action’s
past discount run-rate multiple increased
1o 16.5x {31 March 2017 16.0x) resulting

in a value of £2,064 million (31 March

2017: £1,708 million) after the receipt of
£307 million from its refinancing. As the
targest Private Equity investment by value,
it represented 35% of the Private Equity
portfolio (31 March 2017: 35%).

A number of investments in our 2013-2016
vintage such as Audley Travel, Aspen
Pumps, Q Holding and WP are delivering
goad earnings growth, and therefore we
recognised good value uplifts on these
assets in the year.

Audley Travel is a provider of luxury, tailor-
made, holidays to over 80 destinations
warldwide, and serves clients principally in
the UK and the US. Since our investment

in December 2015, Audley has seen two
successive years of strong revenue growth in
the UK and US and has continued to invest
in order to further scale the business. As a
result, our £156 million investment was valued
at £233 million at 31 March 2018, 3i invested
in WP, an innavative plastic packaging
manufacturer, in August 2015. The business
performed well in 2017, increasing market
share. It completed one srmall acguisition

in 2017, as well as two further acquisitions

in @arly 2018. Our investment was valued

at £244 million at 31 March 2018 {31 March
2017: £200 million).

The good performance of our strongest
assets was partially offset by specific
weaknesses in a small number of portfolio
companies which are either exposed to the
high street retail sector or are undergoing

a change programme. Christ, our German
jewellery retailer, saw the largest decline in
value in the year (£53 miilion}. Consistent with
other retailers, Christ is subject to structural
changes in the market such as the increasing
shift to online shopping. Although Christ is
maintaining market share, these changes
have impacted earnings.

Schlemmer has undertaken a significant
operational reorganisation of its activities
in Germany and the US, which have
impacted earnings and liquidity this year.
BoConcept was acquired in the knowledge
that its organisational and retail structure
would need careful review and good
progress is being made to address this.
Finally, Euro-Diesel’s growth was lower than
expected this year. Notwithstanding this,
the company has a strong customer base
and a full pinetine of orders for 2018.

Table 3: Unr d profits/{l ) on the revaluation of Private Equity investmants' in the year to 31 March
2018 2017
£m £m
Earnings based valuations
Performance 541 827
Multple movements 144 239
Cther bases
Uplift to imminent sale 3 8
Scandlines transaction value 302 -
Discounted cash flow 3 158
Other movements on unquoted investments L {1
Quoted portfolic 81 43
Total 1,080 1,274

1 Further information en our vajuation methodeology, including definit-ons and rationale, s included in the Portfolo valustion— an explanaton section on pages 15010 15°
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Overall, 91% of the assets in the portfolio
valued on an earnings basis, together with
Scandlines and Basic-Fit, grew their earnings
in the year (2017 93%). One investment was
valued using forecast earnings at 31 March
2018 (3% March 2017: one), representing 1%
of the portfolio by value (31 March 2017- 2%).
Chart 1 shows the earnings growth of our
top 20 assets.

QOverall, net debt across the portfolio
increased to 4.0x earnings (31 March

2017: 3.3x) principally due to the refinancing
of Action and Scandlines. Excluding Action
and Scandlines, the ratio was 3.3x (31 March
2017: 29x). Chart 2 shows the ratio of net
debt to earnings by pertfoiio value at

31 March 2018.

Graph removed

Multiple movements

The increase in value due to multiple
movements was £144 million (2017: £239
million increase). The run-rate multiple used
to value Action increased to 16.5x past
liquidity discount at 31 March 2018 (31 March
2017:16.0x) to reflect its continued strong
performance and potential for further growth
in the seven countries it operates in. Based
on the valuatian at 31 March 2018, a net 1x
movement in Action's post discount multiple
would increase or decrease the valuation

of 3i's investment by £176 million (31 March
2017: £142 million).

Across the remainder of the portfolio, we
increased multiples for a number of assets
where their performance or the strength

of their sector merited a review. Generally,
we consider a number of factors such as
relative performance, investment size,
comparable recent transactions and exit
plans. We also consider the current strength
of equity markets and, as a result, we
selected multiples that were lower than the
comparable set in 14 out of the 21 companies
valued on an earnings basis (31 March 2017:
14 out of 22).

Graph removed

Excluding Action, the weighted average
EBITDA multiple increased to 11.7x before
liquidity discount (31 March 2017: 10.6x)
and was 11.0x after liquidity discount

(31 March 2017: 99x). The increase in the
weighted average multiple reflects in part
the recent investment in companies in
higher rated sectors, such as Cirte¢ and
Lampenwelt, and the sale of assets held
at lawer multiples.

The pre-discount multiples used to value
the portfolic ranged between 8.5x and 17.4x
{31 March 2017: 5.0x to 16.8x) and the post
discount multiples ranged between 6.3x
and 16.5x {31 March 2017: 4.8x to 16.0x).

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018
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Our business

Private Equity
Business review
continued

Scandlines transaction value

In March 2018, we announced the sale

of Scandlines for a total equity value of

€1.7 billion (31 March 2017 value: €1.1 billionj.
3i valued its stake at £803 million at 31 March
2018 (31 March 2017: £538 million) and

we recognised unrealised value growth

of £302 million to reflect the value of the
transaction, less a 2.5% discount.

At the completion of the sale, 3i will reinvest
to hold a 35% stake.

Quoted portfolio

Basic-Fit generated strong growth in its 2017
financial year with revenue and profit up by
26% and 25% respectively. The business
ended the year with 521 clubs and 1.5 million
members. This strong performance was
reflected in the share price increasing to
€23.35 at 31 March 2018 {31 March 2017
€16.27} and resulted in an unrealised value
gain of £81 million in the year. 3i’s stake was
valued at £270 milkion at 31 March 2018

(31 March 2017: £184 miillion).

Cur quoted holdings in Dphone and
Refresco Gerber were sold during the year.

Table 4: Quoted portfolio value movement for the year to 31 March 2018

Assets under management

The value of 3i's proprietary capital
increased to £5.8 billion in the year
(31 March 2017 £4.8 billion).

The value of the portfolio including
third-party capital increased to €9.5 billion
{31 March 2017: £8.1 billian).

Closing
Opsning Disposals  Unreafised vajue at
wvglueat  at opening value Other 31 March
1Aprl 2017 bookvalue  movement maverments’ 2018
Investment IPQ date £fm fm £m £m £m
Dphane July 2014 ai 21) - - -
Refresco Gerber March 2015 32 (33) ~ 1 -
Basic-Fit June 2016 184 = 81 5 270
Tatal 237 (54} 81 & 27¢
* Other movemants include foreign exchange.
Tabtle 5: Private Equity assets by geography as at 31 March
i carrying
value
Numbper 2018
3i office location of companies £m
Benelux 6 2,789
France 2 21
Germany é 1,493
UK 1" 632
us 4 497
Other 7 203
Total 36 5.825
Table &: Proprietary capital as at 31 March
Froprietary Propriatary
capital capital
value value
2018 Multiple 2017 Multiple
Vintages £m 2018 fm 2017
Buyouts 2010-2012 2139 7.2x 1,779 59%
Growth 2010-2012 33 2.2x 33 22x
2013--2014' 1,695 2.1x 1,607 1.7x
2016-2019" 1,057 1% 422 1.0x
Other 201 n/a 990 n/a
Total 5,825 4,831

1 Assats included in these vintages are drsclosed .nthe glossary on page 154
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Infrastructure

Image removed

Smarte Carte

Headquartered in White Bear Lake,
Minnesota, Smarte Carte is a leading
concessionaire of essential infrastructure
equipment in the airport and leisure
industries. The company owns and
manages baggage carts as the sole
provider in 125 locations {including

49 of the top 50 aircorts in the US) under
long-term contracts. The company alsc
owns and manages lockers and other
consumer-rental equipment in amusernent
parks, fitness clubs, shopping malls

and ski resorts, in over 2,500 locations
across seven countries.

Investments
in the year

Infinis
Further investment in Alkane Energy

Infinis is the largest generator of electricity
from landfill gas ("LFG") in the UK, with

a portfolio of 121 landfili sites and total
installed capacity of over 300MW.

3iN invested an additional £125 million to
fund Infinis’ acquisition of Alkane Energy,

an independent pawer generator from both
coal mine methane ("CMM") and reserve
pawer operations and the largest generator
from CMM in the UK. Alkane performs

a vital environmental service, extracting
methane from abandaned coal mines

that would otherwise be released into the
atmosphere. In addition, by using the CMM
ta generate electricity, Alkane supplies
distribution networks with a reliable scurce
of baseload power.

The merger of Alkane with Infinis

will create a business with significant
scale, offer operational improvement
opportunities and the potential ta
further elevate Alkane’s generation
performance and growth potential.

£125m

Investment
funded by 3iN

For mare information, visit
www.infinis.com

3i invested in Smarte Carte in November
2017. Smarte Carte completed its first
add-on acquisition under 3i's ownership in
January 2018 with the purchase of Aviation
Mobility LLC, the only pure-play provider

of legally mandated wheelchairs for the US
commercial aviation sector with a fleet of
c15,000. The team completed a $225 million
refinancing of Smarte Carte in March 2018.

3i intends to partner with management to
grow Smarte Carte's footprint, especially
in Europe through the established track
record of its Infrastructure business.

£177m

Total investment funded by 3i

For mere information, visit
www.smartecatte.comm

image removed
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Our business

Infrastructure

Business review

Infrastructure contributed a gross investment return of £113 million,
or 16% on the opening portfolio (2017: £87 million, 17%). This was
driven by 3iN’s strong share price appreciation together with good
levels of dividend and fee income from both 3iN and the other

funds managed by the team.

Investment adviser to 3iN

In its capacity as 3iN's investment adviser,

3i advised on six new investments, including
the £186 million further investment ta acquire
a majority position in Wireless Infrastructure
Graup and the £125 million follow-an
investment in infinis ta support its acquisition
of Alkane Energy. We also advised 3iN on its
€201 million investment in Attero, announced
at the end of March 2018. In total, we advised
3iN on investments and commitments of
£525 million in 2018 (2017: £47% million).

We advised 3iN on the realisation of its
holdings in Elenia and AWG, generating
proceeds of £1,137 million. Elenia, the
owner and operator of the second largest
electricity distribution business in Finland
and a complementary district heating
business, was acquired by 3iN in January
2012 as part of a consortium, In December
2017, the consortium partners agreed to seil
the business, which resulted 1n proceeds
of £738 million for 3iN.

3iN agreed to sell its stake in AWG, the
supplier of water and water recycling services
10 the east of England and Hartlepool,

in Decernber 2017, having held its stake

since its IPQ in 2007. it received proceecds

of £399 millian from the transaction in
February 2018.

In March 2018, £425 million of the
proceeds were returned to shareholders
as a special dividend, representing
substantially all of the value uplift recorded
on Elenia and AWG during the year. As a
34% shareholder, 3i received £143 million
of the special dividend.

Overall, the 3iN portfolio continues 10
perform well and the company generated
an excellent total return of 29% in the year
(2017: 9%).

Under the terms of the investment advisory
agreement, 3iN paid an advisory fee of

£34 million to 3i (2017: £25 million), with the
increase attributable to new investrment
activity, and a NAV-based performance

fee of £90 millior (2017 £4 million). Of this,
£67 million is expected to be payable to
the Infrastructure team, with £9 million
recognised during the year and the balance
deferred and expensed over a number

of years.

Infrastructure portfolio
performance

Quoted

The most significant component of the
Group's infrastructure portfolic is its 34%
quoted stake in 3iN.

3iN's shares perfarmed well in the year

and the share price closed at 214 pence on
31 March 2018 (31 March 2017 189 pence).
3iN generated £27 million (2017: £23 million)
of dividend income as well as a special
dividend of £143 million (2017: nil) for 3i.

Discounted cash flow

As at 31 March 2018, 3i's largest Infrastructure
investment valued on a DCF basis was

the investment in Smarte Carte, valued at
£167 million {31 March 2017: nil). Following
the initial investment in November 2017

as a seed for the North America fund
management strategy, 3i supported Smarte
Carte’s acquisition of Aviation Mobility in
January 2018. In March 2018, we completed a
$225 million refinancing of Smarte Carte.

3i also has an investment in the 3i India
Infrastructure Fund, which the team
continués to manage to maximise value
for fund investars,

In total, the Infrastructure portfolio
generated unreafised value growth
of £83 million (2017: £59 million).

Table 7: Unrealised profits/(l } on the revaluation of Infrastructure investments' in the year to 31 March
2018 2017
£m fm
Quoted &7 63
Discounted cash flow 8 @
Fund NAV 8 -
Total 83 59

1 Furtherinfarration on our valuation methodolagy, ircluding definit:ons and ratianale, 15 included in the Portfolio valuatian — an explanation saction on pages 150 to 151
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Fund Management

We launched two funds in the year to
complement oyr 3iN mandate and
generate increased cash income for
3iin the medium term.

In June 2017, we closed the ¢.£700 million

3i Managed Infrastructure Acquisitions

LP and invested £30 million into the fund
alongside two pension funds, ATP and APG.
The fund helds investments in East Surrey
Pipelines, Belfast City Airport, HerAmbierte
and a number of discrete PPP projects.

In April 2018, we announced the final close of
the 3i European Operational Projects Fund
with cammitments of €456 million, including
a €40 millicn commitment from 3i. This fund
purchased the majority of the PPP assets
held by 3i's existing BEIF It fund. The fund
has invested and committed to invest
approximately €85 million in operational PPP
projects across Europe.

Table 8: Infrastructure portfolio value movement in the year to 31 March 2018

Assets under management

and advisory agreement
Infrastructure AUM increased to £3.4 billion
{31 March 20%7: £2.9 billion) principally due
to the new fund management initiatives
launched in the year, as well as to 3iN's share
price increase.

Closing
Opening Dispesals Unrealised value at
value at at opening value Other 31 March
1 Aprit2017  Irvestment  bockvalue’  moverment  movements’ 2018
Investment Valuation £m £m fm fm £m £m
3iN Quoted 655 - (137) &7 ] 581
Smarte Carte DCF - 177 (1 7 &) 167
3i Managed Infrastructure Acquisitions LP NAV - 30 M 7 - 36
3i European Operational Projects Fund NAY - 10 - 1 m 10
3i India Infrastructure Fund DCF 41 - m 1 3 38
Other DCF 10 - {10) - - -
Total 706 217 (160) 83 (14) 832
1 For Smarte Carte, the disposal 15 shawn at investment value
2 Qther movements include foreign exchange
Table 9: Assets under management and advisory agreement as at 31 March 2018
Fee income
3 % invested at earned in
computment Remaining 31 31 March AUM 2018
Fund Close date Fundsize /share cormmitment 2018 £m £m
3iN Mar 07 n/a £581m nfa n/fa 1,731 34
3i Managed Infrastructure Acquisitions LP Jun 17 £698m £35m £5m 85% 707 5
3i European Operational Projects Fund? Nov 17 €251m £€40m €29m 27% &5 -
BIIF May 08 £680m n/a n/a 0% 551 5
3i India Infrastructure Fund Mar 08 US$7,195m USE250m  USE35m 73% 139 4
Other varous various various n/a nfa 167 2
Total 3,360 50

4 AUM based on the snare price at 31 March 2018

2 Tne final close of the 21 Eurapesn Operational Projects Fund took place on 10 April 2018 with commitmerts of €454 milian At "0 Apnil 2018, the percertage invested was 15%
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Financial review

Strong financial performance

FY2018 was another year of strong financial performance.
We generated a gross investment return of £1,552 million
(2017 £1,755 miillion) and operating profit before carried
interest of £1,428 million (2017 £1,675 million).

The perfarmance was driven by strong unrealised value growth
from Action, Scandlines and Basic-Fit, and the material uplifts
from the dispasals of ATESTEQ and Mémora in the year.

Table 10: Total return for the year to 31 March

The Groug recognised a loss of £16 million on foreign exchange
translation (2017: £297 million gain).

We generated a total return of £1,425 million or a profit on

opening shareholders’ funds of 24% (2017: £1,592 million or 36%).

As a result of the strong performance ir the year, the diluted
NAV per share at 31 March 2018 increased by 20% to 724 pence
(31 March 2017: 604 pence).

2018 2017

Investment basis £m frn
Realised profits over value on the disposal of investments 207 38
Unrealised profits on the revaluation of investments 11463 1,342
Portfolio \ncome

Dividends M 50

Interest income from investment portfolio 114 50

Fees raceivable 14 6
Foreign exchange on investments n 269
Gross investment return 1,552 1755
Fees receivable from external funds 57 46
Operating expenses (12%) M7
Interest received 2 2
Interest paid (37) @9
£xchange movements (27) 28
Other income 2 10
Operating profit before carried interest T428 1,675
Carried interest

Carried interest and performance fees recevable 228 279

Carried interest and performance fees payable (205) (434
Operating profit from continuing operations 1,451 1,520
Income taxes (26) 3
Re-measurernents of defined benefit plans oy 122)
Total comprehensive income: continuing operations
(“Total return from continued operations”) 1.425 1,501
Total comprehensive income from discontinued operations, net of tax’
("Total return from discentinued operations”) = kd
Total comprehensive income {“Total return”) 1,425 1,592
Total return on opening shareholders’ funds 24% 3%

! Discontinyed operations included the results from 3i's Debt Management bus ness, soid to Investcarp in March 2017

Alternative performance measures ("APMs")

In October 2015, the European Securities and Markets Authority ("ESMA’) published guidelines about the use of APMs.
These are financial measures such as KPIs that are not defined under IFRS. In our Strategic report we describe our financial
perfarmance under our Investment basis, which is itself an APM, and use a number of other measures which, on account of
being derived from the Investment basis, are also APMs. Further information about ocur use of APMs, including the applicable
reconciliations to the IFRS equivalent where appropriate, is provided at the end of the Financial review and should be read
alongside our lrvestn et biasis W IFRS reconciliation. Qur APMs dre gross investrment PETUrK as a pércentage ot the opening
investrent portfelio value, cash realisations, cash investment, operating cash profit, net cash/{debt) and gearing.
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Performance, risk and sustainability

Financial review

continued

Realised profits

We generated total proceeds of £1,323 million (2017: £1,005 million)
and a profit on disposal of £207 millien {2017: £38 million). The majority
of the realisations and uplift over opening value were from the
Private Equity portfolio, which contributed £1,002 million of proceeds
(2017: £982 million). Private Equity realisations included the sales of
ATESTEQ (£278 millian, 100% uplift over opening value) and Mémora
{E119 million, 37% uplift over opening value} together with refinancing
proceeds of £387 million from Action, Scandlines and ATESTEC.

Unrealised value movements

We recognised an unrealised value movement of £1,163 million
{2017: £1,342 million). Action's continued strong performance
contributed £610 milkon {2017: £211 million) to value growth.
Following the announcement of aur agreement to sell Scandlines
at the end of March 2018, we recognised an unrealised value gain
of £302 million {2017: £155 million). The majority of the portfoiic
continued to perform well, notably Basic-Fit, Audley Travel,

Q2 Holding, WP and AES.

Further information on the Private Equity and Infrastructure
valuations is included in the respective Business reviews.

Portfolio income

Portfolic income grew to £171 million during the year {2017 £106 million)
principally as a result of an increase in loan interest income recaivable
following the material increase in investment activity over the tast two
years. The majority of this interest income is non-cash. We recogrised
£14 million of fee income (2017: £6 million) due to transaction fees
generated from our investment activity and to a reduction in abort
costs incurred on prospective transactions. Dividend income
reduced to £41 million (2017: £50 million) following the disposal of the
remaining Debt Managerment investrents in the year.

Fees receivable from external funds

Fees receivable increased to £57 million {2017: £f46 million) due to
increased advisary fee income from 3iN. 3i, as investment adviser,
receives a fee for sourcing and completing new investments for 3iN.
We advised 3iN on six investments with commitments of £525 million,
ncluding the further investments in Wireless Infrastructure Group
and Infinis {2017: six investments and £479 million). In addition, we
started to generate fee income from the 3i Managed Infrastructure
Acquisitions LP, which closed in June 2017,

Operating expenses

Operating expenses increased to £121 million (2017: £117 million),
principally due to a planned increase in staff costs as we invest to
support our origination and asset management capability, as well as
an increase in the Infrastructure team'’s share of the 3iN advisory fee
income referred to above.

Qperating cash profit

3i generated an operating cash profit of £11 million in the

year (2017: £5 million). Cash income increased to £126 millian
(2017: £121 million) principally due ta the increase in third-party
capital fees in Infrastructure to £47 million (2017: £37 million)

Net interest payable

Gross interest payable reduced to £37 million {2017: £49 million},
following the repayment of the €331 million bond in March 2017,
Interest receivable on cash balances was £2 million (2017: £2 million).

Table 11: Unrealised profits on revaluation of investments (continuing operations) for the year ta 31 March

2018 2017
£m £
Private Equity 1,080 1,274
Infrastructure 83 59
Other {residual Debt Management} - 9
Total 1,163 1,342
Table 12: Qperating cash profit for the year to 31 March
2018 2017
£m fm
Third-party capital fees 55 47
Cash portfoiic fees 13 12
Cash portfolio dividends and interest 58 62
Cash income from continuing operations 126 121
Operating expenses from cantinuing operations s mé
Operating cash profit: continuing cperations 1 5
Qperating cash profit: discontinued operations - 28
Operating cash profit 1 33
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Carried interest and performance fees

The continued good performance of Action and the announcement
of the sale of Scandlines, the largest investments in cur Private Eguity
fund EFV, led to a £13¢ miliion increase in carried interest receivable
from EFV (2017: £272 million). This was calcutated assuming that the
portfolio was realised at the 31 March 2018 valuation. The fund'’s
gross multiple was 2.5x at 31 March 2018 (31 March 2017: 2.2x).

In Private Equity, we typically accrue carried interest payable at
between 10% and 15% of gross investment return. The majority of
assets by value are now held in schemes that would have met their
performance hurdles, assuming that the portfolio was realised at

the 31 March 2018 valuation. We accrued carried interest payable of
£194 miltion (2017: £431 million) for Private Equity, of which £77 millicn
relates to the Private Equity team’s share of carried interest receivable
from EFV (2017: £202 million).

Carried interest is paid to participants when the performance hurdles
are passed in cash terms and then only when the cash proceeds are
actually received following a realisation, refinancing event or other
cash distribution. Due to the iength of time between investment anc
realisation, the schemes are usually active for a number of years and
their participants are both current and previous employees of 3i.
During the period, £43 million was paid to participants in the Private
Equity plans (2017: £127 million).

3iN pays a performance fee based on 3iN's NAV on an annual

basis, subject to a hurdle rate of return and a high watermark.

The continued strong performance of the assets held by 3iN,
including the significant uplifts achieved on the sales of Elenia and
AWG, resulted in the recognition of £20 million (2017: £4 million) of
performance fees receivable. The Infrastructure team raceives a
share of the performance fee received frem 3iN, with the majority of
payments deferred and expensad over a number of years. £9 million
(2017: £3 million) was accrued as payable to the Infrastructure team
during the year out of a total potential payable of £67 million.

Overall, the effect of the income statement charge, the cash
movement, as well as the currency translation meant that the balance
sheet catried interest and performance fees payable increased

to £870 mitlion (31 March 2017: £685 millicn) and the receivable
increased to £596 million (31 March 2017: £346 million).

Table 13; Carried interest and performance fees for the year to 31 March

2ms 2017
Statement of comprehensive income £m £rn
Carried interest and performance fees receivable
Private Equity 138 275
Infrastructure 20 4
Total 228 279
Carried interest and performance fees payable
Private Equity {196) {431)
Infrastructure (9) {3
Total (205) (434)
Net carried interest receivable/(payable) 23 {155)
Table 14: Carried interest and performance fees at 31 March

2018 207
Statement of financial positian £m £m
Carried interest and performance fees receivable
Private Equity 505 359
Infrastructure 90 4
Other 1 3
Total 596 366
Carried interest and performance fees payable
Private Equity {839) {650)
Infrastructure (31} 35)
Total (870) (685)

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018

Aypquunesns pue
3sM ‘ouBwiiopiey

k3l



32

Performance, risk and sustainability

Financial review

continued

Impact of IFRS 15

Carried interest receivable is within the scope of the new revenue
accounting standard, IFRS 15, which 3i will adopt from 1 April 2018.
IFRS 15 introduces the concept that variable revenue can only be
recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal will not occur. Qur calculation of carried interest, being the
amount expected if all of the underlying investments were realised
at their fair values at the balance sheet date, will remain unchanged.
IFRS 15 requires us to then consider if there are any specific
constraints to our Income recognition. The factors that 3i intends
to consider when applying its accounting policy for carried interest
receivable will include the remaining duration of the fund, the current
position in relation to the cash hurdle, the remaining assets in the
fund and the potential for clawback.

The substantial majority of 3i's carried interest receivable is due from
EFV which went through its performance hurdie on an accounting
basis in FY2017. EFV has been extended to November 2019, when we
expect the fund to be closed. Following the announcement of the
sale of Scandlines on 26 March 2018, there are only four remaining
investments in the fund: Action, Christ, Etanco and OneMed.
Carried interest is oniy payable by the fund when proceeds are
received and the cash hurdle is met.

At 31 March 2018, EFV investmenits had generated pracaeds of
€3.5 billion, including the proceeds from the upcoming sale of
Scandlines, and the fund was over 75% of the way towards its

cash hurdle. However, given the relative size and performance

of Christ, Etanco and OneMed, the actual payment of carried
interest receivable is dependent on the fund's realisation of Action.
At 31 March 2018, the EFV investrent in Action was valued at
€1,815 million (31 March 2017 €1,540 million). Given the strong
performance of Actian, and its forecast growth profile, and consistent
with our investment strategy for and valuation of the asset, our
current assessment 1s that we do not expect the adoption of IFRS
15 to have a material impact on our recognition of carry receivable
from EFV.

Table 15: Net assats and sensitivity by currency at 31 March 2018

As at 31 March 2018, the carried interest receivable accrued on 3i's
balance sheet from EFV was £484 million (2017: £340 million), with a
corresponding £334 million (31 March 2017: £251 million) accrued as
payabie to the carry plan participants. The overall net impact from
EFV carried interest is £150 million (31 March 2017 £89 million) ar

15 pence per share {2017. 9 pence per share).

As the Group has no plans to raise a third-party fund in Private Equity
in the medium term, the Group is not expected to receive material
amounts of carried interest receivable after the closure of EFV.

Net foreign exchange movements

At 31 March 2018, 77% of the Group's net assets were denaminated

in euros or US dollars. Following the strengthening of sterling against
the US dollar, the Group recorded a total net foreign exchange loss of
£16 miflion (2017: £297 million gain} in the year.

The Group is a long-term investor and does not hedge its foreign
currency denominated portfalic. Where possible, flows from currency
realisations are matched with currency investments, Short-term
derivative contracts are used occasionally.

The net foreign exchange loss also reflects the translation of non-
portfolio net assets, including non-sterling cash held at the balance
sheet date.

1%

sensitivity

FX rate £m % £m

Sterling n/a 1,390 20% n/a

Eure 1.1409 4,542 45% 45
US dallar 1.4031 862 12%

Danish krona 8.5047 137 2% 1

Other n/a 93 1% n/a
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Pension

The latest triennial valuation for the Group's UK defined benefit
scheme was completed pn 25 September 2017, based on the
scheme’s position at 30 June 2016. The cutcome was an actuarial
deficit of £50 million but it was agreed with the trustees that it was
not necessary for the Group to make any immediate contributions
to the plan, taking into account the volatile market conditions

at the valuation date {immediately after the UK's referendum to
leave the EU}, and improvements in market conditions and liabiity
management actions implermented since then. As part of this
valuation, the Group has agreed to pay up to £50 million to the
scheme if its gearing increases above 20%, gross debt exceeds

£1 billion, or net assets fall below £2 billion.

The scheme also benefits from a contingent asset arrangement,

details of which are prowided in Note 25 of the Financial Statements.

If the gearing, net debt or net asset thresholds noted are crossed,
the Group may be required to increase the potential cover provided
by the contingent arrangement until the gearing, gross debt or net
assets improve.

On an IAS 19 basis, there was a £1 million re-measurement gain

on the Group's UK pension scheme during the year (March

2017: £22 million loss) and the persion scheme remains in a surplus
of £125 million (31 March 2017: £121 miliion).

The triennial valuation uses assumptions set at 30 June 2014

It considers expected future returns on the Plan's assets against
the expected liabilities using a generally more prudent set of
assumptions. The 1AS 19 accounting vaiuation compares the

31 March 2018 fair value of plan assets and liabilities, with the
liabilities calculated basad on the expected future payments
discounted using AA cotparate bond yields.

Table 16: Other assets for the year to 31 March 2018

Tax

The Group's parent company has operated in the UK as an approved
investment trust company since its listing on the London Stock
Exchange in 1994, An approved investment trust is a UK investment
company which is required ta meet certain conditions set out in the
UK tax rules to obtain and maintain its tax status. This approval allows
certain investment profits of the Company, broadly 1ts capital profits,
to be exempt from tax in the UK.

The Group recognised 2 corporate tax expense of £24 million for
the year (2017 £3 miltion credit). This is higher than in previous years
due to increased levels of taxable income from partfolio companies,
reduced interest expenditure following the repayment of a bond in
March 2017 and a £90 million performance fee from 3iN. Finally,

the use of brought forward losses has been restricted with effect
from 1 Aprit 2017,

Other assets

In March 2017, we sold our Debt Management business to Investcorp.
As part of the agreement we retained certain investments, which

are getailed in Table 16. We redeemed all of our holdings by

31 December 2017, generating proceeds of £152 million.

Opeming Closing

value at value at

4 April Other 31 March

2017 investment  Divestment movement’ 2018

Consciidated statement of financial position Currency Fm £fm fm frm £m
CLO warehouses repaid € 1 - M - -
CLO equity retained £/US$ 50 - (46) )] -
Globa! Income Fund Uss 79 23 @7 {5) -
Senior Loan Fund US$ 8 - 8 - -
Tovel 138 23 | 152} [\ -

! QOther movemerts include realised losses and foreign exchange
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Performance, risk and sustainability

Financial review

continued

Balance sheet

Net cash increased to £479 million {31 March 2017: £419 million)
as the Group remained a net divestor in FY2018. The investment
portfalio value increased to £6,657 million at 31 March 2018

(31 March 2017: £5.675 million} as unrealised value growth of
£1,163 million and cash investment offset the value of realisations
in the year. Further infarmation on investments and realisations is
included in the Private Equity and Infrastructure business reviews.

Liquidity

Liquidity remained strong at £1,404 million (31 March

2017: £1,323 million), Liquidity comprised cash and deposits of
£1,054 millicn {31 March 2017: £994 million) and undrawn facilities
of £350 million (31 March 2017: £329 million).

Dividend

The Board has recommended z dividend of 22.0 pence (2017 18.5
pence). This is made up of the balance of the base dividend (8 pence
per share, after the 8 pence paid in January 2018) and an additional
dividend of 14.0 pence. Subject to shareholder approval, the
dividend will be paid to shareholders in July 2018 and takes the total
dividend for the year to 30.0 pence (2017: 26.5 pence).

Table 17: Simplified consolidated balance sheet at 31 March

Inlight of the Group's cantinued progress in executing its strategy,
we propose to replace cur base and additional dividend policy with a
simpler policy. The Board will maintain its conservative balance sheet
strategy, which excludes structural gearing at the Group level, and
will carefully consider the outlook for investments and realisations,
and market conditions. Subject to that, the Board will aim to maintain
or grow the dividend each year. We will continue to pay an interim
dividend, which we expect to set at 50% of the prior year's total
dividend, subject to the same considerations.

With net cash of £479 miltion and liquidity of over £1 billion at

31 March 2018, the Group is well positioned ta fund the 22.0 pence
dividend. We expect to hold high levels of liquidity to ensure that

we can fund new investments without having to either accelerate
realisatians ahead of plan or dispose of investments when market
conditions are not supportive. However, there may be occasions in
the future when the cash we hold materiaily exceeds this need. If that
is the case, the Board may consider other methods of shareholder
distributions and returns at that time.

2018 2017

£m fm

Investment portfolio 6,657 5,675
Gross debt 575) (575)
Cash 1,054 994
Net cash 479 419
Carried interest and performance fees receivable 594 366
Carried interest and performance fees payable (870) 685)
Other net assets 162 61
Net assets 7.024 5.836
Gearing' nil nil

1 Gearing s net delt as a percentage of net assets.

Key accounting judgements and estimates

A key judgement is the assessment required to determine the degree of control or influence the Group exercises and
the form of any control to ensure that the financial treatment of investment entities s accurate. The introduction of IFRS
10 resulted in a number of intermediate holding companies being presented at fair value, which has led tc reduced
transparency of the underlying investment performance. As a result, the Group continues to present a non-GAAP
Investment basis set of financial statements to ensure that the commentary in the Strategic report remains fair, balanced
and understandable. The reconciliation of the Investment basis to IFRS is shown on pages 39 tc 42

In preparing these accounts, the key accounting estimates are the carrying value of our investmant assets, which are
stated at fair value, and the calculation of carried interest receivable and payable.

Given the importance of the valuation of investrnents, the Board has a separate Valuations Committee to review the
valuation policy, process and application ta individual investments. However, asset valuations for unquoted investments
are inherently subjective, as they are made on the basis of assumptions which may not prove to be accurate. At 31 March
2018, 87% by value of the investment assets were unqguoted (31 March 2017: 84%).

The valuation of the proprietary capital portfolia is a primary input into the carried interast payable and receivable
balances, which are determined by reference to the valuation at 31 March 2018 and the underlying investment

management agreements.

3i Group Annual repert and accounts 2018



Investment basis

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

for the year to 31 March

2018 2017
£m fm

Realised profits over value on the disposal of investments 207 38
Unrealised profits on the revaluation of investrments 1,163 1,342
Portfolic income

Dividends 4 50

Interest income from investrent portfolio 116 50

Fees receivable 14 4
Foreign exchange gain on investments n 269
Gross investment return 1,552 1.755
Fees receivable from external funds 57 44
Operating expenses (121) (117)
Interest receivable 2 2
Interest payabte (37) 49
Exchange movements (27) 28
Other income 2 10
Operating profit before carried interest 1,428 1,675
Carried interest

Carried interest and performance fees receivable 228 279

Carried interest and performance fees payable {205) (434)
Operating profit from continuing oparations 1,451 1,520
Income taxes (26) 3
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,425 1,523
Profit for the year fram discontinued operations, net of tax - 91
Profit for the year 1,425 1,614
Other comprehensive income

Re-measurements of defined benefit plans - {22)
Teotal comprehensive income for the year (“Total return”) 1,425 1,592
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Performance, risk and sustainability

Investment basis

continued

Consolidated statement of financial position

as at 31 March

208 2017
Em fm
Assets
Non-current assets
Investments
Quoted investments 851 873
Ungucted investments 5,806 4,782
Investment portfolio 6,657 5,675
Carried interest and performance fees receivable 503 359
Other non-current assets 13 106
Intangible assets 12 -
Retirement benefit surplus 125 123
Property, plant and equipment 4 5
Total non-current assets 7414 6,266
Current assets
Carried interest and performance fees receivable 93 7
Other current assets &0 10
Current income taxes 3 ?
Deposits - 20
Cash and cash equivalents 1.054 954
Total current assets 1,210 1,013
Total assets 8,424 7,279
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and ather payables (14} 29
Carried interest and perfarmance fees payable (764) (644
Loans and borrowings {575) {575)
Retirement benefit deficit (23) (22)
Deferred income taxes (3 (1}
Provisions (1} 2
Total non-current liabilities (1,380} {1,273)
Current liabilities
Trade and cther payables (1o (129
Carried interest and performance fees payable (106) 4n
Current income taxes {12) -
Provisions n “
Total current liabilities (220) 170)
Total liabilities {1,600) {1,443
Net assets 7,024 5,936
Equity
Issued capital n9 "9
Share premium 786 785
Qther reserves 5,545 4,370
Own shares (26) 38)
Total equity 7,024 5,836
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year to 31 March

2018 2m7
£fm £m

Cash flow from operating activities
Purchase of investments (827) {492
Proceeds from investments 1,277 1,063
Net cash flow from derivatives (10) -
Portfolio interest received 17 16
Portfolio dividends received 4 66
Portfolio fees received 13 M
Fees received from external funds 55 71
Carried interest and performance fees received 6 39
Carried interest and performance fees paid (48) {131)
Carried interest held in non-current assets @7 (56)
Acquisition related earn-out charges paid - m
Qperating expenses paid {115) (131)
Co-investment loans 3 1
Income taxes paid {12) @
Other cash income = 2
Net cash flow from operating activities 373 256
Cash flow from financing activities
Issue of shares 1 1
Dividends paid {255} (230)
Interest received 2 2
Interest paid (36} (510
Repayment of short-term borrowings - (264)
Repurchase of short-term borrowings - {17}
Net cash flow from financing activities {288) {559
Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of praperty, plant and equipment {2) (1)
Purchase of intangible assets (13) -
Proceeds from sale of Debt Management business - 232
Cash held in sold subsidiaries - (@)
Net cash flow from deposits a1 -
Net cash flow from investing activities 26 227
Change in cash and cash equivalents m (76)
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of year 954 62
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations (1 68
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 1,054 954
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Performance, risk and sustainability

Investment basis

continued

Background to Investment
basis financial statements

The Group makes investments in portfalio companies directly,
held by 3i Group pic, and indirectly, held through intermediate
holding company and partnership structures {"Investment
entity subsidiaries”). It alsc has other operational subsidiaries
which provide services and other activities such as employment,
regulatory activities, management and advice ("Trading
subsidiaries”). The application of IFRS 10 requires us to fair
value a number of intermediate holding companies that were
previously consolidated line by line. This fair value approach,
applied at the intermediate holding company level, effectively
obscures the performance of our proprietary capital investments
and associated transactions occurring in the intermediate
helding companies.

The financial effect of the underlying portfolic companies and
fee income, operating expenses and carried interest transactions
occurring in Investment antity subsidiaries are aggregated into

a single value. Other items which were previously eliminated on
consolidation are now included separately.

To maintain transparency in our report and aid understanding we
introduced separate nan-GAAP “Investment basis" Staternents
of comprehensive income, financial position and cash flow in

our 2014 Annual report and accounts. The Investment basis is an
APM and the Strategic report is prepared using the Investment
basis as we believe it pravides a mare understandable view of
our performance. Total return and net assets are equal under

the investrnent basis and IFRS; the Investment basis is simply a

“|lock through” of IFRS 10 to present the underlying performance.

Reconciliation of Investment basis and IFRS

A detailed reconciliation from the Investment basis to IFRS
basis of the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
Consolidated statement of financial position and Consolidated
cash flow statement is shown on pages 39 to 42,
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Reconciliation of
Investment basis and IFRS

Reconciliation of consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year to 31 March

investment IFRS \FRS Investment IFRS IFRS

basis  adjustments basis basis adjustments basis

2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 207

Notes £m £m £m fm Fm fm

Realised profits/{losses) over value

on the disposa! of investments 1,2 207 {189) 18 38 63) {25)

Unrealised profits on the

revaluation of investments 1,2 1,163 Frn 386 1,342 (1,080) 262

Fair vakie movements an

investment entity subsidiaries 1 - 848 848 - 1,041 1.047

Portfolic income
Dividends 1,2 41 {12) 29 50 ‘(12) 38
Interest income from investment portfolio 1,2 116 90} 26 50 40) 10
Fees receivable 1,2 14 3 17 6 3 9

Fareign exchange on investmerts 13 11 {23} {12} 269 {203) &4

Gross investment return 1,552 {240) 1,312 1,755 (356) 1,399

Fees receivable from external funds 57 - 57 46 - 44

Gperating expenses 1.4 {t21) 1 {120) (117) 1 {116)

interest receivable 2 - 2 2z - 2

Interest payable (37) - {37} {49) - 49)

Exchange movements 1.3 27 84 57 28 14 42

Other income 2 - 2 10 - 10

Income from investment entity subsidiaries 1 - 19 19 - 18 18

Operating profit before carried interest 1,428 {136} 1,292 1,675 (323) 1,352

Carried interest
Carried interest and performance
fees receivable 1.4 228 - 228 279 1 280
Carried interest and performance
fees payable 1,4 {205) 173 {32) (434) 326 {108)

Operating profit from continuing operations 1,451 37 1,488 1,520 4 1,524

Income taxes 1.4 (26) 1 (25) 3 — 3

Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,425 38 1,463 1,523 4 1,527

Profit for the year from discontinued operations - - - 21 7 98

Profit for the year 1,425 38 1,463 1,614 11 1,625

QOther comprehensive income
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations 1.3 - (38) {38} - 4) 4)
Re-measurements of defined benefit plans - - - 22) - 22)

Other comprehensive expense for the year :

from continuing operations - (38) (38) 22) 4) {26)

Other comprehensive expense for the year

from discontinued operations - — - — ) (7)

Total comprehensive incoma

for the year {"Total return”) 1,425 - 1,425 1,592 - 1,592

The IFRS basisis audited and the Investmert basis s unaudited

Naotes:

1 Applymg IFRS 10 to the Consolidated statement of camprehensive income consoldates the 3 Foreign exchange movements have been reclassified under the Investment basis as
fine items of 2 number of previously consolidated subsigianes inte a single line 1tem “Fair forengn currency asset and liab:ity movements Movernents within the Investment
value movements on investment entity subs:diaries” In the “Investment basis” accounts we entity subsidiares are mcluded within “Fair value movements on investment ennues”
nave disaggregated thase line nems to analyse our total return as if these Investment entity 4 QOther items also aggregated :nta the “Fair value moverments on investmert
subsid.ares were fully consolidated, consistent with prior years The adjustments simply erlity subsidiarias” ine include fees receivable from external funds, audt fees,
reclassify the Consalidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group, and the rotal administration expenses, carned interest and tax

ceturn is equal under the Investment baus and the IFRS basis

~

Realised profits, unrealised profits, and portfolic rcorre shown in the IFRS accounts
orly relate to porttolio compar es that are held drecty by 31 Group ple and not thase
portfotic companies held through Investment entity subsidiar-es Reahsed profits,
unreahsed profis, and pertfolio nceme a relation ta paortfolic compames held through
fmnagtment sy subsidianue wiu sngiuyuted Lito U siagtc “Fab value nigugmens un
investment entity subsidiaries” ine This s the most sigmificant recuction of information
in our IFRS accounts
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Performance, risk and sustainability

Reconciliation of
Investment basis and IFRS

continued

Reconciliation of consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March

Investment IFRS IFRS Investrment IFRS IFRS
basis  adjustments basis basis adjustments basis
2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017
Notes £fm £m £m fm fm fm
Assets
Non-current assets
Investments
Quoted investrments 1 851 (506) 345 893 (503) 390
Unquoted investments 1 5,806 (4,055) 1,751 4,782 (3.448) 1,316
Investments in investment entity subsidiaries 1,2 - 4,034 4,034 - 3,483 3,483
Investment portfolio 6,657 (527) 6,130 5,675 484 5189
Carried interest and performance
fees receivable 1 503 {5) 498 359 (5 354
Other non-current assets 1 113 (85) 28 106 (58 50
Intangible assets 12 - 12 - - -
Retirement benefit surplus 125 - 125 21 - 121
Property, plant and equipment 4 - 4 5 - 5
Total non-current assets 7414 {617) 6,797 6,266 (547 5,719
Current assets
Carried interest and performance
fees receivable 1 93 - 93 7 2 9
Other current assets 1 40 (26) 34 10 2 12
Current income taxes 3 - 3 2 - 2
Deposits - - - 40 - 40
Cash and cash equivalents 1 1,054 (82} 972 954 (23) 931
Total current assets 1,210 (108) 1,102 1,013 (19) 994
Total assets 8,624 (725) 7.899 7.279 {546) 6,713
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 1 (14) 13 (1 29) 5 (24)
Carried interest and performance fees payable 1 (764) 659 {1085) (644) 520 {124)
Loans and berrowings {575) - (875} (575) - {575)
Retirement benefit deficit {23) - (23) 22) - 22
Deferred income taxes 3) - {3) 4] 1 -
Provisions 1)) - {1 2 - 2
Total non-current liabilities {1,380) 672 {708} {1,273 526 747
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 1 (o1 1 {100) (125) 22 (103)
Carried interest and performance fees payable 1 (106) 51 {55) @ 18 23)
Current income taxes 1 12 1 an - - -
Provisions {1} - n 4 - 14)
Tatal current liabilities {220) 53 {167) {170) 40 {130)
Total liabilities (1,600) 725 (875) (1,443) 564 (877)
Net assets 7,024 - 7,024 5,836 - 5,836
Equity
Issued capital 719 - e 719 - 79
Share premium 786 - 786 785 - 785
Other reserves 3 5,545 - 5,545 4,370 - 4,370
Own shares {26) - 26} (38 - (38)
Tatal equity 7,024 - 7,024 5,834 - 5,836

3i Group Annual repart and accounts 2018



The IFRS pasis 1s audited and the Investment basis 1s unaudited

Notes:

1 Applying IFRS 'Dta the Consolidated statement of financial position aggregates the
line iterns into the single line item "investments in investrment ent.ty subsicharies” In e
Investment basis we have disaggregatad these items to analyse our net 2ssets as f the
Investment entity subsidianes were cansolidated Tne adjustment reclassifies iterrs e
the Consolidated staterment of financial positton There is no change to the net assets,
although far reasors explained belaw, gross assets and gross labrlities zre different

The disclosure relating to portfola companies s significantly reduced by the aggregation,

25 the fair value of all investments held by Investment entity subsidianes 15 aggregared
into the “Investmens ininvestment entity subsidiaries” ine We have disaggregated
this fair value and disclosed the underlying portfala halding -n the relevant ine item,
Ie. quoted equity investments ar unquuted equity Investments

Other :terms which may be aggregated include carried irterest and other payables,

and the {investment basis p ien agam disaggreg: these ctams

r~

Intercompany balances betweer Invesyment ent.ty subsidiaries and trading subsidiznies
also '/mpact the transparency of cur results under the IFRS basis if an Investment ennty
subsidiary has an intercompany balance with a consclidated trading subsidiary of the
Group, then the asset or ability of the Investment ent:ty subsidiary will be aggregated
into tsfair value, while the assat or liablity of the consehdated trading subsidiary wilt
be disclased as an asset or habiity in the Consolidated statement of financial position
for the Group

w

Investment basis financial statements are prepared for perfarmance measurement and
therefore reserves ate not analysed separately under this basis

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018
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Performance, risk and sustainability

Reconciliation of

Investment basis and IFRS

continued

Reconciliation of consolidated cash flow statement

for the year to 31 March

Investment IFRS IFRS Investment IFRS IFRS
basis  adjustments basis basis adjustments basis
2018 2018 2018 017 2017 2017
Notes £m £m £m fm fm fm
Cash flow from operating activities
Purchase of investments 1 827) 357 (470) 692) 358 334
Proceeds from investments 1 1,277 {863) 414 1,063 (753) 310
Cash inflow from investment entity subsidiaries 1 - 430 430 - 246 246
Net cash flow from derivatives 10} - (10) - - -
Portfolic interest received 1 17 {13) 4 16 )] 7
Portfolic dividends received 1 41 (12) 29 66 (12 54
Portfolia fees received 1 13 - 13 " [#%3) 9
Fees received from external funds 55 - 55 7 - 7
Carried interest and performance fees received [ - 6 39 - 39
Carried interest and performance fees paid 1 (48} 8 (40) 131) 104 2N
Carried interest held in non-current assets 1 27) 27 - {56) 56 -
Acquisition related earn-out charges paid - - - m - U}
Operating expenses paid 1 {115} 1 (114) 131 - (139
Co-investment loans 1 3 2 5 1 1 2
Income taxes paid 1 (12) 2 (10 2 - 2)
Other cash income - = - 2 - 2
Net cash flow from operating activities 373 {61) 312 256 (11 245
Cash flow from financing activities
Issue of shares 1 - 1 1 - i
Dividends paid (255) - (255) (230} - (230)
Interest received 2 - 2 z - z
Interest paid (368) - (36} (51} - 5%
Repayment of short-term borrowings - - - {264) - {(264)
Repurchase of short-term borrowings - - - 17 - {7
Net cash flow from financing activities (288) - (288} 559 - (559)
Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment {2 - 2} m - m
Purchase of intangible assets (13) - (13} - - -
Praceeds from sale of Debt
Management business - - - 232 - 232
Cash held in sold subsidiaries - - - [ - @
Net cash flow from deposits 41 - 41 — - -
Net cash flow from investing activities 26 - 26 227 ~ 237
Change in ¢ash and cash equivalents 2 111 (81) 50 {76} {1 (87
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of year 2 954 (23) 931 Q62 {5) 957
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations 1 {11) 2 (9 68 7y &1
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 2 1,054 (82) 972 554 23 931

The IFRS biasis 1s aud ted and the Investment basis s unaudited
Notes-

The Cansofidated cash flow statement is impacted by the application of (FRS 1 as cash
flows to and fram Investment entity subsidiaties are disclgsed, rather than the cash ‘lows to
and from the underlying portfolo,

Tnerefore in our Investment basis financial statements, we have disclosed our cash flow
statement on a "look trough” basis, n order toreflect the underly:ng sources and uses of
cash flows and disclose the underlying nvestment activity

3i Group Annuaireport and accounts 2018

2 There s 3 difference between the change in cash and cash equivalents of the

Investment basts financial statements and the IFRS financial staterments because

there are cask balances held in Investment enuity subsicharies Casn held
withit Investment entity susidiaries will not be snawa in the IFRS s1atements
but will be seeq n the Investment basis statements



Alternative Performance
Measures ("APMs")

We assess our performance using a Variety of measures that are
not specifically defined under IFRS and are therefore termed APMs.

The APMs that we use may not be directly comparable with those
used by other companies. Our Investment basis is itself an APM.

The explanation of and rationale for the Investment basis and
its reconcillation to IFRS is provided on page 38to 42.

The table below defines our additional APMs.

APM

Purpose

Calculation

Reconciliation to IFRS

Gross investrment return
as a percentage of opening
portfolio value

A measure of the performance
of our proprietary
investment portfolio.

Far further information see the
Group KPlIs on page 16.

It is calculated as the gross
investment return, as shown

in the Investment basis
Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, as a %
of the opening portfolic value.

The equivalent balances under
IFRS and the reconciliation to the
Investment basis are shown in the
Reconciliation of the consolidated
statement of comprehensive
income and the Recondiliation

of the consolidated statement of
financial position respectively.

Cash realisations

Cash proceeds from cur
investments support our
returns to shareholders, as
well as our ability to invest in
new opportunities.

For further information see the
Group KPIs on page 16,

The cash received from the
disposal of investments in the
year as shown in the Investment
basis Consolidated cash

flow statement.

The equivalent balance under
IFRS and the reconciliation to the
Investment basis is shown in the
Reconciliation of the consolidated
cash flow statement.

Cash investment

Identifying new opportunities in
which to invest proprietary capital
is the primary driver of the
Group's ability to deliver
attractive returns.

For further information see the
Group KPls on page 16.

The cash paid to acquire
investments in the year as
shown on the Investment basis
Consolidated cash

flow statement.

The equivalent balance under
IFRS and the reconciliation to the
Investment basis is shown in the
Reconciliation of the consclidated
cash flow statement.

Operating cash profit

By covering the cash cost of
running the business with cash
income, we reduce the potential
dilution of capital returns.

The cash income from the
portfolic {interest, dividends
and fees) together with fees
received from external funds
less cash operating expenses
as shown on the Investment
basis Consolidated cash flow
statement, The calculation

is shown in Table 12 of the
Financial review.

The equivalent balance undear
IFRS and the reconciliation to the
Investment basis is shown in the
Reconciliation of the consolidated
cash flow statement.

Net cash/net debt A measure of the available cash  Cash and cash equivalents plus ~ The equivalent balance under
to invest in the business and an deposits less loans and IFRS and the reconciliation to the
indicator of the financial risk in borrowings as shown on the Investment basis is shown in the
the Group's balance sheet. Investment basis Cansolidated Reconcilistion of the consolidated
statement of financial position. statement of financial position.
Gearing A measure of the financial risk Net debt (as defined above} asa  The equivalent balance undar

in the Group's balance sheet.

% of the Group's net assets under
the Investment basis, It cannot be
less than zero.

IFRS and the reconciliation to the
Investment basis is shown in the
Reconciliation of the consolidated
statement of financial position.

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018
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Performance, risk and sustainability

Risk management

Effective risk management underpins the
successful delivery of our strategy. Integrity,
rigour and accountability are central to our
values and culture at 3i and are embedded
in our approach to risk management.

Understanding our risk
appetite and culture

As both an investor and asset manager,
3iis in the business of taking risk in order

to seek to achieve its targeted returns for
fund investars and shareholders. The Board
approves the strategic objectives that
determine the level and types of risk that 3i
is prepared ta accept. The Board reviews
3i's strategic objectives and risk appetite at
least annually. The Group's risk managemant
framework is designed to support the
delivery of the Group's strategic objectives.

3i’s risk appetite policy, which is consistent
with previous years, is built on rigorous and
comprehensive investment procedures
and conservative capital management.

Culture

Integrity, rigour and accountability are
central to our values and culture and

are embedded in our approach 1o risk
management. Our Investment Committee,
which has aversight of the investment
pipeline development and approves new
investments, significant portfolic changes
and divestments, is integral to ensuring a
consistert approach across the business.

It ensures compliance with 3i's financial
and strategic requirernents, cultural values
and appropriate investment behaviours.
Members of the Executive Committee
have responsibility for their own business
or functional areas and the Group expects
individual behaviours to meet its high
standards of conduct. All employees share
the responsibility for uphelding 3i's strong
control culture and supporting effective risk
management. Senior managers, typically
those who report to Executive Committee
members, are required to confirm their
individual and business area compliance
annually. In addition, all staff are assessed
on how they have demonstrated 3i's values
as part of their annual appraisal. Finally, our
Remuneration Committee is responsible for
ensuring the Group's remuneration culture
is weighted towards variable compensation
where reward is strictly dependant

on performance.

31 Group Annyal report and accounts 2018

The following sections explain how we
control and manage the risks in our business
They outline the key risks, our assessment
of their potential impact on our business in
the context of the current environment and
how we seek to mitigate them.

Approach to risk governance

The Board is responsible for risk assessment,
the risk management process and for

the protection of the Group’s reputation
and brand integrity. [t considers the most
significant risks facing the Group and uses
quantitative analyses, such as the vintage
contral which considers the portfolio
concentration by geography and sector,
and liguidity reporting, where appropriate.

Non-axecutive oversight is also exercised
through the Audit and Compliance
Committee which focuses on upholding
standards of integrity, financial reporting,
risk management, going concern and
internal control. The Audit and Compliance
Committee's activities are discussed further
on pages 66 to 69.

The Board has delegated the responsibility
for risk oversight to the Chief Executive.

He is assisted by the Group Risk Committee
{("GRC") in managing this responsibility, and
guided by the Board's appetite for risk and
any specific limits set. The GRC maintains
the Group risk review, which summarises the
Group's principal risks, associated mitigatng
actions and key risk indicators, and identifies
any changes to the Group's risk profile.

The risk review is updated quarterly, with

the last review in May 2018, and the Chief
Executive provides quarterly updates to each
Audit and Compliance Cammittee meeting.
Investrent Committee ensures a consistent
approach to Investment processes across the
business as described on page 46.

In addition to the above, a number of other
Board and Executive committees contribute
10 the Group's overall risk governance
structure, as set out opposite.

Risk appetite

Qur risk appetite is defined by our strategic
objectives, We invest capital in businesses that
will deliver capital returns and portfoiic and fund
management cash income to cover our costs,
and increase returns to our investors.

Investment risk

The substantial majarity of the Group's capital
is invested in Private Equity. Before the Group
commits to an investment, we assess the Private
Equity cpportunity using the following criteria:

-

return objective: individually assessed and
subject to a mirimum target of 2x money
multiple over four to five years;

geographic focus: core markets of northern
Eurcpe and North America;

sector expertise: focus on Business and
Technology Services, Consumer and Industrial;
and

vintage: invest up to £750 million per annum in
four to seven new investments in companies
with an enterprise value range of €100 million
to €500 million at investment.

Investments made by 3iN need to be consistent
with 3iN's gverall return target of 8% to 10%
over the medium term and generate a mix of
capital and income returns. Other Infrastructure
investments made by the Group should be
capable of delivering capital growth and fund
management fees which together generate
mid-teens returns.

Capital management

3i adopts a conservative approach to managing
its capital resources as follows:

there is no appetite for structural gearing
at the Group tevel, but short-term tactical
gearing will be used,

the Group does not hedge its currency
exposure but it does match currency
realisations with investments where possible
and takes out short-term hedges occasionally
to hedge investments and realisations
between signing and completion; and

we have limited appetite for the dilution

of capital returns as z result of operating
and interest expenses. Both Private Equity
and Infrastructure generate cash income to
mitigate this risk.

3i Group's Pillar 3 document
cah be found at www.3i.cem



Risk governance structure

Audit and Compliance Committee

Responsible for managing financial
reporting risk and internal control and
the relationship with the external Auditor
Reviews and challenges risk management
reports from Group Finance, Tax,

Internal Audit and Compliance

Chief Executive updates the Committee
at each meeting on the output of the
latest GRC meeting

Valuations Committee

Specific and primary responsibility for
the valuation policy and valuation of the
Group's investment portfolio

Pravides oversight and challenge of
underlying assumptions on the valuation
of the unguoted investment portfalic
(83% of net assets at 31 March 2018)
Drrect engagement with the external
Auditor, including their specialist
valuations team

Board

Approves the Group's risk appetite

and strategy

Responsible for ensuring an effective
risk management and cversight process
across the Group

Assisted by four Board Committees
with specific responsibility for key risk
management areas

Delegates management of the Group
to the Chief Executive

Chief Executive

Delegated responsibility for
management of the Group
Delegated responsibility
for investment decisions
Delegated responsibility
for Risk Management

Committees of the Board
Committees of the Chref Executive

Independent Commitiees

Remuneration Committee

* Responsible for ensuring a remuneration
culture which is weighted towards
variable reward and strictly dependent
on performance

¢ Agproves variable compensation
schemes for our investment professionals
that are in line with market practice and
enable the Group to attract and retain
the best talent

* By excluding kxecutive Directors from
carried interest or performance fee
profit schemes, the Committee ensures
that their remuneration is more directly
aligned with shareholder returns

Nominations Committes

* Responsible for ensuring that the Board
has the necessary, skills, experience
and knowledge to enable the Group
to deliver its strategic objectives

-

Executive Committee

* Monitors divisional performance
Facllitates information sharing
between divisions

* Meets monthly

Conflicts Committee

Deals with potential conflicts as required

Treasury Transactions Committee

* Consicers specific treasury transactions
as required

1

Investment Committee

Principal committee for managing the
Group's investment portfolio, its most
material risk, and meets as often

as required

* Chaired by the Chief Executive

Strict oversight of each step of the
investment lifecycle

Approves all investment, divestment
and material portfolio decisians
Monitors investments against original
investment case

Ensures investments are in ne with
the Group's investment policy and
1ok appete

Group Risk Committee

& Assists the Chief Executive with the
oversight of risk management acrass
the Group

* implements the Group's risk appetite
policy and monitors performance

* Maintains the Group risk review which
detalls its risk exposure and appropriate
mitigations and controls

* Twe members of the GRC, the Group
Finance Director and General Counsel,
form the Risk Management Function
as required under AIFMD

3i Group Annual repart and accounts 2018
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Performance, risk and sustainability

Risk management

continued

The risk framework is augmented by a
separate Risk Management Function
which has specific responsibilities under
the FCA's Investment Funds Sourcebook.

It meets ahead of the GRC meetings to
consider the key risks impacting the Group,
and any changes in the relevant period
where appropriate. It also considers the
separate risk reports for each Aliternative
Investment Fund ("AIF“) managed by the
Group, including areas such as portfolio
composition, portfolic valuation, operational
updates and teamn changes, which are then
considered by the GRC.

In practice, the Group operates a "three lines
of defence” framework for managing and
identifying risk.

* The first line of defence against
outcomes outside our risk appetite are
our two divisions and their respective
Managing Partners.

* Line management s supported by
aversight and control functicns such
as finance, human rescurces and legal
which constitute the second line of
defence. The compliance function is
also in the second fine of defence; its
duties include reviewing the effective
operation of our processes in meeting
regulatory requirements.

Internal audit provides independent
assurance over the operation of

controls and is the third line of defence.
The internal audit programme includes the
review of risk management processes and
recornmendations to improve the internal
control environment.

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018

Role of Group Risk Committee
in risk management

The quarterly Group risk review process
includes the monitoring of key strategic and
financial metrics (such as KPis) considered
to be indicators of potential changes in the
Group's risk profile. The GRC uses these to
identify its principal risks. [t then evaluates
the impact and likelihood of each risk, with
reference to associated measures and key
performance indicators. The adequacy of
the mitigation plans is then assessed and, if
necessary, additional actions are agreed and
then reviewed at the subsequent meeting.

A number of focus topics are also agreed
in advance of each meeting. In FY2018, the
GRC covered the following:

# an update on the Group’s Brexit planning
process, including the incorporation of
an approved Alternative Investment Fund
Manager (“AIFM") in Luxembourg;

* asemi-annual update on Environmental,
Social, business integrity and corporate
Governance {"ESG"} issues and
themes, especially with respect to its
porticiio companies;

a review of the Group's stress tests to
support its Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Pracess ("I[CAAP") and
Viability statement;

a review of the Group's IT framework
including cyber security and business
resilience; and

the proposed risk disclosures in the 2018
Annual report and accourits.

There were no significant changes to the
GRC's approach to risk governance or its
operation wn FY2018 but we continued to
refine our framework for sk management
where appropriate.

Role of Investment Committee
in risk management

Qur Investment Committee is fundamental
to the management of investment risk.

The Investment Committee is involved in and
approves every step of the investment and
realisation process.

The investment case presented at the outset
of our investment consideration process
includes the expected benefit of operational
improvements, growth initiatives and M&A
activity that will be driven by cur investment
professionals together with the portfolic
company’s management team. [t will also
include a view on the likely exit strategy

and timing.

The execution of this investrent case is
closely monitored:

our monthly portfolio monitaring reviews
current performance against budget
and prior year and a set of traffic light
indicators and bespoke, forward looking
KPls; and

both Private Equity and Infrastructure
hold semi-annual reviews that focus
on the longer-term performance and
plan for the investment compared to
the original investment case, together
with any strategic developments and
market outlock.

The monthly portfolio monitoring reviews
and the semi-annual reviews are attended
by the Investment Committee and the senior
members of the investment teams.

Finally, we recognise the need to plan

and execute a successful exit at the

optimum time for the portfolio company's
development, taking consideration of market
conditions. This risk is closely linked to the
external economic environment. Exit plans
are refreshed where appropriate in the semi-
annual portfolio reviews and the divestment
process is clearly defined and overseen by
the Investment Committee.

Individual portfolic company
underperformance could have adverse
reputational consequences for the Group,
even though the value impact may not be
material. We review our internal processes
and investment decisions in light of actual
autcomes on an ongoing basis.

Further deth'Is on 3i's approach as

#resp are ilak
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Principal risks and mitigations
Aligning risk to our strategic objectives

Business and risk environment
in FY2018

Although the business environment aver
the last 12 months has been challenging,

as a result of the ongoing political instability,
economic uncertainty and volatile market
conditions, there has been no significant
change to our risk management approach.

The Directors have carried out a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the
Group, including those that would threaten
its business model, future perfarmance,
solvency or liquidity. We define our principal
risks as those that have the potential to
impact the delivery of our strategic objectives
materially. We alsc maintain a log of risks
which have the potential to become principal
risks but are not yet considered to be so.
This is called our "watch list”. These risks are
regularly reviewed to determine if they have
the potential to impact the delivery of cur
strategy. In the year, none of our watch list
risks were considered sufficiently material to
be classified as 2 principal risk.

External

External nsks are the risks to our business which
are usually outside of our direct control such as
paolitical, ecanomic, regulatory and competitor
risks. In FY2018, we saw a general deterioration
in the geo-paolitical environment, including
an increased likelihood of a trade war and an
uncertain political backdrop in the UK with
the potential to impact investor confidence.
We concluded that these risks were not
currently material to our portfolio but we will
continue to monitor developments closely.

Viability statement

The Directors have assessed 3i's viability
over a three-year pericd to March 2021.

3i conducts its strategic planning over a
five-year period; this staternent is based on
the first three years, which provides more
certainty over the forecasting assumptions
used. 3i's strategic plan, ICAAP and
associated principal risks {as set out on
pages 48 ta 51 of the Strategic report) are
the foundation of the Directors’ assessment.

The assessment is overseen by the Group
Finance Director and 1s subject to challenge by
the GRC, review by the Audit and Compliance
Committee and approval by the Board.

Our Group strategic plan projects the
performance, net asset value and liquidity of
3i over a five-year period and is presented at
the Directors’ annual strategy avay day and
updated throughout the year as appropriate.

The longer-term implications of the

UK's negotiations to leave the EU on 3i's
business remains unclear. Therefore, we
have implemented an alternative regulatory
strategy to ensure continuity of our business
acrass a range of reasonably foreseeable
scenatios, This strategy includes permissicn
from the Luxembourg regulator, the CSSF,
to establish an AIFM in Luxembourg,
received in March 2018. 3ihas had a
presence in Luxembourg for many years.
Currently 68% of our portfolic is invested

in northern Eurcpe, and this approval will
enable 3i to continue the Group's activities
in Europe after March 2019, when the UK

is expected to leave the EU.

Investment

Qur overarching objective is to source
attractive investrent opportunities at the
right price and execute cur investment
plans successfully.

As part of our portfotio monitaring, all of
aur new Private Equity and Infrastructure
investments in the year were subject tc
rigorous review, including performance
against a 180-day plan. We continued to
monitor the portfolio actively, and held
additional reviews for the small number
of Private Equity assets where operational
improvements and reorganisation were
particularly intense. Investment teams
are responsible for origination and

asset management and are rewarded
with performance-based remuneration.

At the strategy away day, the Directors
consider the strategy and opportunities for,
and threats tc, each business line and the
Group as a whole. The outcome of those
discussions is included in the next iteration
of the strategic plan which is then used to
support the viability assessment.

The Group's ICAAP and viability testing
considers multicle severe, yet plausible,
individua! and combined stress scenarios.
They include a severe downside economic
scenario and the impact of a material single
asset event. The severe downside assumes
that the global economy enters a severe
recession; giobal equities fall and long-term
interest rates reach new lows. The material
single asset event considers the impact of
a3 significant asset experiencing a severe
downturn in performance

We project the amaunt of capital we
need in the business to cover our risks,

Operational

Attracting and retaining key people is

our most significant operational risk.

QOur Remuneration Committee ensures that
our variable compensation schemes are in
line with market practice. Carried interest is
an important incentive and rewards cash-to-
cash returns.

in addition, detailed succession plans are

in place for each division. The Board last
completed its annual review of the Group's
organisational capability and succession
plans in September 2017. The success of the
Group since the 2012 restructuring has led
to very modest {8%) levels of staff turnover.

The risk in relatian to the new Infrastructure
business initiatives has decreased in view of
the progress made to date. We continued
to enhance cur cyber security management
and reparting and engaged an external firm
to provide a dedicated Chief Information
Security Officer service in the year Cue to
the nature of aur business, cyber security

is not considered a principal risk but is
inciuded an our watch list and remains under
regular review by the GRC and Audit and
Compliance Committee.

QOutlook

Competition for the best assets in our sectors
remains intense, with an environment of high
prices requiring a disciplined approach to
investment. We rernain focused on executing
our strategy as we havigate what looks to be
another year of uncertainty.

including financial and operational risks,
under such stress scenarios. Our analysis
shows that, while there may be a significant
impact on the Group's reported
performance in the short term under these
scenarics, the resilience and quality of

our balance sheet is such that soivency is
maintained and our business remains viable.

Taking the inputs from the strategic planning
process, the ICAAP and its stress scenarios,
the Directors reviewed an assessment of the
potential effects of 3i's principal risks on its
current portfolio and forecast investment
and realisation activity, and the consequent
impact on 3i's capital and liquidity.

Based on this assessment, the Directors
have a reasonable expectation that the
Company and the Group will be able to
continue in operation and meet all their
liabilities as they fall due up to at least
March 2021,

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018

Kyjiqewteysns pue
sl ‘aduBULIOLeg

47



Performance, risk and sustainability

Principal risks and mitigations

Aligning risk to our strategic objectives

continued

The disclosures on the following pages are not an exhaustive list of risks
and uncertainties faced by the Group, but rather a summary of those
principal risks which are regularly reviewed by the GRC and the Board,
and have the potential to affect materially the achievement of the Group's
strategic objectives and impact its financial performance, reputation

and brand integrity.
External

Key risk
factors

Link te
strategic objectives

Potential
impact

Economic growth and investor
and market confidence

is vulnerable to ongoing
challenges, including
geo-political developments,

in the global economy

Grow investment
portfolio earnings

Realise investments with
good cash-to-cash returns

Limited growth or reduction in NAV

owing to contraction of earnings in

our investments in Private Equity or
Infrastructure and/or changes in multiples
and discount rates used for their valuations
Increases covenant risks or limits ability

to refinance our investments

Impacts general market confidence and
risk appetite

Leads to reduced M&A volumes, economic
instability and lower growth, which impacts
realisation levels

Volatility in foreign exchange
and capital markets

Grow investment
portfolio earnings

Realise investments with
good cash-to-cash raturns

Increase shareholder
distributions.

Unhedged foreign exchange rate
movements impact total return and NAV
May impact portfolio performarce

and realisation processes

Increases risks with PO exit route

and bark financing

Potential for large equity market falt

to impact valuation

Competitive M&A markets and
high pricing in 3i's core sectors

Realise investments with
good cash-to-cash returns

Use our strong
balance sheet

increasa shareholder
distributions

Reduced investment rates in Private Equity
and Infrastructure

Increased risk of overpaying

for investments, which impacts

potential returns

Potential for higher cash realisations

on exits

31 Group Annual repart and accounts 2018



Risk management
and mitigation

Movement
in risk status
in FY2018

FY2018
outcome

* Regular portfolio company reviews as well as Investment
Catmmittee focus on investment strategy, exit processes
and refinancing strategies

Monthly portfclio monitering to identify and address
portfolio issues promptly

Valuations Committee monitoring of valuations and
application of palicy

GIR strong at 27% with impact from macro-economic and
geo-political uncertainty on 3i and its portfolio companies
limited by robust performance in largest investments

Gearing remains nil and liquidity strong at £1.4 biflion

Approval received from the Luxembourg regulator to
establish an AIFM in Luxembourg to ensure the continuity
of our business when the UK leaves the EU

-

Active management of exit strategies by Investment
Committee to enable us to adapt to market conditions

Portfolio company reviews focus on investment strategy,
exit plans and refinancing strategies

Matching of currency flows from investments and
realisations where appropriate

Regular liquidity and currency monitoring and strategic
reviews of the balance sheet

Foreign exchange exposures at the portfolio company
level monitored and hedged appropriately

Realised £69 million from continued sales of

guoted investments

Quoted asset exposure of 13%, with 9% being 3iN
Policy to adjust multiples to reflect ienger-term trends
mitigated volatility in FY2018

Successful refinancings of Action and Scandlines reduced
money at risk

Central oversight and disciplined approach to
investment pipeline

Active management of investments and exit strategies
by Investment Committee

Maintenance of our networks facilitates
cff-market transactions

Market conditions were favourabte in the year and we
sold eight Private Equity companies

Invested in four new Private Equity companies and
completed a numbber of further investments to support
buy-and-build strategies

Advised 3iN on six investments, including Attero which
will complete in FY2019

Risk expasure has increased

Na significant change in risk exposure

Risk exposure has decreased

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018
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Performance, risk and sustainability

Principal risks and mitigations

Aligning risk to our strategic objectives

continued

Investment

Key risk
factors

Link to
strategic objectives

Potential
impact

Investment rate or quality is
lower than expected because
we pay the wrong price

Grow invastment
portfolic earnings

Use qur strong
balance sheet

Increase shareholder
distributions

Impacts loanger-term returns and capital
management and therefore ability to
deliver strategic plan

Reduces staff morale and confidence
Cost base may not be sustainable

Poor investment impacts Group's
reputation as an investor of proprietary
capital, as an adviser to 3iN and as a
manager of other funds

Underperformance of
portfolio companies

Grow investment
portfolie earnings

Realise investmants with

Reduction in NAV and realisation potential,
impacting shareholder returns

Higher value concentration in the portfalia

good cash-to-cash returns increases the potential impact and profile
Increase sharaholder of specific cases of underperformance
distributions . )

* Underperformance impacts reputation as
an investor of proprietary capital, an adviser
to 3iN and manager of other funds

.
Operational
Key risk Link to Potential
factors strategic objectives impact

Failure to recruit, develop and
retain key people

Realise investments with
good cash-to-cash returns

Use our strong
halance sheet

Increase shareholder
distributions

Restricts our ability to attract the
best people

Potential to undermine investor/
shareholder confidence
Potential to delay execution of
strategic plan

New Infrastructure initiatives

Maintain an cperating
cash profit

Use our strong
balance sheet

Increase shareholder
distributions

Slower growth could impact operating cash
profit and potentially dilute capital returns
New initiatives could distract from the 3iN
advisory mandate

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018



Movement

Risk managemant in risk status FY2018

and mitigation in FY2018 outcome

* Regular monitoring of investrment and * Completed four new investments and one significant
divestment pipeline further investment in Private Equity and generated

* Close oversight by management and early involvement £1,002 million of realisation praceeds
of Investment Committee when key targets are identified & Completed our first US Infrastructure investment

* Disciphned approach to sourcing investment * Advised 3iN on six investments, including Attero which
apportunities and pricing will complete in FY2019, and the realisations of AWG

* Regular review of asset allocation and Elenia

* Rigorous intial assessment of new investment * 91% of the assets valued on an earnings basis grew
oppaortunities to rmaintain quaiity of our their earnings over the last 12 months
investment pipeline » Responsible Investment/ESG risk evaluation further

* Monthly portfolio monitoring to review operating improved and is reviewed semi-annually at the portfolio
performance, identify weakness and opportunity early company reviews and GRC
and take acticn as appropriate » Regular portfolic monitoering aims to track performance

* Additional manitoring of Action, including 3i Chief and, where appropriate, identify assets promptly where a
Executive membership of the Action board deeper review is needed, such as Christ and Schlemmer

* ESG and governance requirements and monitoring

Movament
Risk management in risk status  FY2018
and mitigation in FY2018 outcome

* Specific focus by Remuneration Committee which
approves all material incentive arrangements to ensure
they reflect market practice

Annual Board review of succession planning

Regular review of resourcing and key man exposures as
part of business line reviews and the portfolio company
review process

* Organisational capability and succession plan reviewed
by the Board in September 2017

Rigorous assessment of new opportunities

Regular business updates and manthly
portfolio monitoring

Additional recruitment to ensure no dilution of cur focus
on the 3iIN mandate

Induction and oversight of new hires

» Close oversight of performance of new investments
» Launched two new Infrastructure funds

* Completed our first US Infrastructure investrment

Risk exposure has increased

No significant change in risk exposure

Risk exposure has decreased

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018
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Performance, risk and sustainability

Sustainability

3i is committed to achieving its strategic and investment
objectives while behaving responsibly as an employer,
as an investor and as an international corporate citizen.
We take responsibility for our actions, carefully consider
how others will be affected by our choices and ensure
that our values and ethics are integrated into our formal
business policies, practices and plans. We believe that
encouraging this approach to our portfolio is a driver

of long-term outperformance.

Our sustainability strategy is defined
by three key priorities:

1. Recruit and develop a diverse pool of talent
2. Invest responsibly

3. Embed responsible business practices
throughout the organisation

We are committed to communicating both financial and non-financial performance in a clear,
open and comprehensive manner and to maintaining an open dialcgue with stakeholders.
Accordingly, we welcome the publication of the Recommendations of the Taskforce an
Climate-Related Financial Disclosures ("TCFD"). We made our preliminary disclosures under
that framework in our Sustainability report 2018, with a view to incorporating relevant aspects
in our Annual report from next year.

This section aims ta provide a brief
summary of our approach to sustainability.

For more information, piease see
our Sustainability report, available on
our website.

Further information on our approach
to carporate respensibility, including
summaries of relevant policies,

can also be found on our website.

Far more information, visit
www.3i.com/sustainability
Image removed

Image removed
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A responsible employer

Recruiting, developing and retaining

our talent is ane of our most important
priorities. We work towards that objective
by communicating openly and consistently
with our employees, providing training and
opportunities for career advancement,
rewarding our employees fairly and
encouraging employees to give direct
{eedback to senior management. We are

a meritocracy and our employees are
recruited, promoted and remunerated
strictly on the basis of merit, ability

and performance.

We recognise the importance of providing
a supportive working environment and

af providing a healthy wark/life balance
for all our employees. 3i has a suite of
human resources policies and procedures
covering areas including recruitment, vetting
and performance management, equal
apportutities and diversity, family-friendly
policies, medical insurance and health
screening, health and safety and flexible
working, and appropriate processes to
monitor their application. Summaries of a
number of these policies can be found on
our website,

Human rights

Whilst 3i does not have a formal human
rights policy, our policies are cansistent with
internationally praclaimed human rights
principles. We comply fully with applicable
human rights legislation in the countries

in which we operate, for example cavering
areas such as freedom of assaciation and
the right to collective bargaining, equal
remuneration and protection against
discrimination. 3i is an equal opportunities
employer and has clear grievance and
disciplinary procedures, an employee
assistance programme and an independent,
external “whistle blowing” hotline service.

We are committed to ensuring that the
businesses we invest in comply with all
applicable laws in relation to their employees
{amongst other things) and, where
appropriate, that they work towards meeting
relevant international standards {such as the
ILO Fundamental Conventions) where those
are more stringent. We also encourage

our business partners and suppliers to
adapt the same standards with respect

to human rights.



Equal opportunity and diversity

3iis fully committed to being an equal
oppertunities employer, and prohibits
unlawful and unfair discrimination.

We believe that there are great benefits to
be gained from having a diverse and varied
warkforce. Although we do not set specific
diversity targets, we seek to ensyre that our
corporate culture and policies create an
inclusive work environment that heips

to bring aut the best in our employees.

3i's Equal Opportunities and Diversity policy
establishes that all 3i employees (temporary
and permanent), contract workers and

job applicants are treated fairly and are
offered equal opportunity in selection,
training, career development, promation
and remuneration.

Achieving better gender diversity is important
to 3i, and we believe we are making good
progress in that respect, within the constraints
imposed by being a small ergamisation with
limited staff turnover. At 31 March 2018, 3i
had a total of 244 employees of which 158
were employed in the UK. The breakdown by
gender was as follows:

{number) Total Male Femnale
All 3i employees 244 145 99
3i Group Directors' 3 & 2
Senicr managers? 9 29 10

1 Inchudes non-executive Directors who are not 3 employees

2 Seruor managers excludes Simon Borrows and
Julia Wilson twho are included as Directgrs of % Group
ple) and includes 23 people who were directors of
undertakings included in the consalidated Group
actounts, of whom 20 were male and three were fernale

Employee engagement

We encourage a culture of open
communication between our employees
and senior and executive management.

We benefit from being a small organisation,
operating in a relatively flat structure,

with few hierarchies. The members of our
Executive Cormmittee have an open-door
policy and know most employees by name.

We promote and facilitate the ownership
of 3i shares among employees through
variable compensation or share investment
plans As a result, most of our employees
are sharehoiders in the Company and feel
invested in the success of the organisation.

We pride ourselves on the engagement and
the sense of ownership we have fostered
over the years.

B4% Participation in UK SIP*
8% Unplanned employee turnover rate?

T Proportion of UK-based employees wha subserbe to
a Share Incentive Plan availsble to UK ermplaoyaes only

2 During the year, 31 closed its Madrid operations
The impact of this change s excluded from the
calculation of the emplayee turnover rata.

Graduate training scheme

Qur graduate recruitment scheme, designed
to develop our next generation of world-
class investment professionals and business
leaders, was launched in 2015. We are a
smalt organisation, however we believe

this programme is important in fostering a
distinctive 3i culture. Qur first five graduate
analysts joined us in 2015 and we have since
been joined by five in September 2016

and three in September 2017, A further
three are due to join us in September 2018
Since we started the programme, onily 14%
of total applications have been fram female
candidates. However, out of the 16 graduate
positions offered since 2015, six, or 37.5% of
the total, were offered to women. The tap
performers on the programme are offered
the opportunity to be fast-tracked directly
into our business.

Further information on ocur performance as
aresponsible employer is availatle in our
Sustainability report 2018.

A responsible investor

With fewer than 250 employees globally, as
a company we have a relatively small direct
impact in terms of the environment and
other sustainability issues. However, with
assets under management of approximately
£12 billion we recognise that our decisions
as an investor potentially impact a broad
range of stakeholders. We are committed to
investing responsibly and elieve that:

* itis vital that we seek to identify all
material ESG risks and opportunities
through our due diligence at the point
we invest and manage those risks and
opportunities effectively during the period
of 3i's investment;

the effective assessment and management
of ESG risks and oppertunities has a
positive effect on the value of cur investee
companies and of 3i Group itself; and

* compliance with local laws and regulations
may not be encugh to meet global
expectations, deliver value and enhance
our reputation and license to operate.

We are uniguely well positioned to make
a difference as a responsible investor:

* for more than a decade we have carried
out our investment activities under our
Responsible Investment policy, which is
embedded in cur investment and portfolio
management processes and is considered
rigorous by industry standards. We have
been signatories of the UN Principles for
Responsible investment since 201%;

* we have a medium to long-term
investment horizon, typically buying
controfling stakes in our portfolio
companies and being represented
on their boards. We are therefore well
placed to drive sustainable growth
in our portfolio. This involves the
continuous assessment, monitoring and
management of ESG risks, as well as
making targeted investments through
new or existing portfolio companies in
opportunities arising from developments
such as climate change regulation,
changes to consumer preferences in
response to environmental issues and
the development of business solutions to
global sustainability challenges.

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018
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Performance, risk and sustainability

Sustainability

continued

Our Responsible
Investment policy

We have a clear and comprehensive
Responsible Investment (“RI”) palicy which is
embedded into our investment and portfolio
monitoring processes. in our experience,
there is a strong link between companies
that have high ESG standards and those

that are able to achieve sustainable business
growth. This policy sets out the businesses

in which 3i wilt not invest, as well as minimum
standards in relation to ESG matters which
we expect new portfolic companies to meet,
ar to commit to meeting over a reasonable
time period. The policy applies to all our
investments, irrespective of their country

or sector.

The Board of Directors is responsible

for the Rl policy, including for the review

and approval of any material changes.

The Investrment Committee is responsible for
the implementation of the Rl policy, and for
ensuring that it is executed in a meaningful
way by 3i's investment teams in all investment
and portfolic management processes.

Our Rl policy has been integrated into our
investment and portfolio management
processes and procedures, which are
described in the Risk management section
on page 44, and is supported by detailed
guidance notes, a global network of
specialist external advisers and dedicated
internal resource.

31 Group Annual report and accounts 2018

3i commuts to use its influence as an investor
to promote a commitment in our investee
companies to.

* comply, as a minimum, with applicacle
local and international laws and
regulations and, where appropriate,
relevant internaticnal standards (such
as the IFC Performance Standards and
the ILO Fundamental Conventions),
where these are more stringent than
applicable laws;

mitigate any adverse environmental and
social impacts and enhance positive
effects on the environment, workers
and relevant stakeholders; and

uphold high standards of business

integrity and good corporate governance.

For mora information on our approach

to responsible investing, please see our
Sustainability report. A summary of our
R ibsle | ¢ policy is ilabl,

p
on www. 3i.com

A good corporate citizen

As a company, we strive to embed
responsible business practices throughout
the crganisation. Good corporate
citizenship is achieved by having robust
policies and processes in place and by
promoting the right values and culture
within our organisation.

All employees are assessed annmually against
our corparate values of ambition, rigour and
energy, integrity and accountability and have
a responsibility to be aware cf, and abide by,
3i's compliance, behaviour, enviranmental,
ethical and social policies and pracedures.
For more information on our corporate
values, policies and processes, please see
our Sustainability report 2018.

Governance

Good corperate governance is fundamental
10 3i and its activities and is onitical to

the delivery of value to our stakeholders.
For ful details of our governance structure
and processes, please see the Corporate
Governance section of this report.

Transparency

As a publicly-listed company, 3i operates
within a framework of formal fegal and
requlatary disclosure requirements.

It also meets the high expectations for
transparency of our shareholders, fund
investors, staff and the media.

Anti-bribery and corruption

3i does not offer, pay ar accept bribes

and we onhly work with third parties

whose standards of business integrity

are substantively consistent with ours.

We expect the businesses we invest in to
operate in compliance with all applicable
laws and regulations and, where appropriate,
work towards meeting relevant international
standards where these are more stringent.
This includes, in particular, uphalding high
standards of business integrity, aveiding
corruption in all its forms and complying with
applicable anti-bribery, anti-fraud and anti-
money laundering laws and regulations.



Modern slavery

3iupdated its slavery and human trafficking
statement for the financial year ending

31 March 2017, as required by section

54 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015, in
September 2017. The slavery and hurnan
trafficking statement for the financial year
ending 31 March 2018 will e published

in September 2018. 3i is committed tg
ensuring that:

e there is no slavery and human trafficking
in any part of its business ar supply chains;
and

® the companies in which it invests are
similarly committed to ensuring that there
is no slavery or human trafficking in any
part of their business or supply chains.

Our latest Modern Slavery disclosure is

available on our website at www.3i.com/
media/3436/modemn-slavery-statement pdf

Data protection

We are reviewing our data protection
policy and procedures in the light of the
General Data Protection Regulation, which
comes into effect in May 2018. 3i maintains
an Information Security Management
System that: (i) ensures that risks to the
confidentiality, integrity and availability of
information are managed to an acceptable
level using a standard risk management
framework; (i) protects information from
accidental or intentional damage, loss,
unauthorised disclosure or modification;

(i) provides secure and reliable information
to enable 3i employees to conduct their jobs
effectively; and {iv) ensures compliance with
legal and statutory cbligations.

Environmental impact

This section has been prepared in
accordance with our regulatory obligation to
report greenhouse gas {"GHG") emissions
pursuant to section 7 of the Companies Act
2006 (Strategic Repart and Directors’ Report}
Regulations 2013

During the year to 31 March 2018, our
measured Scope 1 and 2 emissions (tocation-
based) totalled 750.8 tCOsze. This comprised:

Scope FYz018 FY2017
1 156.4 1910
2 Location-based 594 4 768.8
2 Market-based' 1374 1748

Emissions from the carsumption of elsctrcity outs.de
the UK and ermissions from purchased electricity are
calculated using the market-based approach using
suppher-speafic emission factars are reported .n
tCO~rather than tCCse due to the avallality of
emissior: factors

This is eguivalent to 3.1 tCOze per full-time
equivalent employee, based on an average
of 241 employees during the year (2017: 3.4
tCOe; 281 employees). Gverall our Scope
1 and 2 emissions decreased by 21.8%

in the year due to the sale of our Debt
Management business in March 2017

and the full impact of the closure of cur
Stockholm office.

Qur emissions have been verified to a
reasonable level of assurance by an
external third party according to the
1SO 14064-3 standard.

We guantfy and report our organisational
GHG emissions in alignment with the
World Resources Institute’s Greenhouse
Gas Protocol Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standard and in alignment with
the Scope 2 Guidance.

We consclidate our organisational boundary
according to the operaticnal control
approach, which includes ali our offices.

We have adopted a materiality threshold of
5% for GHG reporting purposes. The GHG
sources that constituted our operational
boundary for the year to 31 March 2018 are:

» Scope 1: natural gas combustion within
boilers and fuel combustion within leased
vehicles; and

* Scope 2: purchased electricity and heat
consumption for our awn use.

In some cases, where data is missing,
values have been estimated using either
extrapolation of available data or data from
the previous year as a proxy.

The new Scope 2 Guidance requires that

we quantify and report Scope 2 emissions
according to two different methodclogies
{"dual reporting "} (i} the location-based
method, using average emissions factors for
the country in which the reported operations
take place; and (i) the market-based method,
which uses the actual emissions factors of the
energy procured.

Whilst we have a very low footprint on the
environment, we are committed to reducing
it further. In our London and Luxembourg
offices, which account for over 80% of

our overall electricity consumption, we
purchase all of our electricity from 100%
renewable sources.
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Performance, risk and sustainability

Sustainability

continued

Community

We focus our charitable activities on the
disadvantaged, on the elderly, on yaung
people and on education, aiming to equip
young people from all backgrounds with
the tocls and opportunities to pursue a
successful career.

The charities we partner with are supported
on the basis of ther effectiveness and
impact. We also support staff giving and
sponsorship through matching donations.

Our charitabie giving for the year to 31 March
2018 totalled £390,000 (2017: £288,000).
Further details of the charities we suppert
are available in our Sustainability report 2018.

Further information on our caorporate
citizenship performance is available in our
Sustainability report 2018

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018

External benchmarking

We believe that it is important to
evidence our commitment to cperating
responsibly and to show how we are
performing. Accordingly, we provide
information to shareholders and other
interested stakeholders.

Sustainability indices

We have been a member of the Dow Jones
Sustainability Europe Index and of the
FTSE4AGcod Index Series since 2002 and
2011 respectively. in addition, 3i became a
member of the Ethibel Sustainability Index
{ESK Excellence Europe in September 20146
and was reconfirmed as a constituent of that
index in March 2018.

For more information, please see¢
www.sustainability-indices.com

www. ftse.com/products/indices/FTSE4AGood
www for hibel.org/contant/ethibel
sustainability_index_. It

_eu rapeﬁ.htrnl

Carbkon Disclosure Project

CDP (formerly Carbon Disclosure Project) is
an international, not-for-profit organisation
providing a framewark which enables
businesses to disclose their greenhouse
gas emissions and other metrics voluntarily.
3i has been making a2nnual submissions to
CDP since 2006. 3i's score in the 2017 CDP
assessment was A-.

For more information, please see
www.cdp.net

Far the purposes of the UK Companies Act
2006, the Strategic report of 3i Group pic
comprises pages 2 to 56.

By order of the Board

Simen Borrows
Chief Executive
16 May 2018
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Governance

Sets out how we maintain strong
and effective oversight with
rigorous controls to ensure the
long-term health of the business

3i Groug Annualreport and accounts 2018
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Governance

Chairman’s
introduction

Good corporate governance is fundamental to the way
that 3i, and its investee companies, conduct business.
Particularly in the current volatile economic and political
environment, effective oversight of strateqy, risk
management and people is vital to the delivery of long-
term, sustainable value to the Group's stakeholders.
The Board must alsc remain responsive to the evolving
regulatory environment and changing societal

expectations of business.

The Board is responsible to sharehalders for
the overall management and oversight of
the Group to ensure jts long-term success.

In particular, the Board is responsibie for
approving the Group's strategy. setting

the Group's risk appetite, monitoring
perfoermance, and maintaining an effective
systern of risk management and internal
controls. it is also responsible for the Group's
approach to sustanabiiity.

The Board is alsc responsible for ensuring
that the Group has the necessary people,
resources and structures to deliver

the strategy.

Simon Thompson
Chairrman

Corparate governance statement

The Company seeks to comply with established best practice in the field of
corporate governance. The Board has adopted core values and global policies
which set out the behaviour expected of staff in their dealings with shareholders,
customers, colleagues, suppliers and others who engage with the Company.

Throughout the year, the Company complied with the provisions of the UK
Corporate Governance Code (the *Code”) published by the Financial Reporting
Council ("FRC"} in September 2014 which is availatsle on the FRC website.

31 Group Annual report and accounts 2018

Image removed




Leadership *
Effectiveness ¢
Accountability -
Remuneration -

Relations with
shareholders =

nnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn



Governance

Leadership

Board of Directors and Executive Committee

Board of Directors

Image removed

Image removed

Image removed

Simon Thompson
Chairman

Non-executive Director since Apnl 2015 and
appointed Chairman with effect from close of
2015 AGM. Chairman of Rio Tinto plc.

Previous expearience

Until April 2017 Chairman of Tullow Oil ple
Formerly an executive director of Anglo American
ple and chairman of the Tarmac Group. Non-
executive director of AnginGold Ashanti Ltd,
Newmont Mining Corporation and Sandvik AB
Senior independent Director of Amec Foster
Wheeler ple. Previous career in investment hanking
with N M Rothschild and 5.G Warburg

Image removed

Simon Borrows
Chief Executive

Chief Executive since 2012, and an Executive
Drrector since he joined 31 in 2011, Chairman of the
Group's Risk Committee, Executive Committee and
Investrment Committes. Member of the Supervisory
Board of Peer Holding | BV, the Dutch holding
company for the Group's and EFV's investment

in Action

Previous experience

Formerly Chairman of Greenhill & Co International
LLP, having previously been Co-Chief Executive
Officer of Greenhill & Co, Inc. Before founding the
European operations of Greenhill & Co in 1998

he was the Managing Directar of Baring Brothers
International Limited Farmerly a non-executive
Director of the British Land Company PLC and
Inchcape plc.

Image removed

Julia Wilson
Group Finance Director

Group Finance Rirector and member of the
Executive Committee since 2008. A member of the
Investment Committee since 2012, Joined 3i in 2006
as Deputy Finance Directar. Also a non-axecutive
directer of Legal & General Group Ple.

Previous experience

Formerly Group Director of Corporate Finance

at Cable & Wireless plc, having previously held a
variety of tax and finance roles at Cable & Wireless
ple, Hanson plc and Tomkns ple.

Image removed

David Hutchison
Non-executive Director

Non-executive Directar since December 2013
Chief Executive of Social Finance Limited.

Pravious experience

Untd 2009 Head of UK Investment Banking at
Dresdner Kleinwart Limited and a member of its
Global Banking Operating Committee. From 2012
to 2017, a non-executive director of the Start-Up
Loans Company.

Caroline Banszky
Non-executive Director

Non.executive Directar since July 2014

Previous experience

Formerly the Chief Executive of the Law

Debenture Corporation p.l.c from 2002 to 2016
Chief Operating Officer of SVB Holdings PLC, now
Novae Group ple, 3 Lloyd's hsted integrated vehicle,
from 1997 ta 2002, Previously, Finance Director

of N M Rothschild & Sons Limited from 1995 ta

1997, having joined the bank in 1981, She originally
trained at what is now KPMG

Peter Grosch
Non-executive Director

Non-executive Director since November 2015.
Deputy Chairman of SLM Sclutions AG as well
as being chairman of Eurc-Diesel S.A, a 3i
investee company.

Previcus experience

Farmerly CEO and President of Diehl Aerospace
and Defence Systerns, Executive Vice President
DaimlerChrysler Off-Highway and Managing
Director and Board Member of MTU Friedrichhafen
{now Raolls Royce Power Systems).

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018
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Executive Committee

Image remaoved

Image removed

Jonathan Asquith
Deputy Chairman

Deputy Chairman since April 2015 and Senior
Independent Director since July 2014, Non-
executive Director since March 2011, Chairman of
the Risk and Audit Committee of Tilney Group
Limited and a ncn-executive Director of CiCap
Limited, the parent company of Coller Capitai

Previous experience

Formerly Chairman of Citigraup Glabal Markets
Limited, Dexion Capital pic and AXA Investment
Managers. Non-executive director of Ashmore
Group plc Director of Schroders plc from 2002
10 2008, during which time he was Chief Financial
Officer and later Vice Chairman. Previously spent
18 years in investment banking with Morgan
Grenfell and Deutsche Bank.

Image removed

Menno Antal
Managing Partner, Private Equity

A member of the Executive Committee and the
Investmert Committee since 2010. Member of
the Supervisory Board of Peer Hoiding | BV, the
Dutch holding company for the Graup's and EFV's
investment in Action,

Previous experience

Joined 3i in 2000 and Managing Director, Benelux,
since 2003. Prior to joiming 3i, spent 10 years at
Heineken in arange of internatienal managerial
positions. Holds an engineering degree from Deift
University and an MBA from IMD.

Image removed

Kevin Dunn
General Counsel and Company Secretary

Responsible for 2i's legal, compliance, internal
audit, human resources and company secretarial
functions. A member of the Executive Committee
since joining 31 2007,

Previous experience

Prior to joining 3i, was a Senior Managing Director,
running GE's European Leveraged Finance business
after serving as European General Counsel for GE.
Prior to GE, was a partner at the law firms Travers
Smith and Latham & Watkins

Image removed

Stephan Daintith
Non-executive Director

Non-executive Director since QOctober 2014,
Chief Financial Officer and an executive director
of Rolls-Royce Holdings pic.

Pravious axpatisnce

Formerly Finance Directar of Dasly Mail and
General Trust plc {"OMGT"} from 2011 10 2017,
Non-executive director of ZPG Ple. Prior to joining
DMGT he was Chief Operating Officer and Chief
Financial Cfficer of Dow Jones and prior to that
Chief Financial Officer of News Interrauonal

He originally qualified as a chartered accountant
with Price Waterhouse (now part of PwC)

Adan Giddins
Managing Partner, Private Equity

A member of the Executive Committee and the
Investment Committee since 2010, Alse a non-
executive director of Hill & $mith Holdings PLC.

Previous experience

Jeined 310 2005, Prior to joining 31, spent 13 years
in investment banking, latterly as a Managing
Director at Société Générale. Qualfied as a
chartered accountant with KPMG and has a degree
in economics

Phil White
Managing Partner, Infrastructure

A member of the Executive Committee and
the Investment Committee since 2014,

Previcus sxparience

Jomned 3i in 2007, Prior to joining 31, expenience n
infrastructure investment, adwisory and financing,
including roles at Macquarie, WestLB and Barclays.
Holds an MBA from Landon Business School

%
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Governance

Leadership
The role of the Board

How the Board operates

The Board is accountable for the long-term
success of the Company by approving the
Group's strategic objectives and monitaring
performance against those objectives.

The Board meets farmally on a regular basis,
usually in London, and, at each meeting,
considers business performance. There is a
cleatly defined schedule of matters reserved
for the Board.

The Board is assisted by various Principal
Cammittees of the Board, which report to
it regularly and details of their activity in the
year are provided on pages 65 to 82.

Role of the Chairman

Leads the Board in setting its agenda,
appraving strategy, monitoring financial
and operational performance, and
establishing the Group's risk appetite.

Organises the business of the Board,
ensuring its effectiveness, and maintains
an effective system of internal controls.

Ensures that non-executive Directors
receive relevant and accurate information
to facilitate an open and effective
discussion. This includes ensuring that the
non-executive Directors receive regular
reports on shareholders' views

on the Group.

Responsikle for the composition of

the Board and facilitates the effective
contribution of non-executive Directars
and constructive relationships between
Executive and non-executive Directors.

42 3iGroup Annualrepertand accounts 2018

Matters delegated by the Board to the
Chief Executive include implementation

of the Board approved strategy, most
investrent decisions, day-to-day
management and operation of the business,
the appointment and rermuneration of

staff below the Executive Committee and
risk management.

Day-to-day management of the Group is
the responsibility of the Chief Executive.

To assist him in this role, the Chief Executive
has established a number of additional
management committees, including the
Investrent Committee, which are outlined
in the Risk management section of the
Strategic report on page 45

Role of the Chief Executive

* Direct charge of the Group on a day-
to-day basis and s accountable to the
Board for the financial and operational
petformance of the Group.

Chairs the Investment Commiittee ta
review the acquisition, management
and dispasal of investments.

Leads the Executive Management team
to develop and implement the Group's
strategy and manage the risk and the
internal control framewaork.

Reports to the Board on financial

and operational performance, risk
rmanagement and progress in delivering
the strategic abjectives.

Regularly engages with shareholders
and other key stakeholders on the
Group’s activities and progress.

Role of non-executive Directars

Scrutinise the performance of
management in meeting agreed
objectives and monitor the reporting
of performance.

Seek assurance on the integrity of the
financiat information and that financial
controls and systems of risk management
are robust and defensible.

Determine appropriate levels of
remuneration for Executive Directors and
Executive Committee and have a prime
role in appointing Directors and

in succession planning.

Constructively challenge and help
develop proposals on strategy; this
cccurs at meetings of the Board, and in
particular at the annual review meeting to
discuss ongoing strategy, tha most recent
of which took place in December 2017.



Effectiveness

Performance and risk management

What the Board did in FY2018

The Beard met formally seven times during
FY2018.In addition, the Board held a
strategy day in December 2017 A table of
individual Board member attendance at
the formal Board and Committee meetings
is provided below. This shows the numier
of full meetings of the Board and its
Committees attended by each Director

in the year together with {in brackets) the
number of such meetings they were eligible
to attend.

The Board’s agenda is set by the Chairman.
Board members and, as appropriate,
executives from the relevant business areas
are invited to present on key items allowing
the Board the opportunity to debate

and challenge on initiatives directly with
the senior management team along with
the executives.

The principal matters considered by the
Board during the year (in addition to matters
formally reserved to the Board) included:

the Group's strategic plan, refated KPIs
and annual budget;

regular reports from the Chief Executive;

reviews of and updates on the
Group's Private Equity and
Infrastructure businesses;

regular reports from the
Board's Committees;

remuneration and pension matters
including remuneration philosophy
and strategy;

the recommendations of the Valuations
Committee on valuations of investments;

the Annual report and accounts,
Half-yearly report and quarterly
performance updates;

dividend policy and dividends;

reports on regulatory matters including
significant regulation affecting the Group;

review of balance sheet strategy; and

organisational capability and
successicn plans.

Attendance at Board and Committee meetings

Non-executive Directors also attended a number of ather Company meetings to increase their

understanding of the principal risks in the business and the strength and depth of our people.

Training and advice

The Campany has a training policy which
provides a framework within which training
for Directors is planned with the objective
of ensuring Directors understand the duties
and responsibilities of being a director of

a listed company. All Directors are required
ta keep their skills up-to-date and maintain
their familiarity with the Company and its
business continually.

On appeintment, ali non-executive Directors
have discussions with the Chairman

and the Chief Executive following which
appropriate briefings on the responsibilities
of Directors, the Compary’s business and
the Company’s procedures are arranged.
The Company provides opportunities

for non-executive Directars 1o obtain a
thorough understanding of the Company's
business by meeting members of the
senior management team whao in turn
arrange, as required, visits to investrment

or support teams.

The Company has procedures for
Directors to take independent legal or
ather professional advice in relation to the
performance of their duties. In addition,
Directors have access to the advice

and services of the General Counsel

and Company Secretary, who advises

the Board, through the Chairman, on
governance matters.

Audit and

Nominations  Remuneration Valuations

Independent Board Compliance Committee Committee Committes Commitiee
Total meetings held 7 & 3 5 4
Number attended:
5 R Thompson On appointment 7 3(3) a4
S A Borrows Executive Director 7 44
J s Wilson Executive Director i ¢)] 44
JP Asquith Senior Independent Director 7(7) 6(8) 3(3) 5(5)
CJ Banszky Independent A7) 6(8) 3(3) 5(5)
SW Daintith Independent 7 6(8) 2(3) 44
P Grosch Not independent’ W 33} 4(4)
D A M Hutchison Independent 7 3(3) 5(5} 44)
M G Verluyten® Independent 2(2) 1(1) [¢]0)] [0]¢))

1 Mr P Groscn s not considered indeperdent because of his hnks with tne Group's Private Equity business wwcluding s pasimon as charman of Euro-Diesel,
a campany in which the Graup 1s investec Mr P Grasch receves director’s lees andis a sharahalder in Eurg-Phesel

2 Retured on 29 June 2077
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Governance

Effectiveness

Performance and risk management

continued

Performance and evaluation

During the year, the Board conducted its
annual evaluation of its own performance
and that of its committees and individual
Directors The evaluation was externally
facilitated by Lintstock Limited in 2015/16 and
on this occasion the process was conducted
internally by the Chairman with suppaort from
Lintstock Limited. The Chairman hetd one-
tc-one interviews with Directors informed by
the results of a questionnaire which had been
completed by all Beard members and the
Company Secretary. The Chairman reported
the results of the evaluation to the Board.
Overall, the evaluation concluded that the
Board continued to perform well. Some areas
for additional Board focus were identified
including further refinement of the strategic
objectives for the medium term.

Following the review the Board :dentified
areas requiring greater time for Board
discussion and areas for additional Board
reporting. These included updates on
longer-term succession planning acress
the Group and medium-term investment
portfolio development.

In his role as Senior Independent Director,
Jonathan Asquith led a review by the
Directors of the performance of the
Chairman and subsequently reported back
to the Board and provided feedback to
the Chairman.

Risk management and
intemmal control

The Board has overali responsibitity for risk
management and internal control, including
the determination of the nature and extent
of the principal risks it is willing to take to
achieve its strategic objectives and ensuring
that an appropriate culture has been
embedded throughout the organisation.

The Board has put in place an organisational
structure with clearly defined lines of
responsibility and delegation of autharity.
The GRC is a management committee
formed by the Chief Executive. Details of
the risk management framework can be
found in the Risk management section of
the Strategic report on pages 44 to 51.

The overall risk management and internal
control process is regularly reviewed by

the Board and the Audit and Compliance
Committee and complies with the Guidance
on Risk Management, internat Contral and
Related Financial and Business Reporting
issued by the Financial Reporting Couneil.
The Audit and Compliance Committee
performed its annual review of the system's
effectiveness and reported its conclusions
to the Board. The process has been in place
for the year under review and up to the
date of approval of this Annual report and
accounts 2018.

Financial reporting

In the context of the Group's internal control
and risk management systems, there are
specific processes in place in refation to
financial reporting, including:

* comprehensive system of key control and
oversight processes, including regular
reconciliations, line manager reviews and
systems’ access controls;

updates for consideration by the Audit
and Compliance Committee of accounting
developments, including draft and new
accounting standards and legislation;

a separate Valuations Committee which
considers the Group's investment valuation
policies, application and outcome;

approval of the Group's budget by the
Board and a comprehensive system of
financial reporting to the Board, based on
the annual budget with manthly reporting
of actual results, analysis of variances,
scrutiny of key performance indicators
and regutar re-forecasting,

reports from Internal Audit on matters
relevant to the financial reparting process,
including periodic assessments of internal
controls, processes and fraud risk,

independent updates and reports from
the external Auditor on accounting
developments, application of accounting
standards, key accounting judgements
and observations on systemsg and controls;

appointment of experienced and
professional staff, bath by recruitment
and promotion, of the necessary calibre
10 fulfil their allotted responsibilities; and

appropriate Board oversight of
external reporting.

Image removed

s Board camposition and expertise;

-

Baard dynamics;
time management and Board support;

nsk management and internal control;

priorities for change.

The topics covered by the annual Board evaluation included:

the performance of the Board’s Committees;
the Board's strategic and ocperational oversight;

succession planning and human resources management; and

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018




Nominations Committee report

Image removed

Membership during the year

Name Membership status

Simon Thompson Member since April 2015 and
Chairman since June 2015

Jenathan Asquith Member since March 2011

Caroline Banszky Member since July 2014

Stephen Damtith  Member since October 2016

Peter Grosch Member since Novermber 2015

David Hutchison  Member since Novernber 2013

Martne Verluyten Member since January 2012
Retired in June 2017

60 Read more about the
Composition of the Board
Further information on the Nominations

Committee’s tarms of reference can be
found on www.3i.com

Composition of the Board

Dear Shareholder

| am pleased to present the Nominations
Committee report for the year ended

31 March 2018. My report explains the
role of the Committee as well as its work
this year.

The Committee’s pnncipal role is to ensure
that the Board has the necessary skilis and
experience to enable the Group to deliver
its current and future strateg:c objectives.
We regularly review the balance and
composition of the Board, and develop
appropriate succession plans, including
cantingency plans.

All Directors are subject to reappointment
every year. Accordingly, at the AGM to

be held on 2% June 2018, all the Directors
will retire from office. Ail the Directors

are eligible for and seek reappointment.
The Board's recommendation for the
reappointment of Directors is set out in
the 2018 Notice of AGM.

Directors

Directors’ biographical details are set out
on pages 50 and 61

Jonathan Asquith served as Senior
Independent Director (SID”) throughout
the year. The SID supports me and | meet
him regularly. He is also available tc the
Company's shareholders in relation to any
concerns that they may not have been able
to resolve through me, Simon Borrows or
Julia Wilsen, or where you, as shareholder,
consider these channels are inappropriate.

Diversity

Further ta the publication of the Davies
Report on Women on Boards, and Code
Provision B.2 4, the Board strongly supports
the principle of boardroom diversity, of which
gender is one important aspect. The Board’s
aim is to have a diverse Board in terms of
gender, industry experience, skills ang
educational background, and nationality and
makes appointments on merit and against
objective criteria.

We have a formal, rigorous and transparent
process for the appointrment of Directors,
with the objective of identifying the skills
and experience required of new Directors,
and identifying and appraising suitable
candidates. In the case of non-executive
Directors, the appraisal includes an
assessment of whether potential cand dates
have sufficient time available to fulfil their
roles. Specialist recruitment consultants
assist the Committee with this process.
Our recommendations for appaintment
are put to the full Board for approval.

The external search consultancies we engage
are instructed to put forward for all Board
positions a diversity of candidates. This year
we worked with external search consultants
Heidrick and Struggles JCA Group although
we did not make any recommendations to
the Board for appointment. Heidrick and
Struggles JCA Group had no other
connections with 3i during the year.

Simon Thompson
Chairman, Nominations Committee
16 May 2018

Graph removed
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Governance

Accountability

Audit and Compliance Committee report

Image removed

Dear Shareholder

| am pleased to present the Audit and
Compliance Committee report for the
year ended 31 March 2018. My report
explains the Committee's work this year.

We held six meetings this year, four of

which were coordinated with 3i's external
reporting timetable. In addition to the
Committee’s usual focus on internal controls

| regularly meet with the Ernst & Young LLP
audit team as part of my ongoing review of
their effectiveness. As part of my year end
review, | alsc met Ernst & Young LLP's Head
of Audit Quality for UK Financial Services
and their Head of Assurance for UK Financial
Services to discuss their approach to audit
quality and what assurance had been taken
in connection with their audit of 3i.

The rest of the report sets out in detail the

Membership during the year

and the integrity of the Group's financial
reporting, this year we spent time reviewing

Namae Membership status

Caroline Banszky

Member since July 2014 and
Chairman since January 2015

Jonathan Asguith Member since March 2011

Stephen Damntith  Member since October 2016

Martine Verluyten Member since Novemnber 2015

Retired in June 2017

Other regular attendees at the Committee

meetings include the fallowing: Group Chairman;

Chief Executive; Group Finance Director; Group
Genera) Counsel. Group Financial Centreller,

the Head of internal Audit; the Head of
Compliance; and the external Auditor,
Ernst & Young LLP

~Further information on the Audit and
Comgpiiance Committee’s terms of

reference can be found on aur website

www, 3i.com

What the Committee reviewed in FY2018

Financial reporting

Anrnual and half-year reports

Quarterly
performance updates

= Key accounting judgements
and estimates

* Update on the relevant
thematic reviews fram the FRC

* Update on the Group's
proposed implermnentation

of IFR5 15

Reviewing the Annual report
to ensure that it is fair,
balanced and understandable

= Update on result of the re-
tender of the Group's existing
finance outsourcing contract

66 31 Group Annual report and accounts 2018

Internal control and
risk management

* Review of 3j's system of
control and risk management

External and internal
audit reports

Review of the viability
statement and the supporting
stress test scenarios

* Update on cyber security

* Update on HMRC's

Senior Accounting

Officer Certificates

Review of the ICAAP

management’s approach to cyber risk,
developments in tax reporting, preparations  » Governance
far the audit tender, which will take place this
summer, the implementation of IFRS 15 and
regulatory challenges arising from Brexit.

In advance of each Committee meeting,

| met the Group Finance Director, the
Group Financial Controller and the Heads
of Compliance and Internal Audit to discuss
their reports as well as any relevant issues.

| also met privately with the external Auditar.

Committee's activities in the year and s
structured into four parts:

* Report on the year
* Internal audit

* External audit

External audit

* Confirmation of the external
Auditor's independence

Policy and approval far
non-audit fees

The FY2018 Audit plan,
including significant audit
risks (being the valuation of
the unquoted investment
portfolio and the calculaticn
of carried interest) as well
as the area of audit forus
{revenue recognition)

Audit results report, including
the results from testing Key
Audit Matters

¢ Auditor performance

and effectiveness

Upceming audit
tender process

| look forward to engaging with you on the
work of the Committee.

Caroline Banszky
Chairman, Audit and Compliance Committee
16 May 2018

Risk reviews

Valuation reports and

recommending the

investment portfolio
_valuation to the Board

Review of strategy to
address Brexit related
regulatory challenge

Regular reviews of compliance
with regulatory rules

Annual tax update, including
Investment Trust matters and
country by country reporting

Renacrts on approach to
tax policy and strategy

\itigation

Liquidity and going concern
Update ¢n the Group's
Corporate Criminal
Sanctions policy



Governance

All members of the Committee are
independent non-executive Directors.
The Board believes members have the
necessary range of financial, risk, control
and commercial experience required to
provide effective challenge to management.
In particular, the Board is satisfied that
Caroline Banszky has the recent and
relevant financial experience as outlined
in the FRC's Corporate Gavernance Code.
The attendance of members at meetings
is shown in the table on page 43.

The Committee meets privately for part

of its meetings and also has regular private
meetings with the external Auditer, the
Group Finance Directer, the Head of Internal
Audit and the Head of Compliance in the
absence of other management.

Report on the year

In additicn to the areas of significant
accounting judgement and manitoring the
effectiveness of 3i's risk management, the
Cornmittee particularly focused on a number
of topics:

Accounting policies and practices

The Committee discussed a report from
management on the new accounting
standard IFRS 15 (Revenue Recognition),
which is effective for 3i from 1 April 2018.
The Committee discussed the key technical
decisions and interpretations required, and
3i's approach to these, together with the
Group's disclosure on the expected impact
of IFRS 15 in the Financial review and

page 99 of the financial staternents.

Financial reporting regulators

The Committee considered comment
letters and papers from the FRC, including
their Year End Advice Letter to Audit
Committee Chairs and Finance Directors
and their published thematic reviews.

The Committee reviewed a paper prepared
by management which detailed how they
had tzken due account of the matters raised
and the enhancements they proposed to
relevant disclosures in the Annual report
and accounts 2018. In particular, as 3i
presents its results under its non-GAAP
Investment basis as well as preparing

IFRS financial statements, the Committee
specifically reviewed management'’s
assessment of the FRC’s thematic review

on APMs and management'’s consideration
of its recommendations.

Taxation

The Committee received an annual update
from the Head of Tax on the Group's taxation
status together with 2 mare general update
on the status of current and upcoming
legislative and regulatory changes.

This year's reports covered tax transparency
initiatives that have come into force, such

as country by country reporting and the
publication online of 3i's tax approach and
strategy, as required by new UK tax rules for
large businesses.

Going concern and viability

The Directors are required to make a
statement in the Annual report as to 3i's
long-term viability. The Committee provides
advice to the Board on the form and content
of the statement, including the underlying
assumptions. In advance of the year end the
Cormmittee reviewed the Group's proposed
stress test scenarios to support the Viability
Statement. At the year end, the Committee
evaluated a report from management
setting out its view of 3i's long-term viability
and content of the propased Viability
Statement. This report was based on the
Group's five-year strategic plan and covered
farecasts for investments and realisations,
liquidity and leverage, including forecast
outcomes of the stress test of the plan and
forecast capital and liquidity performance
against an assessment of the Group's risk
profile. The three-year period was chosen
as it provided more certainty on the
Group's performance.

Taking into account the assessment of the
Group’s stress testing results and its risk
appetite statement {as disclosed on page
44}, the Committee agreed to recommend
the Viability statement and three-year
viability period to the Board for approval.

Areas of accounting judgement
and control focus

The Committee pays particular attention

to matters it considers to be important

by virtue of their size, complexity, level of
judgement and potential impact on the
financial statements and wider business
modei. Significant areas of focus considered
by the Committee are detailed in the table
on the following page, alongside the actions
taken by the Committee (with appropriate
challenge from the external Auditor) to
address them.
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Area of significant attention

Valuation of the proprietary capital investment portfolio

The most material area of judgement in the financial statements,
and noted as a significant risk and Key Audit Matter by the external
Audrtor, relates to the valuation of the unqucted Proprietary Capital
investment portfolio, which at 31 March 2018 was £5,806 millian,

or B3% of net assets, under the Investment basis.

In recognition of the importance of this area, the Board has 2
Valuations Cammittee to review the valuations policy, process and
application to individual investments. This Committee provides
quarterly oral reports to the Audit and Compliance Committee
and the Board.

Carried interest payable and receivable

The valuation of the proprietary capital portfolio is a primary input
into the carried interest payable and receivable balances, which are
determined by reference to the valuation at 31 March 2018.

We are through the hurdle to recognise carried interest receivable
from EFV on an accounting basis. Carried interest receivable will be
recognised in accordance with IFRS 15 from 1 April 2018

We are also through the hurdte to pay carried interest to investment
teams on 3i's proprietary capital invested in the 2010-2012 vintage.

| What the Committee reviewed and concluded

On behalf of the Board, the Committee received guarterly reports
from the Chairman of the Valuations Committee and the external
Auditor, with particular facus on the assumptions supparting the
unquoted asset investments, any valuation uncertainties and the
proposed disclosure in the financial statements. Mermbers of the
Committee alsc attend the Valuations Committee meetings

The detail on the key valuation considerations and the review
and challenge undertaken in the year is included in the Valuations
Committee report on pages /0to 72.

Internal Audit reviews the carried interest balances and carry plan
distributions made to plan participants before the payments are
made. Summaries of the work done are induded in updates 1o
the Committee.

The Committee reviewed the carried interest payable and
receivable as part of the overall summary prepared by management
to support the Annual report and accounts 2018,

In advance of the year end, the Cammittee reviewed a paper from
management on the Group's proposed accounting policy for
carried interest under IFRS 15, and the carried interest receivable
from EFV in particular, and the proposed disclosure in the Annual
report and accounts 2018.

Fair, balanced and understandable and the presentation of 3i's results

Under the UK Carporate Governance Code the Board should
establish arrangements to ensure the Annual report presents a fair,
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position
and prospects.

The Group prepares the non-GAAP Investment basis financial
statements to ensure that its results remain understandable.

3i Group Annual repart and accounts 2018

The Committee reviewed the Half-yearly and Annual financial
statements as well as the Quarterly Performance Updates with
management, focusing on the integrity and clarity of disclosure
and enakling the Board to provide the fair, balanced and
understandabie confirmation to shareholders in the Annual report
and accounts 2018

A report summarising the considerations for the Annual report and
accounts 2018 was reviewed by the Cammittee in advance of the
year end and a summary of the detailed procedures undertaken
was prepared alongside the Annual report and accounts 2018,

The external Auditar also confirmed that the inclusion of the
Investment basis remained consistent with the prior year.



Internal audit

The Committee continued to monitor

the scope, activity, and resources of the
Group's internal audit function, including
approving the internal audit plan and
whether the operating model remained
effective. The Committee monitors Internal
Audit activity quarterly, cavering change
management and other areas of identified
higher risk and reviewed Internal Audit’s
self-assessment of quality in the year.

The Committee concluded that the Internal
Audit function remained appropriate.

Risk and internal control reviews

The Committee is responsible on behalf of
the Board far overseeing the effectiveness
of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems. It monitors the actwities of
the Group Risk Committee (“GRC"), the risk
management processes in place and Internal
Audit's assessment of the effectiveness

of controls, the use of the Group's
whistleblewing facility and compliance

with the UK Bribery Act

As highlighted on page 44 in the Risk
management section, a report summarising
each quarterly GRC meeting, along with
the risk report considered, is provided ta
the Committee for review and discussion.
In addition, the Head of Internal Audit
prepares a report on internal controls

for presentation to the Committee.

The review docurmernits the companents
of the internal control framewaork and
highlights the key developments in the
year. A commentary on the operation of
the internal control framework aver the
year is also independently prepared by
Internal Audit. Additional information can
be found on page &4 of the Corporate
Governance report.

External audit

The Committee has responsibility far
making recommendations to the Board on
the reappointment of the external Auditor,
deterrmining their independence from the
Group and its management and agreeing
the scope and fee for the audit.

Auditor independence

The Group has a policy far setting out what
non-audit services can be purchased from
the firm appointed as external Auditor.

The aim of the policy is to support and
safeguard the objectivity and independence
ot the external Auditor and to comply with
the FRC's Ethical Standards for auditors.

It also ensures that where fees for approved
non-audit services are greater than a pre-
determined limit, they are subject to the
Committee Chairman's prior approval.

The Policy permits certain non-audit services
tc be procured, following approval, when
the Committee cantinues to see benefits for
the Group in engaging Ernst & Young LLP.
Examples of this include work:

that ts closely related to the external audit;

where a detailed understanding of the
Group is required; and

where Ernst & Young LLP is able to provide
a higher quality and/or better value service
than other potential providers.

The key principle of our policy is that
permission to engage the external Auditor
will always be refused when a threat

to independence and/cr objectivity is
perceived. The Committee Chairman is
asked to approve all assignments to be
allocated to Emst & Young LLP over a
defined limit, other than those related to
due diligence undertaken as part

of the Group's investment process.
Appointments in relation to the investment
process are independent of the audit

team and are reviewed separately by the
Investment Committee. Ernst & Young

LLP inform the Group of all due diligence
engagements before they accept them and
all material due diligence commitments are
reported to the Committee Chairman.

Ernst & Young LLP has reviewed its own
independence in line with these criteria

and its own ethical guideline standards.
This includes the review of due diligence
processes undertaken within the Group's
investment activities. Ernst & Young LLP has
confirmed to the Committee that following
its review it is satisfied that it has actedin
accordance with relevant regulatory and
orofessional requirements.

Audit and non-audit fees

The tatal audit fee for the year was £1.9 million
(2017 £1.2 million). Non-audit fees paid

to the external Auditor were £0.4 million

2017 £1.3 million). The Committee concluded
that all of these fees feil within its criteria for
engaging Ernst & Young LLP and does not
believe they pose a threat to the Auditor's
independence or objectivity.

Assessing external
audit effectiveness

The Cammittee reviews the effectrveness

of Ernst & Young LLP through the use of
guestionnaires completed by management,
by considering the extent of their contribution
at its meetings thraughout the course of the
year, and in one-to-one meetings.

The FY2018 evaluation also reviewed the
quality of the audit process, the use of
Ernst & Young LLP's valuation practice to
support the audit of the portfalio valuations,
the technical knowledge of the team and
staff turnover within the Ernst & Young LLP
audit team. The Committee concluded
that the audit was effective and that there
should be a resolution to shareholders to
recommend the reappointment of

Ernst & Young LLP at the 2018 AGM.

Audit tender

Ernst & Young LLP (including its predecessor
firms) has been the Group's external

Auditar since November 1973, In line with
the Competition and Markets Authority
Statutory Audit Services Order, the Group
must appoint a new Auditor for its year
ending 31 March 2021. As noted in the
FY2017 report, the Committee delayed the
rotation of the current auditor to no later
than 2020 due to the scale of the current
engagements across the Group and its
portfolic companies with the firms that may
participate in any tender, as well as

the complexities around how the rules on
non-audit services would apply, for example,
to private equity investments.

n May 2018, the Committee decided to put
the Group's audit out to tender. Based cn its
current timetable, it intends to recommend
an alternative audit firm by September

2018. Due to the time a new auditor will take
to become independent, the Committee
currently expects that Ernst & Young LLP will
be retained as auditor until at least the end
of FY2019 but that 2 new auditor witl be in
place ahead of the deadline of 1 April 2020.

3i is in compliance with the requirermnents

of The Statutory Audit Services for Large
Companies Market Investigation (Mandatory
Use of Competitive Tender Processes and
Audit Committee Responsibilities) Order
2014, in the year ended 31 March 2018.
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Membership during the year

Name Membership status

David Hutchisen  Chairman and Member since
December 2013

Simon Thompson Member since June 2015

Stephen Dantith  Member since October 2016

Peter Grosch Member since January 2016

Martine Verluyten Member since December 2013
Retired n June 2017

Simon Berrows  Member since May 2012

Jufia Wiison Member since December 2008

Other regular attendees at the Carmmittee
meetings iInclude the following: Audit Committee
Chairman; Deputy Chairman; Group Financial
Controller; Group General Counsel; the Co-Heads
of Private Equity, the external Auditor, Ernst &
Young LLP

Further information on the Valuations
Committea’s terms of reference can be
faund on our website at www.3i.com

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018

Dear Shareholder

t am pleased to present the Valuations
Committee report for the year ended
31 March 2018. My report explains the
role of the Committee as well as the
work we reviewed this year.

The Valuations Committee plays an
Important role in providing the Board with
assurance that the valuation process is robust
and independently challenged. We review
and chailenge the assumptions behind
rmanagement’s proposed asset valuations
and report to the Audit and Compliance
Commiittee and the Board.

During the year, we met four times as part

of the Group's external reporting timetatle.
Qur principal focus continued to be the
Group's Private Equity investments as a high
level of judgement is required to value the
unquoted portfolio This accounts for 95%

of 3i's proprietary capital invested in Private
Equity. The valuation of the Group's principal
Infrastructure investment, its quoted holding
in 3i Infrastructure plc, requires limited
oversight given that it is a listed company.
However, we devoted more time ta
Infrastructure in the second halif of the year
following the Group's first US Infrastructure
investment, Smarte Carte and the Group's
investments in the 3i Managed Infrastructure
Acquisitions LP and the 3i Eurcpean
Operational Projects Fund.

At each meeting we received a detailed
report from the Group Finance Directar
recommending the proposed valuation of
the Group's investrnent portfolio. This report
highlights the main drivers of value
movement analysad between performance,
multiple movements and other factors.

At each meeting we also reviewed selected
assets for detailed discussion; examples of
such assets covered during the year included
Action, ATESTEC, Audley Travel, Christ,
Euro-Diesel, Ponroy Santé, Scandlines,
Schlermmer and Smarte Carte.

| met the Group Finance Direclor and the
Group Finandial Controller in advance of
each meeting to discuss the key valuation
assumptions. | also met the external
Audrtor privately to discuss the results of
their quarterly reviews. In February 2018,
the external Auditor and | discussed their
approach to the year-end audit and the
assets that their specialist valuations team
intended to select for their in-depth review.

In advance of the full-year and half-
year reporting, management hold
individual portfolio company reviews
with the respective investment teams.
Nen-executive Directors, including
members of the Committee, attended
a significant praportion of the meetings
held in September 2017 and March 2018
and were represented at the reviews of
the five largest Private Equity portfolio
company investments.

The rest of this report sets out in more
detail what the Cammittee did in the year.

D A M Hutchison
Chairman, Valuations Committee
16 May 2018



The Committee focused on the following significant issues in the FY2018:

Area of judgement
Earnings and multiple assumptions

The majority (68%) of the portfolic is valued using a multiple of
earnings This requires judgement as the earnings of the portfolio
company may be adjusted so that they are considered “maintainable™.
We also apply a fiquidity discount to the enterprise value using factors
such as our alignment with management and other shareholders and
our investment rights in the company.

There is also a significant degree of judgement in selecting the set

of comparable quoted companies tc determine the appropriate
multipte to generate an enterprise value. Multiples are selected by
reference to the market valuation of quoted comparable companies,
M&A transactions and input in certain cases from corparate finance
advisers. We also take inte account growth profile, geographic
location, business mix, degree of diversification and leverage/
refinancing risk. The multiple fmplied by the quoted comparables may
be adjusted if, in certain cases, the longer-term view (cycle or exit plan}
supports the use of a different multiple. This has been a particularly
important exercise in fight of the movement in the quoted equity
markets over the period under review.

Private Equity assets are typically valued using a multiple of earnings.
However, alternative valuation methodclogies, such as Discounted
Cash Flow {"DCF") valuations, may be considered as an alternative
benchmark for potential values as a cross check relative to the
earnings based value.

Assets valued using a DCF basis

For assets valued using DCF technigues the key valuation judgements
relate to longer-term assumptions that drive the underlying business
plan and cash flows and the decisions

on the appropriate discount rates.

Imminent sale assets

At any point in time it is tikely that a number of potential exit
processes from the portfolio are underway. Judgement is applied

by management as to the likely eventual exit proceeds and certainty
of cempletion. This means that in some cases an asset may nat be
moved to an imminent sales basis until very shartly befare completion;
in other cases the switch may occur on signing. However, as a general
rule an asset moves to an imminent sale basis only when a process

15 materially complete and the remaining risks are estimated to

be small, given the amount of completion risk around unquoted
equity transactions.

What the Committee did

Earnings data is received manthly from Private Equity portfolio
companies and monitored closely by management. Actual earnings may
then be adjusted in management's proposed valuations, for example,

to reflect a full year's trading of an acquired business, removing profit
from discontinued activities, any forecast uncertainty or to exclude
exceptional transaction costs. Material adjustments are highlighted to
the Committee in the quarterly report for review and approval.

Management continued to adjust a significant proportion of multiples
used where the longer-term view (of the exit or multiple) supports the
use of a different, typically fower, multiple. Notable changes in multiptes
in a quarter are presented to the Committee and adjustments are
reviewed by the Committee at each meeting.

The Committee reviewed the work done by management on
the potential use of a DCF valuation for Action and agreed with
management's assessment that, while praviding an informative
reference point, the earnings based approach remained the
most approgriate.

Material assumptions in the DCF valuations and changes to these
assumptions are reviewed by the Committee. This may include third-
party support if available. Sensitwity to assumptions is also noted.

Discount rates are selected by management with reference to market
transactions, weighted average cost of capital calculations and other
public data. Any material changes are reviewed by the Committee and
external advice is sought from time to time.

The Committee reviewed the particular valuation methodology
and assumptions behind the valuation of the Group's investment in
Smarte Carte.

Assets that are within active sales processes are reviewed by the
Committee inchuding details such as the timefine to potential
completicn, the number and make-up of bidders for investrents,
execution and due diligence risks and regulatory or competition
clearance issues. Management propose a treatment for each asset
in a sales process which the Committee reviews.

Although not an area of valuation judgement, the Committee actively
reviews the results of the back-testing that management prepares on all
assets disposed in each gquarter to reconcile the price achieved with the
carrying value at the last balance sheet date. Typically, differences are
due to increased earnings, the unwind of the liquidity discount and the
circumstances of the buyer or the competitiveness of the sales process.
This review acts as an important hindsight test of the fair value applied
to assets in the quarters up to disposal.

The Committee focused on the disposal of ATESTEC and upcoming
sala of Scandiinas, which were at sighificant uplitts to the opening
valuation and benefited in each case from the competitiveness of the
auction process.

3t Group Annual report and accounts 2018
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As part of its challenge and review process,
the Committee:

» considered the management information
provided to support the Committee’s
review of the valuations, including
management’s respenses to any
challenges raised by the Committee
members or the external Auditor;

* spught assurance from the external
Auditor as to whether and how they had
considered each of these areas;

reviewed the consistency of the views of
managermnent and the external Auditor;
and

reviewed any differential between
carrying values and those implied by
the floating multiple of comparable
quoted companies.

The Committes was satisfied that the
application of the policy and process was

appropriate during the period under review,
and recommended the portfolio valuation to

the Audit and Compliance Committee and
the Board at each quarter end for approval
by the Board.

In addition, the Committee is responsible for

keeping the Group's valuation policy under
review and recommending any changes

to the policy to the Audit and Comphance
Committee and the Board. The policy is
reviewed at least annually, with the last
update in January 2018.

Mare information on our valuation
methodclogy, including definitions and
raticnale, is included in the Portfolio

valuation - an explanation section on pages

150 and 151,

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018

External audit

As part of its external audit, Ernst & Young
LLP review the proposed investment
portfolio valuation to determine that the
valuation policy is being complied with
and that thare is consistent application and
support for the underlying assumptions.
As part of their year-end audit, and to
support their opinion on the Financial
statements as a whole, Emst & Young LLP's
specialist valuations team review a selection
of investments to provide assurance

on their overall audit conclusion on the
apprapriateness of 3i's portfolio valuation.

Portfolio trends

At least annually the Committee Chairman
and management conduct a review of the
valuation outcomes in the portfolio over
the preceding three years. The Committee
Chairman and Group Finance Director
reported to the Board in May 2018 on the
key observations.



Directors'
remuneration report

Image removed

Dear Shareholder

As Remunaeration Committee Chairman,
| am pleased to introduce the Directors’
remuneration report for the financial
year 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018
{“the year”) and to provide some details
of the background against which the
Committee’s decisions have been taken
in the year. References to “FY2019"
relate to the financial year 1 April 2018
to 31 March 2019.

At our 2017 Annual General Meeting,

our Remuneration policy was approved.
That policy has served us well and we are
not proposing any changes to it at this time,
other than minor clarification of the Malus
and Clawback palicy, which now reads as
set out on page 81.

The policy is available on
our website www.3i.com

Performance in the year

| am pleased to report that this has been
another successful year with a total return
on equity of 24%. The results and the
Committee’s decisions concerning the
Executive Directors’ remuneration are
underpinned by a balanced scorecard of
both financial and strategic measures agreed
by the Committee. While the facts driving
our assessment of performance against that
balanced scorecard are available elsewhere
in this Annyal report, we have summarised
them here for ease of reference.

Portfolio return

The Private Equity portfolic generated

an excellent gross investment return of
£1,438 millicn or 30% of opening portfolio
value, supported by good growth in
unrealised profits in the portfolio and

a number of realisations at significant
uplifts. Our investment in 3iN produced an
outstanding performance during the year.
3iN generated a total return of 29%, assisted
by high prices achieved in the sales of Elenia
and AWG.

Investment

Investment levels within our Private Equity
business dermnonstrated that the team is
working very effectively with £502 million
invested in four new investments, including
£172 million and £132 millicn invested in
Hans Anders and Formel D respectively,
and £80 million in three add-on investments
including Vascotube (Cirtec) and Aragan
{Panroy Santé). Our new Narth American
Infrastructure business completed its

first investment in Smarte Carte and

the European Infrastructure business
advised 3iN on £525 million of investment
and commitments.

Operating profit

Our continued disciplined approach to

cost management and the important
developments in the Infrastructure business
resulted in an operating cash profit of

£11 millian, notwithstanding the significant
reduction in fee income resulting from the
sale of the Debt Management business

in FY2017.

Strategy and people

We continue to focus our resources on our
core markets. In the year, we reviewed the
coverage of each of our businesses, which
led to the decision to close our Madrid office
following the disposal of Mémora. With the
sale of our Debt Management business, our
fund management focus has switched to the
devetooment of the Infrastructure business,
with two new European funds closed

during FY2018, and our North American
Infrastructure business continues to grow.

Conclusion

In light of the strong performance across the
Group the Remuneration Committee has set
annual bonuses for each Executive Director
at 92.5% of maximum. Furthermore, the

tast three years have delivered exceptional
shareholder returns resulting in the
rnaximum hurdle an the LTI being materially
exceeded as detailed later in this report.
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FY2019 implementation

The Executive Directors will be awarded

a 3% salary increase effective 1 July 2018,

in line with Group-wide salary increases.
There are ng proposed changes to the rest
of the remuneration package. The Board and
the Remuneration Committee have reviewed
the level and structure of the non-executive
Director and Company Chairman fees
respectively. The non-executive Directors
fees were last set in 2014 as an annual cash
fee {of £50k) plus a fixed number (3,000} of
3i shares. Since then, the 3i share price has
grown from 475p to 859p (29 March 2018),
increasing the value of the share component
of non-executive Director fees from c £14k
to c.£27k. The Board has decided that, with
effect from FY2019, non-executive Director
share awards will be reduced to the share
equivalent of £15k, effectively rebasing this
component of annual remuneration to its
2014 level. The Committee also reviewed
the Company Chairman'’s fees, and decided
to change the proportions paid in cash and
shares to align with the new structure for
non-executive Director pay. Accordingly,
fram 2019 the Chairman will be paid £240k

in cash and £70k in shares (2018: £280k and
£30k respectively).

To further emphasise shareholder alignment
at the Board level, it has also been agreed
that for FY2019 the non-executive Directors
and the Chairman will be subject to a
shareholding target requiring them to

build up over time and thereafter maintain

a shareholding in the Company’s shares
equivalent to at least 1x their respective
annual base fees (cash and shares).

3l Group Annus! report and accounts 2018

Changes in the year

The Committee continues to review the level
of disclosure 1t makes thraugh the annual
perfarmance metrics and their impact on
remuneration. The FY2018 scorecard, which
the Committee has used as 2 prompt and
guide to judgement of performance, has
been further improved with more than half
of the scorecard now heing directly linked
to quantitative measures {Portfolio returns
and Operating performance). As shown on
page 74, these metrics have been set with
threshold and maximum levels.

Looking back

Looking back aver the tast Syears, itis
striking that the Executive Directors have
performed sufficiently well in each of them
to merit annual bonus awards in the 85-

25% range, while their trailing three year
performance since 2015 has been sufficiently
strong to ensure LTIP payouts in the 90-100%
range. It is natural o ask, with the benefit of
hindsight, whether the targets set for them
were sufficiently ambitious.

The Executive Directors’ remiungration is
significantly weighted towards the variable
camponents of annual bonus and LTIP, and
vests over a number of years. As detailed
elsewhere in this report, variable awards
are judged in relation to a range of KPls
including absolute and relative multi-year
TSRs, portfolio returns and cash discipline.
All of the LTIP and 80% of the annual bonus
are delivered in the form of shares, ensuring
strong alignment with shareholders.

All awards are capped on the upside, so that
in the years in which performance targets
are exceeded there is no further uplift

in remuneraticn.

The Executive Directors have led the
transformation of the Group since its
restructuring plan was put in place in 2012.
FY2018 marks the fourth year in succession
in which Group Total Returns have exceeded
20%, registering a compound growth of 22%
over the last § years, This growth has been
mirrared in a compound TSR far investors

in the Group of some 27% over the same
period. As a result of the performance of the
business cver the last five years, the growth
in returns to shareholders has far exceeded
the increase in rewards to the executive
directors, whose maximurmn fixed plus
variable packages at grant have risen by 3%
per annum.

20% annual compound growth in value is

a challenging target for a company in the
FTSE 100 by any standards, not least in a low
inflation and low interest rate environment.
The Committee is of the view that the fact
that it has been regularly exceeded at 3i
over racent years reflects the strength of the
management team’s performance during
the period, rather than any weakness in the
targets set.

The Committee remains committed to
maintaining a remuneration framework which
strictly rewards progress in meeting the
Group's strategic objectives and alignment
with sharehclders. We will also contirue to
monitor and comply with relevant guidelines
and regulatory changes.

Jonathan Asquith
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
16 May 2018




The Annual report of remuneration {(Implementation report)

During FY2018, we continued to operate under the remuneration policy approved at the 2017 AGM, which can be found on our website
at www.3i.com.

Director remuneration for the year

Single total figure of remuneration for each Directar

FY2018 Fy2017
Salary/ Annual Salary/ ) Annual

£000 fees Benefits Pansion benus LTIP Total fees Benefits  Pension bonus LTIP Total
S ABorrows 615 15 6 2290 3 6,847 597 14 16 2,284 4433 7544
J S Wilson 447 14 47 1041 1,778 3,329 434 17 a4 101 2,106 3,614
S Thompson 310 - - - - 310 295 - - - - 295
JP Asquith 139 - - - - 139 3 - - - - 131
C J Banszky 107 - - - - 107 108 - - - - 108
SW Daintith 93 - - - - 95 42 - - - - 42
P Grosch 175 - - - - 175 250 - - - - 250
[ A M Hutchison 107 - - - - 107 99 - - - - 99
M G Verluyten 23 - - - - 23 87 - - - - 87

Benefits include a car allowance, provision of health insurance and, for Mrs Wilson, the value of the Share Incentive Plan matching share awards.

Mr Borrows and Mrs Wilson received salary supplements in fieu of pension contributions of £16k and £47k respectively. These suppiements
were in ling with pension contributions for the Group's employees generally.

Annual bonus awards made in respect of the year are delivered as 60% payable in 3i Group plc shares deferred for four years, and the
remaining 40% being half as a cash payment immediately and half as 3i Group plc shares which are subject to a six-month retention period.
All annual bonus awards are subject to the malus/clawback policy. Those shares deferred for four years are released in four equal annua!
instalments over the four years commencing June 2019 and all share awards carry the right to receive dividends and other distributions.

In the case of Ms Banszky, the surn shown for FY2017 includes an amount of £69k {including VAT} paid to her then principal employer,

the Law Debenture Corporation p.l.c., which released her to serve as a non-executive Director.

In the case of Mr P Grosch, the sum shown includes €100k of fees paid to him by Euro-Diesel (a 3i portfolio company) for his role as Executive
Chairman (2017: €200k).

In addition to the table above, dividends or dividend equivalents on unvested deferred share awards were paid during the year (Mr Borrows:
£133k, Mrs Wilson: £56k).

The values shewn in the LTI column represent the perfarmance shares vesting from the 2015 LTIP, together with the value of accrued
dividends on those shares. The shares have been valued using the 29 March 2018 closing share price (859 pence). Further detail s provided
on page 77.

The fees shown for the non-executive Directors include fees used to purchase shares in the Company. Non-executive Directors receive
reimbursement for their reasonable expenses for attending Board meetings. The Group meets the associated tax cost

In addition to the fees shown abave, Mr Borrows retained directors’ fees of £21k from The British Land Company PLC, and Mrs Wilson
retained directors’ fees of £115k from Legat and General Group plc.
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FY2018 performance

The Committee has continued to review the evel of disclosure it makes through the annual performance metrics and has increased
the proporticon that is directly linked to quantitative measures this year (from 50% to 60%).

Formulaic performance measures (60% of total)

Area of strategic focus Weighting Metnc Threshold Maximum  Performance Payout

Portfolio returns 45% Private Equity Gross investment return 10% 20% 30% 100%
(% of opening portfalic value)

Portfclio returrs 5% 3iN total return 8% 0% 29% 100%

Operating performance 10% Manage operating expenses £133m £128m £121m 100%

Qualitative performance measures (40% of total)

Area of strategic focus  Weighting Metric Target/Expectation Performance  Comments
lnvestment 30% New capital invested in E €800m  €825m Another year of increased investment levels in Private
Management Private Equity Equity, while maintaining a disciplined and selective
approach to new investments.
New 3iN capital E £250m—  £525m A strong year of nvestment activity, well above
committed in Core/PPP £325m expectation, with 4 investments made or committed
by 3iN.

Investment benefited from a targeted approach around our key sectors and themaes, with our focus on targets that were not being sold in
more broadly-based processes resulting in a good hit rate. There was also a significant increase in strategic acquisitions and bolt-ans for
existing partfolio companies in both PE and Infrastructure.

Strategy 10% Achievement of strategy and people targets Goed progress on refocusing the Group’s fund
and people is measured against a balanced scorecard of management strategy following the sale of the Debt
objectives set by the Remuneration Committee Management in FY2017, including the further

development of the North American Infrastructure team
and the successful close of twe new European
Infrastructure funds

Designing and obtaining regulatory approval far a new
corporate structure in Europe to manage potential
regulatory risks posed by Brexit.

Closure of the Madrid office and continued consolidation
of the Infrastructure and Private Equity teams, including
through key hires, internal development and promations.

Consistent shareholder support for the Group's
performance and strategy and a further broadening
of the shareholder base.

Development, retentian and succession plans for the
Group's key talent and leadership team progressing
according to plan.

1 The threshold and maximum return targets are setin line with 3iN’s public return cbjectives

T = Target E = Expectatian

Congistent with last year, the Board did not set a threshold to maximum range for all metrics and set expectations rather than targets for some
metrics. This is because the timing of investments and realisations is highly sensitive to market conditions, and a more prescriptive approach
would run the risk of creating perverse incentives for executives. For example, setting a target level of realisations may result in the earlier sale
of agsets than would otherwise be appropriate, and setting a target level of investments may result in investing at inflated prices. In relation to
Operating performance, the continued tight focus on managing operating costs is emphasised by specifying a narrow range of acceptable
outcomes rather than a single numerical target. Operating costs as a percentage of assets under managemaent compares favourably with
cther investment groups.

Chief Executive and Group Finance Director annual bonus outcomes

In light of the achievements detailed above, and the exceptional performance of the Group in the year, the Committee awarded Mr Borrows
abonus in respect of FY2018 of £2,290,411 (being 92.5% of his maximum bonus opportunity), and awarded Mrs Wilson a bonus in respect

of F¥2018 of £1,041,095 (being 92 5% of her maximum bonus opportunity). In each case, 20% of the award will be paid in cash immediately,
20% will be delivered as shares with a retention period of six months and the remaining 60% will be deferred into the Company's shares
vesting in equal instalments over four years. Annual bonus awards are subject to the malus/ciawback policy.
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Share awards vesting in 2018 subject to performance conditions

2015 Long-term incentive award

The long-term incentive awards granted in June 2015 o Mr Borrows and Mrs Wilson were subject to performance conditions based on
absolute and relative Total Shareholder Return over the three financial years to 31 March 2018. The table below shows the achieverent against
these conditions and the resulting proportion of the awards which will vest in June 2018.

Weighting Threshold Maximum Actual
Total Shareholder Return Measure %  Performance % vesting  Performance % vesting Performance % vesting
Absolute Total Shareholder Return 50% 10% pa 20% 18% p.a. 100% 29.6% 100%
Relative Total Shareholder Return Upper Above Upper
(as measured against the FTSE 350 Index) 50% Median 25% quartile 100% Quartile 100%

The table below shows the grants made to each Executive Director on 25 June 2015 at a share price of 541.1 pence and the resulting number
of shares that will vest due to the achievernent against the performance targets as set out above. The value of the shares vesting has been
included in the single figure table using the 31 March 2018 closing share price of 859 pence.

Number of
shares awarded Number  Value of share
Face value #1p of shares vesting at 85%p
Basis of award at grant at grant per share % vesting vesting per share
S A Borrows Face value award of 4 times base salary of £567k £2,266k 418,768 100% 418,768 £3,597k
15 Wilson Face value award of 2.5 times base salary of £412k £1,030k 196,349 100% 190,349 £1,635k

The proporticn of the award vesting will be released 50% in June 2018, 25% in June 2019 and 25% in June 2020 together with the value of
dividends that would have been receved during the penaod from grant to the release date.

Change in the remuneration of the Chief Executive compared to other employees

The table below shows the percentage change in remuneration awarded 1o the Chief Executive and employees as a whole, between the year
to 31 March 2017 and the year to 31 March 2018,

Salary Benefits Bonus
Chief Executive 3% 0% 0%
All other employees 6% 0% 2%

Details of share awards granted in the year
Lnep

Performance share awards were granted to the two Executive Directors during the year as shown in the tatle below.

Description of award A performance share-based award, which releases shares, subject to satisfying the perfarmance conditions,
50% on the third anniversary of grant and 25% on the fourth and fifth anniversaries.
Face value Chief Executive — 400% of salary, being 287,800 shares.

Group Finance Director — 250% of salary, being 130,818 shares.

The share price used to make the award was the average mid-market closing price over the five warking days
starting with the day of the announcement of the 2017 annuai results (835.3p).

Performance pericd 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020.

Performance targets 50% of the award is based on absclute TSR measured over the performance period, and vests:
* 0% vesting below 10% pa TSR,
s 20% vesting at 10% pa TSR;
* Straight-line vesting between 10% and 18% pa TSR; and
* 100% vesting at 18% pa T5R.
50% of the award is based on relative TSR measured against the FTSE 350 Index over the performance period, and vests:
* 0% vesting for below median performance against the index;
* 25% vesting for median performance against the index,
* 100% vesting for upper quartile performance against the index; and
* Straight line veating between medion snd uppe Yuar tile peifuinarnce,

Rermuneration The Committee can reduce any award which would otherwise vest if gross debt or gearing targets are missed.
Committee discretion
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Deferred bonuses awarded in FY2018

The two Executive Directors are considered to be AIFMD (dentified Staff and, as such, 0% of their annuzi bonuses will be delivered in
3i Group plc shares deferred for four years {and which vest one quarter per annum over those four years). The remaining 40% wili

be delivered half as a cash bonus and half in 3i Group plc shares which are subject to a six-month retention period. The following awards
were made on 10 June 2017 in respect of FY2017 performance:

20% of F¥2017 delivered as shares

60% of FY2017 bonus deferred for four years subject to a six-month retention period

Number of sharas Number of shares

awarded at awarded at
Face value at grant 835.2p per share Vesting Face value at grant 835.3p per share Released
S A Borrows £1,370,280 164,046 Four equal £456,760 54,682 At the expiry
J S Wilson £606,462 72,604 instalments £202,154 24,201 of the six-manth
annually from retention period

1 June 2018

These face values were reported in the FY2017 single figure of remuneration for each Director. The share price used to calculate face value
was the average of the mid-market ciosing prices over the five working days starting with the date of the announcement of the Company's
results for the year ended 31 March 2017 (18 May 2017 to 24 May 2017), which was 835.3 pence. These awards are not subject to further
perfarmance conditions.

Share Incentive Plan

During the year, Mrs Wilson participated in the HMRC approved Share Incentive Plan which allowed employees to invest up to £150 per
month from pre-tax salary in ordinary shares ("partnership shares”). For each partnership share, the Company grants two free ardinary shares
{"matching shares"} which are normally forfeited it emplayment ceases within three years of grant. Dividends are reinvested in further ordinary
shares (“dividend shares™).

During the year, Mrs Wilson purchased 198 partnership shares, and received 396 matching shares and 464 dividend shares at prices ranging
between £7995 and £9.535 per share, with an average price of £9.08§9.

Hedging of share awards

As a matter of pelicy the Group ensures that it hoids the maximum potential number of shares granted under the LTIP, Deferred Share
Plan and Share Incentive Plan from the date of grant. Shares are purchased in the market as and when required to ensure that coverage
is maintained.

Pension arrangements

Mr Borrows and Mrs Wilson receive pension benefits on the same basis as other employees of the Company. During the year, they received
salary supplements in lieu of pension of £16k and £47k respectively.

Payments to past Directors

Mr Queen, who resigned as Chief Executive on 16 May 2012, retained interests in arrangements relating to his previous roles as Managing
Partner, Infrastructure and Managing Partner, Growth Capital. During the year, he received payments under those arrangements tatalling £5k
together with a return of a capital commitment of €9k [t is anticipated that he will receive further payrments of £101k from these arrangements

Payments for loss of office

No payments to Directors for loss of office have been made in the year.

Statement of Directors’ shareholding and share interests

The Company’s share ownership and retention policy requires Executive Directors to build up over time and thereafter maintain

a shareholding in the Company’s shares equivalent to at least 3.0 times gross salary in the case of the Chief Executive and 2.0 times
gross salary for the Group Finance Director. [n addition, shareholding targets have been intraduced for other members of the Executive
Committee at 1.5 times their gross salaries and for partners in the Group's businesses at 1.0 times their gross salaries.

Details of Directors’ interests (including interest of their connected persons} in the Company's shares as at 31 March 2018 are shown
in the table opposite. The clasing share price on 29 March 2018 was £8.59.
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LCurrent

Owned Deferred Subjectto  Shareholding  shareholding

outright shares performance  requirement (% salary)

S A Borrows? 12,933,394 1,354,132 739,508 300% 17947%
J § Wilson? 645,791 606,773 336,140 200% 1,232%
Shares owned outright

S Thompscn?® 48,558
J P Asquith? 446,001
C Banszky® 15,995
S Daintith? 4,241
P Grosch? 7,249
D Hutchison? 62,966

The deferred shares column ncludes matehing shares under the SIP

[FN]

Directors are restricted from hedging their exposure to the 3i share price

.

There were no ather changes to Jirectars’ share interests in that periad

Chief Executive’s single figure remuneration history (£'000)

The share interests shown for Mrs Wilson include shares neld in tha 31 Group Share Incentive Plan The owned autnght column nciudes partnership and diwdend shares under the SIP

The number of shares shown includes the 2015 Performance Share aware The performance target has been met with 100% of the shares being released as descrtbea un page 77

Frem 1 April 2018 to 1 May 2618, Mrs Wilson became interested in a further 17 shares overall outrighs (SIP Partnership Shares) and a further 34 deferred shares (SIP Matching Shares)

Graph removed

Performance graph — TSR graph

This graph compares the Campany's total shareholder return for the nine financial years to 31 March 2018 with the total shareholder return
of the FTSE 350 Index. The FTSE 350 index is considered to be an appropriate comparator as it reflects both the variety of the Company’'s
portfolio of internaticnal investments as well as the diverse currencies in which those investments are denominated.

3i total shareholder return vs FTSE 350 total return over the nine years to 31 March 2018

Graph removed
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Performance table
Table of historic Chief Executive data

Single figure of Percentage Percentage
tetal remunaration of maximum of maximum
Year Chief Executive £000 bonus paid LTIP vesting
Y2018 5 A Borrows 5,847 92.5% 100%
FY2017 S A Borrows 7,544 95% 100%
Fy2g1é S ABorrows 5.821 92.5% 98%
FY2015 S A Borrows 8,278 92.5% 20.85%
FY2014 S A Borrows 3,222 92.5% 0%
Fraga S A Borrows 2932 90% n/a
M J Queen 429 0% 0%
FY2012 M J Queen 641 0% 0%
FY201 MJ Queen 1,305 54% A%
FY2010 M J Queen 1,989 75% 0%
1 M J Queen ceased 1o be a Director on 16 May 2012. Mr Borrows was appointed Cheef Executive on 17 May 2012 having previeusly been Chief Investment Officer
Relative importance of spend on pay
Change
FY2018 FY2017 %
Remuneration of all employees £83m £88m %
Dividends paid to shareholders £255m £230m 1%
Statement of implementation of the remuneration policy in the coming year
The table below sets out how the Committee intends tc operate the remuneration pelicy in FY2019
Pclicy element implementation of policy during FY2019
Base salary A Group-wide 3% increase to sataries will take place in FY2019, which wil! also be applied to Executive Director
salaries. Effective from 1 July 2018, salarles for the Executive Directars will therefore be as foliows:
* Chief Executive: £637.601 (+3%)
* Group Finance Director: £443,709 {+3%)
Pension No changes to the current arrangernents are proposed for FY2019 The Executive Directors will continue to

receive a pension contribution or salary supplement as follows:
» Chief Executive: f15k
* Group Finance Directar: 12% of salary

Benefits No changes to the current arrangements are proposed for FY2019.

Benefits will continue to include a car allowance, provision of health insurance and any Share incentive Plan

matching share awards.

Annual bonus The maximum annual benus cpportunities for FY2019 will remain unchanged, in line with the remuneration

policy, as foliows:
* Chief Executive: 400% of salary
* Group Finance Director: 250% of satary

Any bonus will be awarded based on a balanced scorecard of both financial and strategic measures agreed by
the Committee, alongside a consideration of the wider context of personal performance {including values and

behaviours), risk, market and other factors,

Measures for the FY2019 scorecard are based 90% o financial measures (65% portfolio return, 20% mvestment
management and 5% operating performance) and 10% on strategic and pecple cbjectives. They are calibrated

to current business strategy and evolve year-on-year as the Group's situation and priorities develop.

The Committee considers that the specific targets and expectations contained within the FY2019 scorecard are
commercially sensitive and therefore will not be disclosed in advance. We will report to shareholders next year

on performance and the resulting bonus cut-turns.

At least 50% of any banus award will be deferred into shares vesting in equal instalments aver four years.

Awards are subject to the Company’s malus and clawback policy.
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Policy element

Implementation of policy during FY2019

Long-term incentive plan

Awards under the long-term incentive plan in FY2019 will remain unchanged and be made as follows:
* Chief Executive: 400% of salary
* Group Finance Director: 250% of salary

Performance will be measured over a three-year period and will be determined by the Remuneration
Committee. Performance measures remained unchanged from the previous year and will be as follows:

* 50% of the award Is based on absclute TSR measured over the performance period, and vests:
* 0% vesting below 10% pa TSR;

* 20% vesting at 10% pa TSR;

* straight-line vesting between 10% and 18% pa TSR; and

* 100% vesting at 18% pa TSR.

50% of the award is based on relative TSR measured against the FTSE 350 Index over the performance period,
and vests:

* 0% for below median performance against the index,

* 25% for median performance against the index;

* 100% for upper guartile performance against the index; and

* straight-line vesting between median and upper quartile performance.

Awards are subject to the Company's malus and clawback policy.

Shareholding requirements

Shareholding requirements will be as follows:

* Chief Executive: 300% of salary

* Group Finance Director: 200% of salary

* non-executive Directors {including the Company Chairman): 100% of base fee

Non-executive Director fees

The fees for the Non-executive Directors for FY2019 will be:

Chairman fee: £240,000 plus £70,0600 in 31 shares
Non-executive Directors:

Board membership base fee: £50,000 plus £15,000 in 3i shares
Deputy Chairman (including SID fee): £40,000

Senior independent director fee: £10,000

Committee chairman’ £20,000

Committee member: £€8,000

Committee fees are payable in respect of the Audit and Compliance Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Valuations Committee.

Malus and Clawback palicy

Long-term incentive awards and deferred bonus share awards made during the year to Executive Directors {and
certain cther Senior Executives), may be forfeited or reduced prior to vesting in exceptional crrcumstances on
such basis as the Committee considers fair, reasonable and proportionate taking into account an individual's
role and responsibilities. This would inciude, but is not limited to, material misstatement of Group financial
statements, ot cases where an individual is deemed to have caused a material loss for the Group as a result of
reckless, negligent or wilful actions, inappropriate values or behaviour.

In exceptional circumstances {and on such basis as the Committee considers fair, reasonable and proportionate
taking into account ar individual's role and responsibiities), the Group may recover amounts that have been
paid or released from awards {including cash bonus awards), as long as a writien request for the recovery of
such sums is made in the two-year period from the date of payment or release and in circumstances where
either (a) there has been a material misstatement of Group financial statements or (b} the Group suffers a
material loss. In arriving at its decision, the Committee wilt take into consideration such evidence as it may
reasonably consider refevant including as to the impact of the affected individual's conduct, values or
behaviours on the material misstatement or material loss, as the case maybe,
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Consideration by the Directors of matters relating to Directors’ remuneration

The following Directors were members of the Remuneration Committee during the year

Remuneration Committee

Meetings attended Meetings eligible to

Nzme Roie Membership status in the year attend in the year
J P Asquith {Chairman} Non-executive Director Member since March 2011

Chairman since May 2011 5 5

C J Banszky Non-executive Director Member since November 2015 5 5

D AM Hutchison Non-executive Director Member since December 2013 5 5

The Committee's terms of reference are available on the Company's website.

The Committee appointed Deloitte LLP as advisers in 2013 and during the year they provided the Committee with external,

independent advice

Deloitte LLP are members of the Remuneration Consultants Group and as such, voluntarily operate under the code of conduct in relation to
executive remuneration consulting in the UK. During the year, Deloitte LLP also provided 3i with certain tax advisory services. The Committee
has reviewed the advice provided during the year and is satisfied that it has been cbjective and independent. The total fees for advice during
the year were £27,400 (excluding VAT) (2017: £44,350 (excluding VAT)),

The Company Chairman, Chief Executive, the Remuneration Director and the General Counsel, Company Secretary & Head of HR attend
Committee meetings by invitation, other than when their personal remuneration is being discussed.

Result of voting at the 2017 AGM

At the 2017 AGM, shareholders approved the Remuneration report that was published in the 2017 Annual report and accounts. At the 2017
AGM, shareholders approved the Directors’ remuneration policy. The resuits for both of these votes are shown kelow:

Resolution Votes for Votes against Total votes cast Votes withheld

Approval of the Directors’ remuneration report at the 2017 AGM 693,120,571 24 658,579 712779150 1,071,340
{96.56%) (3.44%)

Approval of the Directors’ remuneration policy at the 2017 AGM 684,177,712 33,578,863 717,756,575 1,094,463
{95.32%) 4.68%)

The Remuneration policy is available on 3i's website www.3i.com

Audit

- The tables in this report {including the Notes thereta) on pages 75 to 80 have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP.

By arder of the Board

Jonathan Asquith
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
16 May 2018

(——-——-
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Relations with shareholders

Approach to Investor Relations

The Board recognises the importance

of maintaining a purposeful relationship
with shareholders. The Group has

a comprehensive Investor Relations
programme ta help existing and potential
investors to understand its activities,
strategy and financial performance.

The Chief Executive and the Group
Finance Director meet with the Company's
principal sharenciders to discuss relevant
issues as they arise. The Chairman seeks
to engage with major shareholders on
corporate governance, strategy and
mahagement once a year, and is available
more often as required. Non-executive
Directors are offered the opportunity ta
meet shareholders,

Board oversight

The Executive Directors brief the Board

on a regular basis on the implementation

of the Investar Relations programme and

on feedback received from analysts and
investors. Any significant concern raised by
shareholders in relation to the Group is aiso
communicated to the Board. The Board also
receives periodic feedback from existing
shareholders and potential investors through
3i's corpotate brokers, Bank of America
Merrill Lynch and Barclays.

Investor Relations programme

Meetings with
principal shareholders

The Executive Directors meet with the
Group's principal shareholders on a twice-
yearly basis, following the publication of
annual and half-yearty results and as required
during the year. The Chairman and Senior
Independent Director are also available

to meet with shareholders as required.

The Investor Relations team also manages

a programme of engagement with smaller
shareholders, implemented through regular
presentations and meetings.

Meetings with potential investors

During the year, the Executive Directors

and the Investor Relations team held regular
meetings with potential investars, as part of
arranged UK and international roadshows, ta
communicate the strategy and performance
af 3i.

May June July Sept Nov Feb March
Full-year AGM Parfarmance Capital Half-year Q3 Capital
results 290617 update markets results Parformance  markets
18.05.17 26.0717 seminar 1617 update seminar
Road shows 18.0917 Roadshows 01.0218 09.03.18
from 19.05.17 from 16.11.17

Annual and half-yearly
results presentations

The Executive Directors present the annuat
and half-yearly results to institutiona)
investors and analysts. These presentations
are webcast live on 3i's website, and the
on-demand webcast remains available on
the website for a period of 12 months.

Industry conferences

Throughout the year, the Executive Directors
and Investor Relations team also participated
in a number of industry conferences
organised by investment banks for their
institutional investor base. These included
conferences organised by Barclays, Morgan
Stanley, Société Générale, Bank of America
Merrill Lynch, JPMorgan Cazenove and Citi.

Capital markets seminars

3i held three capital markets seminars in
Londen in FY2018, including two on Action,
3i's largest investment, and ore on four other
assets in the Private Equity portfolio. The two
Action capital markets seminars, held in

May 2017 and in March 2018, consisted of
presentations to significant shareholders and
analysts by the 3i Chief Executive and the
management team of Action. These events
focused on Action's business model and
strategy and on its financial performance.
Recordings of the seminars and the
presentation materials used were made
available on 3i's website. The Private Equity
capital markets seminar, held in September
2017, involved presentations on four of our
most recent Private Equity investments:
Aspen Pumps, ATESTEQ, Ponroy Santé

and Q Holding. The presentations were
delivered by the Private Equity investment
partners responsible for those investments.
The presentation materials used during the
seminar were made available on 3i's website

Individual investors

Individual investors are encouraged to
engage with the Group and provide
feedback through the Investor Relations
team and the Company Secretary, whose
contact details are available on the website.

Annual General Meeting

The Company also uses its AGM as an
opportunity to communicate with its
shareholders. At the Mesting, business
presentations are generally made by

the Chairman and the Chief Executive.

The Chairmen of the Remuneration,

Audit and Compliance, and Nominations
Committees are generally available to
answer shareholders' questions. Business to
be discussed at the Meeting is notified

to shareholders in advance through the
Notice of Meeting and covers matters

such as the annual election of Directors,

the appointment of the Auditor and

the dividend dedlaration. During the
Meeting, shareholders are alsc asked

to approve the financizal staterments and
reports of the Directors and the Auditor,

In addition, shareholders are asked to
approve the Directors' remuneration report.
The 2017 Notice of AGM was dispatched to
shareholders not less than 20 working days
before the Meeting. At that Meeting, voting
on each resolution was taken on a poll and
the poll results were made available on the
Coampany's website.

Website

3i's website provides a brief description of
3i's history, current operations and strategy,
as well as an archive of over 10 years of news
and historical financial information on the
Group and detaiis of forthcoming events for
shareholders and analysts.
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Additional statutory and corporate
governance information

This section of the Directors’ report contains the
corporate governance statement required by FCA
Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rule 7.2.

Investment policy

The UK Listing Authority's Listing Rules
require 31, as a closed-ended investment
fund, to publish an investment policy.
Shareholder approval is required for material
changes to this policy. Non-material changes
can be made by the Board. The Board has
taken the view that the investment policy
required clarification as to how the maximum
exposure limit would apply in cases where

investment policy

* 3iis an investment company which aims
to provide its shareholders with quoted
access to private equity and infrastructure
returns. Currently, its main focus is on
making quoted and unguoted equity and/
or debt investments in businesses and
funds in Eurape, Asia and the Americas.
The geagraphies, economic sectors,
funds and asset classes in which 3i invests
continue to evolve as opportunities are
identified. Proposed investrments are
assessed individually and all significant
investments require approval from
the Group's Investment Cormmittee.
Overall investment targets are subject
ta periodic reviews and the investment
portfolic is also reviewed to monitor
exposure to specific geographies,
economic sectors and asset classes.

3i makes an investment in an existing
pertfolio business as part of a recrganisation
or restructuring of its investment in that
existing portfolio business. The Board has
therafare amended the investment policy to
clarify that the cost of any such investment,
for the purposes of determining the
maximum exposure limit under the policy,
will be the cost of the existing investment
prior to the reorganisation or restructuring,
rather than the cost of that investment at the
time of the reorganisation or restructuring.

* 3iseeks to diversify risk through significant
dispersion of investments by geography,
aconomic sector, asset class and size as
wedll as through the maturity profile of its
investment portfolio.

Although 3i does not set maximum
expuosure limits for asset allocations, it
duves have a maximum exposure limit that,
save as mentioned below, no investment
will be made uniess its cost' does not
exceed 15% of the investment portfolio
value as shown in the last published
valuation. A further investment may be
made in an existing portfolic business
provided the aggregate cost of that
investment and of all other unrealised
investments in that portfolio husiness
does nat exceed 15% of the investment
portfolio value as shown in the last
published valuation. A higher limit of 30%
will apply to the Company’s investment in
3i Infrastructure plc. For the avoidance of
doubt, 3i may retain an investment, even
if its carrying value is greater than 15% or
30% (as the case may be) of the portfolic
value at the time of an updated valuation.

The Board believes that this clarification

will provide greater certainty on the
applicable exposure limit treatment

when 3i restructures existing investments.
The Board also considers that the
amendment to the investment policy is
non-material. Consequently, the amendment
does not require shareholder approval.

The revised investment policy is

set out in the box below.

* Investments are generally funded with a

mixture of debt and shareholders’ funds
with a view to maximising returns to
shareholders, whilst maintaining a strong
capital base. 3i's gearing depends not
only on its level of debt, but also on the
impact of market movements and other
factors on the value of its nvestrments.
The Board takes this into account when,
as required, it sets a precise maximum
level of gearing. The Board has therefore
set the maximum level of gearing at 150%
and has set no minimum level of gearing.
lf the gearing ratic should exceed the
150% maximum limit, the Board will take
steps to reduce the gearing ratio to below
that limit as soon as practicable thereafter.
37 is cammitted to achieving balance
sheet efficiency.

Where 3 makes an investrnent in an existing partfolio business as part of a restructuring or reorganisation of its investment in that existing portfolio

busmess {which restructuring or reorganisation may involve, without fimitation, 3i disposing of alf or part of its existing mvestment in the relevant partfolio
business and re-investing all or part of the proceeds into a different entity which acquires or holds the relevant portfolic business or a substantial

part thereof), the cost of that investmant, for the purpases of determining the maximum exposure limit under this policy, shall, to the extent that the
Investment does not increase 3i's exposure 10 the relevant portfolio business, be deemed to be the cost of 3i's existing investment in the relevant
portfolio business lor, in the case of a partial re-investrment, the pro-rated cost of 3i's existing investment in the relevant portfohie business) Immediately
prior to the restructuring or recrgamisation. If 3i's nvestment includes a further investment, such that 3i increases its overall exposure to the relevant
portfolic business as part of the restructuring or reorganisation, the cost of anhy such further investment at the date of such investrent shall be added to

the cost of the investment in the existing portfolic business as determined pursuant to the previous sentence.
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Previously, the third bultet point of the
Investment policy, set out in the box
cpposite, read as follows:

"Although 3i does not set maximum
exposure limits for asset allocations, it does
have a maximum exposure limit that, save

as menticned below, no investment will

be made unless its cost does not exceed
15% of the investment portfolio value as
shown in the last published valuation.

A further investment may be made in an
existing investee company provided the
aggregate cost of that investment and of all
other investments in that investee company
does not exceed 15% of the investment
portfolio value as shown in the last published
valuation. A higher limit of 30% will apply to
the Company’s investment in 3i Infrastructure
plc. For the avoidance of doubt, 3i may retain
an investment even if its carrying value is
greater than 15% or 30% (as the case may

be) of the portfolio value at the time of an
updated valuation.”

Corporate governance

Throughout the year, the Company complied
with the provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code (the "Code™) published
by the FRC in September 2016 and which is
availabte on the FRC website.

The Group's internal control and risk
management systems including those in
relation to the financial reporting process
are described on page 64.

Directors

Directors’ biographical details are set out
on pages 60 and é1. The Board currently
comprises the Chairman, five non-executive
Dirgctors and two Executive Directors.

Mr $ R Thompson, Mr J P Asquith, Ms CJ
Banszky, Mr S A Borrows, Mr S W Daintith,
Mr P Grosch, Mr D A M Hutchisen, and Mrs
J § Wilson served as Directars throughout
the year under review. Ms M G Verluyten
served as a Director during the year until
29 June 2017

Appointment and re-election
of Directors

Subject to the Company’s Articles of
Assaciation, the Companies Acts and
satisfactory performance evaluation,
non-executive Directors are appointed for
an initial three-year term. Before the third
and sixth anniversaries of first appointment,
the Director discusses with the Beard
whether it is appropriate for a further
three-year term to be served.

Under the Company's Articles of Association,
the minimum number of Directors is two
and the maximum is 20, unless otherwise
determined by the Company by ordinary
resalution. Directors are appointed by
ordinary resclution of shareholders or

by the Board. The Company's Articles of
Association provide for Directors to retire by
rotation at an AGM if they were appointed
by the Board since the preceding AGM, they
held office during the two preceding AGMs
but did not retire at either of them, they held
non-executive office for a continuous period
of nine years or more at the date of that
AGM, or they choose to retire from office.

Shareholders can remaove any Director by
special resolution and appoint ancther
person to be a Director in their place by
ordinary resolution. Shareholders can also
remove any Director by ordinary resalution
of which special notice has been given.

Subject to the Company's Articles of
Association, retiring Directors are eligible

for reappointment. The office of Director

is vacated if the Director resigns, becomes
bankrupt or is prohibited by law from being

a Director or where the Board so resolves
following the Director suffering from ill health
cr being absent from Board meetings for

12 months without the Board's permission.

The Board’s responsibilities
and processes

The composition of the Board and its
Committees as well as the Board's key
respansibilities and the way in which it and
its Committees work are described on
pages 60 ta 82. The Board is responsible to
shareholders for the overall management of
the Group and may exercise all the powers
of the Company subject to the provisions

of relevant statutes, the Company’s Articles
of Asscciation and any directions given

by special resclution of the sharehclders.
The Articles of Assaciation empower the
Board to offer, allot, grant aptions over

or ctherwise deal with or dispose of the
Company's shares as the Board may decide.

The Companies Act 2006 authorises the
Company to make market purchases of its
own shares if the purchase has first been
authorised by a resolution of the Company.

The Board's diversity pclicies in refation to
Directors are described in the Nominations
Committee report on page 65 and such
policies in relation to staff are described on
page 88.

At the AGM in June 2017, sharehclders
renewed the Board's authority to aliot
ordinary shares and ta repurchase ordinary
shares on behaif of the Company subject to
certain limits. Details of the authorities which
the Board will be seeking at the 2018 AGM
are set aut in the 2018 Notice of AGM.

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018
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Additional statutory and corporate
governance information

continued

Matters reserved for the Board

The Board has approved a formal schedule
of matters reserved to it and its duly
authorised Committees for decision.

These include matters such as the Group's
overall strategy, strategic plan and

annual operating budget; approval of the
Company's financial statements and changes
to accounting policies or practices; changes
to the capital structure or regulated status

of the Company; major capital projects or
changes to business operations; investmeants
and divestrnents above certain limits;

poticy on barrewing, gearing, hedging and
treasury matters; and adequacy of internal
control systerns.

Rights and restrictions
attaching to shares

A summary of the rights and restrictions
attaching to shares as at 31 March 2018
is set out below.

The Company's Articles of Association

may be amended by special resolution

of the shareholders in a general meeting.
Holders of ardinary shares enjoy the rights
set out in the Articles of Association of the
Company and under the laws of England and
Wales. Any share may be issued with ar have
attached to it such rights and restrictions

as the Company by ordinary resolution

or, failing such resolution, the Board

may decide.

31 Group Annual report and accounts 2018

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to
attend, speak and vote at general meetings
and to appoint proxies and, in the case of
corporations, corporate representatives to
attend, speak and vote at such meetings on
their behalf. To attend and vote at a generat
meeting a shareholder must be entered

on the register of members at such time
(not being earlier than 48 hours before the
meeting) as stated in the Natice of general
meeting. On a poll, holders of ordinary
shares are entitled to one vote for each
share held.

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled

to receive the Company’s Annual report

and accounts, to receive such dividends

and other distributions as may lawfully be
paid or declared on such shares and, on

any liquidation of the Company, to share

in the surplus assets of the Company after
satisfaction of the entitlements of the holders
of any shares with preferred rights as may
then be in issue.

There are no restrictions on the transfer of
fully paid shares in the Company, save as
follows. The Board may decline to register:

a transfer of uncertificated shares in the
circumstances set out in the Uncertificated
Securities Regulations 2001, a transfer to
more than four joint holders; a transfer of
certificated shares which is not in respect of
anly ane class of share; a transfer which is not
accompanied by the certificate for the shares
to which it relates; a transfer which is not
duly stamped in circumstances where a duly
stamped instrument is required; or a transfer
where in accordance with section 794 of

the Companies Act 2006 a notice (under
section 793 of that Act) has been served by
the Company on a shareholder wha has then
failed to give the information required within
the specified time.

In the latter circumnstances the Company may
make the relevant shares subject to certain
restrictions {including in respect of the ability
to exercise voting rights, to transfer the
shares validly and, except in the case of a
liquidation, to receive the payment of sums
due from the Company)

There are no shares carrying special rights
with regard to control of the Company.
There are no restrictians placed on voting
rights of fully paid shares, save where in
accordance with Article 12 of the Company's
Articles of Association a restriction notice
has been served by the Company in

respect of shares for failure to compty with
statutory notices or where a transfer notice
(as described below) has been served in
respect of shares and has not yet been
complied with. Where shares are held on
behalf of former or current employees under
employee share schemes, those participants
can give instructions to the helder of such
shares as to how votes attached to such
shares should be exercised.

In the circumstances specified in Article 38
of the Company’s Artictes of Association

the Company may serve a transfer natice on
holders of shares. The refevant circumstances
relate to: (a) potential tax disadvantage to the
Company, {b) the number of “United States
Residents” who own or hold shares being 75
or more, or {c} the Company being required
to be registered as an investment company
under relevant US legislation. The notice
wouid require the transfer of relevant shares
and pending such transfer the rights and
privileges attaching to those shares would

be suspended.

The Company is not aware of any agreements
between holders of its securities that may
restrict the transfer of shares or exercise of
voting rights.



Share capital and debentures

The issued ordinary share capital of the
Company as at 1 April 2017 was 972,808,424
ardinary shares and at 31 March 2018 was
$72,897,006 ordinary shares of 73'%: pence
each. It increased over the year by 88,582
ordinary shares on the issue of shares to the
trustee of the 3i Group Share Incentive Plan.

At the Annual General Meeting ("AGM”) on
29 June 2017, the Directors were authorised
to repurchase up to 97,000,000 ordinary
shares in the Company {representing
approximately 10% of the Company’s
issued ardinary share capital as at 15 May
2017} until the Company's AGM in 2018 or
28 September 2018, if earlier. This authority
was hot exercised in the year. Details of the
autharities which the Board will be seeking at
the 2018 AGM are set out in the 2018 Notice
of AGM.

As detailed in Note 14 to the Accounts,
as at 31 March 2018 the Company had in
issue Notes issued under the 3/ Group plc
£2,000 miliion Note lssuance Programme.

The Articles of Association also specifically
empower the Board to exercise the
Company's powers to barrow money and
to mortgage or charge the Company's
assets and any uncalled capital and to issue
debentures and other securities.

Major interests in
ordinary shares

The table below shows notifications of major
voting interests in the Company's ordinary
share capital (notifiable in accordance with
Chapter 5 of the FCA's Disclosure Guidarce
and Transparency Rules or section 793
Companies Act 2006} which had been
received by the Company as at 31 March
2018 and 1 May 2018.

Major interests in ordinary shares

Portfolioc management
and veting policy

In relation to unquoted investments, the
Group's approach is to seek to add value

to the businesses in which the Group

invests through the Group's extensive
experience, resources and contacts and
through active engagement with the

Boards of those companies. In relation to
gucted investments, the Group’s policy is to
exercise voting rights on all matters affecting
its interests.

Tax and investment
company status

The Company is an investment company
under section 833 of the Companies Act
2006. HM Reverue & Custams has approved
the Company as an Investment Trust under
section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010
and the Company directs its affairs to enabie
it to continue to remain so approved.

Where appropriate, the Company looks
1o the provisions included within the
Association of Investment Companies SORP.

3i Investments pic

3i Investments pic acts as investment
manager to the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries. Contracts for these investment
manragement and other services, for which
regulatory authorisation is required, provide
for fees based on the work done and

costs incurred in providing such services.
These cantracts may be terminated by either
party on reasonable notice. -

3i Investments plc also acts as investment
adviser to 3i Infrastructure plc under a
contract which provides for the services
to be provided and the related fees which
are payable.

3i Investments plc is autharised by the FCA
to, among other things, manage Alternative
Investment Funds ("AlFs”). It is currently
the Alternative Investment Fund Manager
(*AIFM") of five AlFs. In compliance with
regulatory requirements, 3i Investments
plc has ensured that a depoesitory has

been appointed for each AIF. For four AlFs
this is Citibank Europe plc, UK Branch,
Citibank Europe plc, Luxembourg branch,
is the depository for one AIF.

The Annual report and accounts meet the
investor disclosure requirements as set out
in FUND 3.2.2R, 3.2.3R, 3.25R and 3.2.6R
of the FCA's Investment Funds sourcebook
for 3i Group plc as a standalone entity.

The Company’s profit for the year is stated
in its Statement of changes in equity and
its Financial position is shown on page 96.
The Company petforms substantially all

of its investment related activities through
its subsidiaries and therefore the Group's
Consolidated statement of comprehensive
income is considerad to be more useful to
investors than a Company statement.

Furthermore, in some instances the relevant
FUND disclosures have been made in
relation to the Group on a consalidated
basis rather than in respect of 3i Group plc
as a standalone entity. This is because 3i
Group plc, a5 a standalone entity, cperates
through its group subsidiaries and therefore
reporting on the Group's activities provides
maore relevant information on the Company
and its position. There have been no material
changes to the Company’s operations in the
past year.

Asat % ofissued Asat % ofissued

31 March 2018 share capital 1 May 2018 share capital

BlackRock, Inc 81,545,008 838 81,694,106 840
Artemnis Investment Maragement LLP 52,625,885 541 52637910 5.41
Threadneedle Asset Management Ltd 36,939,402 3.80 34,141,832 351

3 Group Annual report and accounts 2018
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Although the disclosures required by

FUND 3.2.2R, 3.2.3R, 3.25R and 3.2.6R of

the FCA’s tnvestment Funds sourcebook

are coverad in this Annual report they are
also, for convenience, summarised on the 3i
website at www.3i.com. This will be updated
as required and changes noted in future
Annual reports.

The Alternative Investment Fund Managers
Directive requires 3/ to comply with certain
reporting obligations. A summary of the
remuneration policy of 3i can be found on
the Company's website.

The total amount of remuneration paid by

3i to its staff for the year was £83 million, of
which £40 miilion was fixed remuneration
and £43 million was variable remuneration.
The aggregate total remuneration paid

ta AIFM Identified Staff for the year was

£17 million, of which £14 million was paid to
Senior Management and £3 million was paid
to other AIFM Identifiad Staff.

Dividends

An interim dividend of 8.0 pence per
ordinary share in respect of the year to

31 March 2018 was paid on 10 January 2018.
The Directors recommend a dividend of
220 pence per ordinary share (comptising a
base dividend of 8 pence and an additional
dividend of 14 perncej be paid in respect of
the year to 31 March 2018 to shareholders
on the Register at the close of business an
15 June 2018,

The trustee of The 3i Group Employee Trust
("the Employee Trust™) has waived (subject
to certain minor exceptions) dividends
declared on shares in the Company held by
the Employee Trust and the Trustee of The
3i Group Share Incentive Plan has waived
dividends on unallocated shares in the
Company held by it.

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2013

Directors’ confiicts of interests
and Directors’ indemnities

Directors have a statutory duty to avoid
conflicts of interest with the Company.
The Company’s Articles of Association
enable Directors to apprave conflicts

of interest and include other conflict

of interest provisions. The Company
has implemented processes to identify
potential and actual conflicts of interest.
Such conflicts are then considered for
approval by the Board, subject, it necessary,
to appropriate conditions.

As permitted by the Campany's Articles of
Assaciation during the year and as at the
date of this Directors’ report, there were

in place Qualifying Third-Party Indemnity
Provisions (as defined under relevant
legislation) for the benefit of the Company's
Dirgctors and for the benefit of directors
of one assaciated company and Qualifying
Pension Scheme Indemnity Provisions

for the benefit of the directors of one
associated company

Directors' employment
contracts

Mr S A Borrows and Mrs J S Wisan each have
employment contracts with the Group with
notice periods of 12 months where notice is
given by the Group and six months where
notice is given by the Director. Save for these
notice periods their employment contracts
have no unexpired terms. None of the

other Directors has a service contract with
the Company.

Employment

The employment policy of the Group is

one of equal opportunity in the selection,
training, career development and promotion
of employees, regardiess of age, gender,
sexual orientation, ethnic origin, religion and
whether disabled or otherwise.

3itreats applicants and employees with
disakilities fairly and provides facilities,
aquipment and training to assist

disabled employees to do their jobs.
Arrangements are made as necessary

to ensure support to job applicants who
happen to be disabled and who respond

1o requests to inform the Company of any
requirements. Should an employee become
disabled during their employment, efforts
would be made to retain them in their current
employment or to explore the opportunities
for their retraining ar redeployment within
3i. Financial support is also pravided by 3i

to support disabled employees who are
unable to work, as appropriate to local
market conditions

3i's principal means of keeping in touch

with the views of its employees is through
employee appraisals, informal consultations,
team briefings and staff conferences.
Managers throughout 3i have a continuing
responsibility to keep their staff informed of
developments and to communicate financial
results and other matters of interest. This is
achieved by structured communication
including regular meetings of employees.

3115 an equal opportunities employer

and has clear grievance and disciplinary
procedures in place. 3i also has an employee
assistance programme which provides

a confidential, free and independent
caunselling service and is available to all UK
staff and their families in the UK.



3i's employment policies are designed to
provide a competitive reward package which
will attract and retain high quality staff, whilst
ensuring that the relevant costs remain at an
appropriate level.

3i's remuneration policy is influenced by 3i's
financial and other performance conditions
and market practices in the countries in
which it operates. All empicyees receive

a base salary and are alsc eligicle to be
considered for a performance-related annual
variable incentive award. For those members
of staff receiving higher levels of annual
variable incentive awards, a proportion of
such awards is delivered in 3i shares, vesting
aver a number of years. Remuneration policy
is reviewed by the 31 Group plc Remuneration
Committee, comprising 3t Group plc non-
executive Directors.

Where appropriate, employees are eligible
to participate in 3i share schemes to
encourage employees’ involvement in 3i's
performance. Investment executives in

the Private Equity business line may also
participate in carried interest schemes,
which allow executives to share directly

in future profits on investments. Similarly,
investment executives in the Infrastructure
business line may participate in asset-linked
and/or fee-linked incentive arrangements.
Employees participate in local state or
company pension schemes as appropriate
to local market conditions.

Political donations

In line with Group policy, during the year
to 31 March 2018 ho donations were made
to political parties or organisations, or
independent election candidates, and no
political expenditure was incurred.

Significant agreements

As at 31 March 2018, the Company was

party to one agreement subject to a
renegotiation period on a change of contrel
of tha Company following a takeover bid.
This agreement is a £350 million multi-
currency Revolving Credit Facility Agreement
dated 5 September 2014, between the
Campany, Barclays Bank PLC and a number
of other banks. The Company is required

to notify Barclays Bank PLC, as agent bank,
within five days, of a change of control.

This opens a 20-day negotiation period to
determine if the Majority Lenders (as defined
in the agreement) are willing to continue

the facility. Failing agreement, amounts
outstanding would be repayable and the
facility cancelled.

Going concern

The Directors have acknowledged their
responsibilities in relation to the financial
statements for the year to 31 March 2018

After making enquiries, the Directors
considered it apprapriate to prepare the
financial statements of the Company, and
the Group, on a going concern basis.

The Viability statement is included on page 47.

Audit information

Pursuant to section 418(2) of the Companies
Act 2006, each of the Directors confirms that:

{a) sofar asthey are aware, there is no
relevant audit information of which the
Cormpany's Auditor is unaware; and

(b} they have taken ail steps they ought to
have taken to make themselves aware
of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the Company's Auditar is
aware of such information.

Appointment of Auditor

In accordance with section 489 of the
Companies Act 2006, a resolution proposing
the reappointment of Ernst & Young LLP

as the Company's Auditor will be put to
members at the forthcorming AGM.

Information required
by Listing Rule 9.8.4
Information required by Listing Rule 9.8.4

not included in this section of the Directors’
report may be found as set out below:

Topic Lacation

Partfolio income
on page 30

Capitalised interest

Share allotments Note 19 on page 121

Information included
in Strategic report

In aceordance with section 414 C (11} of

the Companies Act 2006, the following
information otherwise required to be set out
in the Directors’ report has been included

in the Strategic report: risk management
objectives and policies; post balance sheet
events; likely future developments in the
business; and greenhouse gas emissions.

The Directors’ viability statement is alsc
shown in the Strategic report on page 47,

3i Group Annrual report and accounts 2018
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Statement of Directors’
responsibilities

The Directors are respansible for preparing
the Annual report and accounts in
accordance with applicable United Kingdom
law and those International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs"} which have
been adopted by the European Union.

Under Company Law the Directors must
not approve the Group financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they present
fairly the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of the Group
for that periad. The Directors consider that
this Annual report and accounts, taken as a
whole, is fair, balanced and understandable
and provides the information necessary

for shareholders to assess the Company’s
performance, business model and strategy.
In preparing the Group financial statements
the Directors:

(a) selectsuitable accounting policies
in accordance with International
Accounting Standard 8: Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors and then apply
them cansistently;

(o)

present information, including
accounting policies, in @ manner that
provides relevant, reliable, comparabsle
and understandable information;

{c} provide additional disclosures

when compliance with the specific
requirerents in IFRSs as adopted by

the EU iz insufficient to enable users

to understand the impact of particular
transaciians, other events and conditions
on the Group’s financial position and
financial performance;

d

state that the Group has complied with
IFRSs as adopted by the EU, subject to
any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements; and

(e) make judgements and estimates that

are reasonable.

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018

The Directors have a responsibility for
ensuring that proper accounting records are
kept which are sufficient to show and explain
the Group's transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Group and enable them to
ensure that the Group financial statements
camply with the Companies Act 2006.

They have a general responsibility for
taking such steps as are reasonably open
to them to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities.

In accordance with the FCA's Disctosure and
Transparency Rules, the Directors confirm to
the best of their knowledge that:

{a) the financial statements, prepared in
accordance with applicable accounting
standards, give a true and fair view of
the assets, liabilities, financial position
and profit or loss of the Company
and the undertakings included in the
consolidation taken as a whote; and

(b) the Strategic report includes a fair review
of the development and performance

of the business and the position of

the Company and the undertakings
included in the consolidation taken as
awhole together with a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties that

they face.

The Directors of the Company and their
functions are listed on pages 60 and 61

3i Group ple is registered in England with
company number 1142830,

Directors’ report

For the purpases of the UK Companies
Act 2006, the Directors’ report of 3i Group
plec comprises the Governance section on
pages 58 10 90 other than the Diirectors’
remuneration report on pages 73 to 82.

The Strategic report, Directors’ report and
Directors’ remuneration report have been
drawn up and presented in accordance
with and in reliance upon English company
law and the liabilities of the Directors in
connecticn with those reports shall be
subject to the limitations and restricticns
provided by that law.

By order of the Board

K ¥ Dunn K_‘ i ;
Company Secretary *
16 May 2018

Registered Office:

16 Palace Street
London SW1E 5)D
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Audited financial statements

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

for the year to 31 March

2018 2017
Notes £m £m

Realised profits/insses) over value on the disposal of investments 2 18 125)
Unrealised profits on the revaluation of nvestments 3 386 262
Fair vatue movermnents on investment entity subsidiaries i 848 1,041
Portfclio income

Dividends 29 38

Interest income from investment portfolic 26 10

Fees receivable 17 g
Foreign exchange on investments 12 64
Gross investment return 1,312 1,399
Fees raceivable from external funds 57 44
Operating expenses 4 {120} 16
Interest received 2 2
Interest paid (37 @49
Exchange movements 57 42
Income from investment entity subsidiaries 1% 18
Other income 2 10
Carried interest

Carried interest and performance fees receivable 13 228 280

Carried interest and performance fees payable 14 (32) (108)
Operating profit before tax 1,488 1,524
Incorme taxes 7 25) 3
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,443 1,527
Profit for the year from discontinued operations, net of tax - 78
Profit for the year 1463 1,625
Other comprehensive expense that may be reclassified to the income statement

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operatians (38) @
Other comprehensive expense that will not be reclassified to the income statement

Re-measurements of defined benefit plans 26 - (22)
Other comprehensive expense for the year from continuing operations (38) (26)
Other comprehensive expense for the year from discontinued operations - 7)
Total comprehensive income for the year (“Total return”) 1,425 1,592
Earnings per share from continuing operations

Basic (pence) 8 151.7 159.0

Diluted {pence) 8 151.0 158.3
Earnings per share

Basic {pence) 8 151.7 1692

Diluted (pence) 8 151.0 168.4
Dividend per share

Interim dividend per share paid (pence) 9 8.0 8.0

Diwidend per share {[pence} ? 22.0 18.5

The Notes on pages 104 to 138 farm 2n ntegral part of these financial statements
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Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March

2018 2017
Notes £m fm
Assets
Non-current assets
investments
Quoted investments 10 345 39
Unguoted investments 10 1,751 1,316
investments in investment entity subsidiaries 1 4,034 3,483
Investment portfolic 6,130 5189
Carried interest and performance fees receivable 13 498 354
Other non-current assets 15 28 50
intangible assets 12 -
Retirement benefit surpius 26 125 121
Property, plant and equipment 4 5
Total non-current assets 6,797 5719
Current assets
Carried interest and performance fees receivable 13 93 9
Other current assets 15 34 12
Current income taxes 3 2
Deposits - 40
Cash and cash equivalents 972 931
Tatal current assets 1,102 994
Total assets 7.899 6,713
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 (1) {24)
Carried interest and performance fees payable 14 {105) {124)
Loans and borrowings 16 (575) {575)
Retirement benefit deficit 26 {23) (22)
Deferred income taxes 7 (3) -
Provisions 17 {1) 2)
Total non-current liabilities (708) (747)
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 (100) (03)
Carried interest and performance fees payable 14 {55) (23)
Current income taxes {11) -
Pravisions 17 1) )
Total current liabilities (167) (130)
Total liabilities (875) {877)
Net assets 7.024 5,836
Equity
Issued capital 19 719 9
Share prermium 786 785
Capital redemption reserve 43 43
Share-based payment reserve 32 30
Translation reserve (8) 218
Capital reserve 4,700 3,390
Revenue reserve 778 489
Own shares 20 {26) (38)
Total equity 7.024 5,836

The Notes an pages 104 ro 138 farm an integral par: of these financial statements

Slruwm Thumpson -~ ~ ——,
Chairman 3 . S 'Wsn.

14 May 2018
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Audited financial statements

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

for the year to 31 March

Share-
Capital based
Share Share dempti pay t Translat Capital Revenue Own Total
capital premium reserve reserva reserve reserve reserva shares equity
2018 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Total equity at the start of the year 719 785 43 30 218 3,390 689 (38) 5.836
Profit for the year - - - - - 1318 145 - 1463
Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations - - - - (38) - - - (38)
Total comprehensive incame for the year - - - - {38) 1,318 145 - 1,425
Share-based payments - - - 17 - - - - 17
Release on exercise/forfeiture
of share options - - - (15) - - 15 - -
Exercise of share awards - - - ~ - (12) - 12 -
Ordinary dividends - - - - - (83 (71 - (154)
Additional dividends - - - - - {101) - - {101}
[ssue of ordinary shares - 1 - - - - - - 1
Transfer from translation reserve to
capital reserve’ - - - ~ (188) 188 - - -
Total equity at the end of the year 19 786 43 32 (8) 4,700 778 (26) 7024
1 Trarsfer relstes ta the translation reserve for Investment entity subsidiaries that was nat reclassified on adoption of IFRS 10
Share-
Capital based
Share Share  redempfion payment  Translation Capital  Revenue Own Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reaserve reserve reserve shares equity
2017 fm fm £m fm £m fm fm fm £m
Total equity at the start of the year 719 784 43 32 229 2,080 622 {54) 4,455
Profit for the year - - - - - 1,489 134 - 1,625
Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations - - - - 4) - - - {4)
Re-measurements of defined benefit plans - - - - - 22) - - 22
Other comprehensive income from
discontinued operations — - - - {7) - ~ - (7}
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - (11 1,467 136 - 1,592
Share-based payments - - - 18 - - - - 18
Release on exercise/forfeiture
of share options - - - {20 - - 20 - -
Exercise of share awards - - - - - (18 ~ 16 -
Ordinary dividends - - - - - (39) 89) - (128)
Additional dividends - ~ - - - (102) ~ - (102)
Issue of ordinary shares - 1 - - - - - - 1
Total equity at the end of the year 719 785 43 30 218 3,390 489 (38) 5,836

The Notes on pages 104 to 138 form ar integral part of these financial statements
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Consolidated cash flow statement

for the year to 31 March

2018 2017

Notes £m £m
Cash flow from operating activities
Purchase of investments (470} (334)
Proceeds from investments 14 310
Cash inflow from investment entity subsidiaries 1 430 246
Net cash flow from derivatives o, -
Portfolio interest received 4 7
Partfolio dividends received 29 54
Portfolic fees received 13 9
Fees received from external funds 55 71
Carried interest and performance fees received 13 6 39
Carried interest and performance fees paid 14 40} 27
Acquisition related earn-out charges paid - {1
Operating expenses paid {114} {131
Co-investment loans received 5 2
Other cash income - 2
Income taxes paid {10} 2)
Net cash flow from operating activities 312 245
Cash flow from financing activities
Issue of shares 1 1
Dwidend paid ? {255) {230)
Repayment of short-term borrowings - (264)
Repurchase of short-term borrowings - a7
Interest received 2 2
Interest paid (36) {51)
Net cash flow from financing activities (288) {559)
Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of Debt Management business - 232
Cash held in disposed subsidiaries - (4
Purchases of property, plant and equiprment (2) (1)
Purchase of intangibles {13) -
Net cash flow from deposits a1 _
Net cash flow from investing activities 26 227
Change in cash and cash equivalents 50 (87)
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year 231 957
Effect of exchange rate fluctuaticons (9} 61
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 972 231

The Mates on pages 104 to 138 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Audited financial statements

Company statement of financial position
as at 31 March

2018 2017

Notes £m fm
Assets
Non-current azsets
Investments
Quated investments 10 345 390
Unguoted investments 10 1,751 1,295
Investment portfolio 2,096 1,685
Carried interest and performance fees recewable 13 539 358
Interests in Group entities 22 4,112 3,542
Other non-current assets 15 20 21
Total non-currant assets 6,767 5,606
Current assets
Carried interest and performance fees receivable ‘ 13 3 1
Other current assets 15 2 4
Deposits - 4G
Cash and cash equivalents 939 887
Total current assets 944 932
Total assets 7711 6,538
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Carried interest and performance fees payable - (16)
Loans and borrowings 14 {575) {575}
Total non-current liabilities (575) 591)
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 527) (508)
Total current liabilities (527) {506)
Total liabilities (3,102} 1,097}
Net assets . &,609 5,441
Equity .
Issued capital 19 9 79
Share premium 785 785
Capital redemption reserve 43 43
Share-based payment reserve 32 30
Capital reserve 5,015 3,874
Revenue reserve 40 28
Own shares 20 {26) (38}
Total equity 6,609 5,441

The Company prcfit for the year to 31 March 2018 is £1,405 millicn (2017: £1,650 million).

The Notes on pages 104 to 138 form an intagral part of these financal statements

Simon Thompson

Chairman S Q s \W%ﬂ
16 May 2018 e
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Company statement of changes in equity

for the year to 31 March

Share-
Capital based
Share Share redemption payment Capital Revenue Own Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve shares equity
2018 fm £m £m £m £m £fm £m fm
Total equity at the start of the year 719 785 43 30 3,874 28 {38) 5,441
Profit for the year - - - - 1,337 68 - 1,405
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 1,337 68 - 1,405
Share-based payments - - - 17 - - - 17
Release on exercisefforfeiture of share options - - - {15} - 15 - -
Exercise of share awards - - - - {12) - 12 -
Ordinary dividends - - - - 83) 71 - (154)
Additional dividends - - - - (101) - - {101)
Issue of ordinary shares - 1 — - - - - 1
Total equity at the end of the year 719 786 43 32 5,015 40 {26) 6,609
Share-
Capital based
Share Share  redemption payment Capital Revenue Own Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve shares equity
2017 £m fm £m £fm £m fm fm fm
Total equity at the start of the year 719 784 43 32 2,462 16 (54) 4,002
Profit for the year - - - - 1,569 81 - 1,650
Total comprehensive income for the year = - - — 1,969 81 - 1,650
Share-based payments - - - 18 - - - 18
Release on exercise/forfeiture of share options - - - (20} - 20 - -
Exercise of share awards - - - - {14) - 16 -
Ordinary dividends - - - - (39) 89 - {128}
Additicnal dividends - - - - (102) - - (102)
Issue of ordinary shares - 1 - - - - - 1
Total equity at the end of the year 719 785 43 30 3,874 28 (38) 5,441

The Notes on pages 104 ta 138 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Audited financial statements

Company cash flow statement
for the year to 31 March

2018 2017
Notes £m £m
Cash flow from operating activities
Purchase of investments @68) (274)
Proceeds from investments 395 307
Distributions from subsidiaries 1,002 1,241
Drawdowns by subsidiaries (624) (763)
Net cash flow from derivatives {10 -
Portfolic interest received 4 6
Portfolic dividends received 25 30
Fortfolic fees paid {2) 3
Carned interest and performance fees received 13 4 13
Carriad interest and performance fees paid (23) 28
Acquisition related earn-out charges paid - m
Co-investment loans received 5 2
Net cash flow from operating activities 308 532
Cash flow from financing activities
Issue of shares 1 1
Dividend paid 9 (255) {230)
Repayment of short-term borrowings - (264)
Repurchase of short-term borrowings - (W]
Interest receved 2 2
Interest paid (36) (51
Net cash flow from financing activities (288) (55%)
Cash flow from investing activities
Net cash flow from deposits 41 -
Net cash flow from investing activities 4 -
Change in cash and cash equivalents &1 27
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year 887 857
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations %) 57
Cash and cash aquivalents at the end of the year 939 887

The Notes on pages 104 to 138 form ar integral part of these financial statements,
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Significant accounting policies

Reporting entity

3i Group ple (the "Company”) is a public limited company incorporated and domicited in England and Wales. The Consolidated financial
statements (“the Group accounts”) for the year to 31 March 2018 comprise the financiat statements of the Company and its consotidated
subsidiaries (collectively, “the Group”).

The Group accounts have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accardance with section 395 of the Companies Act 2006 and

the Large and Medium-Sized Companies and Groups {Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008. The Company has taken advantage of the
exemption in section 408 of the Cornpanies Act 2006 not to present its Company statement of comprehensive income and related Notes.

A Basis of preparation

The Group and Compary accounts have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with all relevant International Financial
Reporting Standards {"IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB"), and interpretations issued by the IFRS
nterpretations Committee for the year ended 31 March 2018, endorsed by the European Union ("EU").

The following standards, amendments and interpretations have been issued and endorsed by the EU, with implementation dates that do not
impact on these financial statements:

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

IFRS 9 Financial instruments 1 January 2018
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 1 January 2018
IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

The Group does not anticipate that IFRS 9 will have a material impact on its results. IFRS 14 is expected ta result in an increase in the Group's
total assets and total liabilities but is not anticipated to have a material impact on net assets or total return,

The Group expects that IFRS 15 will only impact its accounting policy for carried interest and performance fees receivable. This is because
IFRS 15 will introduce an assessment of the extent to which it is highly probable that there will not be a significant reversal of carried interest
receivabie when the uncertainty is resolved. When making cur assessment, the following will be considered: remaining duration of the fund,
position in relation to the cash hurdle, the number of assets remaining in the fund and the potential for clawback. The substantial majority of
the Group's carried interest receivable is fram EFV and dependent on the realisation of Action. Given Action's strong performance, its forecast
growth profile, and consistent with our investment and expected exit strategy, our current assassment is that we do not expect the adoption
of IFRS 15 to have a material impact on the recognition of carred interest receivable in the Group's results. More details on our assessment

of IFRS 15 are included on page 32 of the Financial review.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the Group accounts are disclosed below, but where possible, they have been
shown as part of the Note to which they specifically relate in order to assist the reader’s understanding. These policies have been consistently
applied and apply to all years oresented.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis as disclosed in the Directors’ report and presented to the nearest million
sterling {frm), the functional currency of the Company and the Group.

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018
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Audited financial statements

Significant accounting policies

cantinued

B Basis of consolidation

In accordance with IFRS 10 the Company meets the criteria as an investment entity and therefore is required to recognise subsidiaries that also
qualify as investment entities at fair value through profit or loss. It does not consolidate the investment entities it controls. Subsidiaries that
provide investment related services, such as advisory, management ar employment services, are not ¢lassified at fair value through profit and
loss and continue to be consolidated unless they are deemed investment entities, in which case they are recognised at fair value.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control, as defined by IFRS 10, is achieved when the Group has all of the following:
* power over the relevant activities of the investee;

* exposure, or rights, 1o variable returns from its invalvement with the investee; and

* the ability to affect those retyrns through its power over the investee.

The Group is required to determine the degree of control or influence the Group exercises and the form of any control to ensure that the
financial treatment 1s accurate.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which the Group effectively obtains control. All intra-group balances and transactions with
subsidliaries are sliminated upan consolidation. Subsidiaries are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group comprises several different types of subsidiaries. The Group re-assesses the function performed by each type of subsidiary to
determine its treatment under the IFRS 10 exception from consclidation on an annual tasis. The typas of subsidiaries and their treatment
under IFRS 10 are as fallows:

General Partners {GPs) — Consclidated

General Partners provide investment management services and do not hold any direct investments in partfolio assets. These entities are not
investment entities.

Investment managers/advisers - Consolidated

These entities provide investment related services through the provision of investment management or advice. They do not hold any direct
investments in portiolio assets. These entities are not investment entities.

Holding companies of investment managers/advisers - Consclidated

These entities provide investment related services through their subsidiaries. Typically they do not hold any direct investment in portfolio
assets and these entities are nat investrment entities.

Limited Partnerships and other intermediate investment holding structures — Fair valued

The Group makes investments in portfolio assets through its ultimate parent company as well as through other limited partnerships and
corporate subsidiaries which the Group has created to align the interests of the investment teams with the performance of the assets through
the use of various carried interest schemes. The purpose of these limited partnerships and corporate holding vehicles, many of which

also provide investment related services, is to invest for investment income and capital appreciation. These partnerships and corporate
subsidiaries meet the definition of an investment entity and are classified at fair value through profit and loss.

Portfolio investments — Fair valued

Under IFRS 10, the test for accgunting subsidiaries takes wider factors of control as well as actual equity ownership into account. In accordance
with the investment entity exception, these entities have been held at fair value with movements in fair value being recognised in the
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Associates - Fair valued

Associates are thase entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies.
Investments that are held as part of the Group's investment portfolio are carried in the Consalidated statement of financial position
at fair value even though the Group may have significant influence over those companies.

Further detail on our application of IFRS 10 can be found in the Reconciliation of Investment basis to {FRS section on pages 38 to 42 of the
Strategic repart.
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C Critical accounting judgements and estimates

The reported results of the Group are sensitive to the accounting policies, assumptions and estimates that underlie the preparation of

its financial statemenits. UK company law and IFRS require the Directors, in preparing the Group's financial statements, to select suitable
accounting policies, apply them consistently and make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent. The Group's estimates
and assumptions are based cn historical experience and expectation of future events and are reviewed pericdically. The actual outcome
may be materially different from that anticipated.

{a) Critical judgements

In the course of preparing the financial statements, one judgement has been made in the process of applying the Graup's accounting policies,
other than thase invelving estimations, that has had a significant effect on the amounts recogrised in the financial statements as follows:

l. Assessment as an investment entity

The Board has concluded that the Company continues to meet the definition of an investment entity as its strategic objective of investing
in portfolio investments and providing investment management services to investors for the purpose of generating returns in the form
of investment income and capital appreciation remains unchanged.

(b) Critical estimates

In addition to this significant judgement the Directors have made two estimates, which they deem to have a significant risk of resulting
in a material adjustment to the amounts recognised in the financial statements within the next financial year. The detalls of these estimates
are as follows:

I. Fair valuation of the investment portfolio

The investment portfolio, a material asset of the Group, is held at far value. Details of valuation methodologies used and the associated
sensitivities are disclosed in Note 12 Fair values of assets and liabilities. Further information can be found in Portfolio valuation — an
explanation on pages 150 and 151. Given the importance of this area, the Board has a separate Valuations Committee to review the valuations
policies, process and application to imdwidual iInvestments. A report on the activities of the Valuations Committee (including a review of the
assumptions made) is included on pages 70 to 72. In addition, sensitivity to a net 1x movement on Action’s multiple, the largest investment in
our portfolio, is included on page 23 of the Strategic report.

Il. Carried interest receivable and payable

Carried interest receivable and payable are calculated based on the underlying agreements, and assuming all portfalio investments are sold
at their fair values at the balance sheet date. The actual amounts of carried interest received and paid will depend on the cash realisations of
these pertfalio investments and valuations may change significantly in the next financial year. The fair valuation of the investment portfoliois
itself a critical estmate, as detailed above The sensitivity of carried interest to movements in the investment portfolic is disclosed in Notes 13
and 14.

Valuation of the defined benefit schemes

Tha Group considered that the required estimate of an appropnate discount rate in accardance with IAS 19 was not sensitive enough to
change the valuation of the pension scheme materially and therefore it is no longer considered a critical estimate. The sensitivity to changes
in discount rates is shown in Note 26,
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Audited financial statements

Significant accounting policies

continued

D Other accounting policies

(a) Gross investment return

Gross investrment return is equivalent ta “revenue” for the purposes of IAS 1. It represents the overall increase in net assets frem the
investment partfolio net of deal-related costs and includes foreign exchange movements in respect of the investment portfolio.

The substantial majority is investment income and outside the scape of IAS 18 {and IFRS 15 from 1 April 2019). it is analysed into the following
components with the relevant standard shown where appropriate:

I Realised profits or losses over value on the disposal of investments are the difference between the fair value of the consideration in
accordance with IFRS 13 received less any directly attributable costs, on the sale of equity and the repayment of interest income from the
investment portfolio, and its carrying value at the start of the accounting period, converted into sterling using the exchange rates in force
at the date of disposat.

Il. Unrealised profits or losses on the revaluation of investments are the movement in the fair value of investments in accordance with
IFRS 13 between the start and end of the accounting period converted inte sterling using the exchange rates in force at the date of fair
value assessment,

1l. Fair value movements on investment entity subsidiaries are the movements in the far value of Group subsidiaries which are classified
as investment entities under IFRS 10. The Group makes investments in portfolic assets through these entities which are usually limited
partnerships or corporate subsidiaries,

IV. Portfolio income is that portion of income that is directly related to the return from individual investments. It is recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be ecanomic benefit and the income can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria
in accordance with 1AS 18 must be met before the income is recognised:

* Dividends from equity investments are recognised in the Consclidated statement of comprehensive income when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment have been established.

interest income from investment portfolio (s recognised as it accrues by reference to the principal outstanding and the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the financial asset
to the asset’s carrying value. When the fair value of an investment is assessed to be below the principal value of & loan the Group
recognises a provision against any interest accrued from the date of the assessment going forward until the investment is assessed

to have recovered in value.

* Feeincame is earned directly from investee companies when an investrnent is first made and through the life of the investment.
Fees that are earned on a financing arrangement are considered to relate to a financial asset measured at fair value through profit
or loss and are recognised when that investment is made. Fees that are earned an the basis of providing an ongoing service to the
investee company are recognised as that service is provided.

V. Foreign exchange on investments arises on investments made in currencies that are different from the functional currency of the Group
entity. Investments are transiated at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction in accordance with IAS 21. At each subsequent
reporting date, investments are translated to sterling at the exchange rate ruling at that date.
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{b) Foreign currency translation

For the Company and those subsidiaries whose balance sheets are denominated in sterling, which is the Company's functional and
presentational currency, monetary assets and liabilities and non-monetary assets held at fair value denominated in fareign currencies

are translated inta sterling at the closing rates of exchange at the balance sheet date. Foreign currency transactions are translated into
sterling at the average rates of exchange over the year and exchange differences arising are taken to the Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

The statements of financial position of subsidiaries and associates, which are not held at fair value, denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into sterling at the closing rates. The statements of comprehensive income for these subsidiaries and associates are translated at
the average rates and exchange differences arising are taken to other comprehensive income. Such exchange differences are reclassified to
the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in which the subsidiary or associate is disposed of.

Exchange movements in relation to forward foreign exchange contracts are included within exchange movernents in the Consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, where appropriate. No forward fareign exchange contracts were held at the yearend.

(c) Treasury assets and liabilities

Short-term treasury assets and short and long-term treasury liabilities are used in order to manage cash flows and minirise the overall costs
of borrowing.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and amounts held in money market funds, which are readily convertible into cash and there
is an insignificant risk of changes in value. Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet when the relevant Group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. De-recognition occurs when rights to cash flows from a financial asset expire,
or when a liability is extinguished.
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Audited financial statements

Notes to the accounts

1 Segmental analysis

Operating segments are the components of the Group whose results are regularly reviewed by the Group's chief operating decision maker
to make decisions about resources te be allocated to the segment and assess its performance.

The Chief Executive, who is considered to be the chief operating decision maker, managed the Group on the basis of business divisions
determined with reference ta market focus, geographic focus, investrent funding model and the Group's management hierarchy.

A description of the activities, including products and services offered by these divisions and the allocation of resources, is given in

the Strategic report. For the geographical segmental spiit, revenue information is based on the locations of the assets held

The segmental information that follows is presented on the basis used by the Chief Executive to monitor the performance of the Group.
The reported segments are Private Equity, Infrastructure and cther, where other comprises the residual investments retained following the
sale of our Debt Management business. These investments were sold during the year.

The segmentat analysis is prepared on the Investment basis to provide the most meaningful information to the reader of the accounts.

Investment basis Private
Equity  Infrastructure Other' Total
Year to 31 March 2018 £m £m £m £m
Realised profits/{losses) over value on the disposal of investments 199 10 ) 207
Unrealised profits on the revaluation of investments 1,080 83 - 1163
Portfolic income
Dividends 5 27 9 L
Interest income from investment portfolio 112 4 - 14
Fees receivable 14 - - 14
Foreign exchange on investments 28 {11) (6) ki
Gross investment return 1,438 113 1 1,552
Fees receivable from external funds 7 50 - 57
Operating expenses (75} 46) - (121)
Interest receivable 2
Interest payable 137}
Exchange movements @n
Cther income 2
Operating profit befora carry 1,428
Carried interest
Carried interest and performance fees receivable 138 90 - 228
Carried interest and performance fees payable (196) 9) - (205)
Operating profit 1,451
Income taxes (26}
Other comprehensive income
Re-measurements of defined benefit plans -
Total return 1,425
Net divestment/{investment)
Realisations’ 1,002 169 152 1,323
Cash investment (587) (217} {23) (827)
415 {48} 129 496
Balance sheet
Opening portfolio value at 1 April 2017 4,831 706 138 5,675
investment? &74 217 23 914
Value disposed (803) (159) (154} {1,118}
Unrealised value movement 1,080 83 - 1,163
Other moverment* 43 (15) @ 21
Closing portfolio value at 31 March 2018 5,825 832 - 4,657

1 The Other segment compries the residual Debt Management portfolio

2 £a& million in Private Equity relates to cash in transit at year end

3 Includes capitalised interest and other non-cash invesiment

4 Other mavement relates ta foreign exchargs and the provisioning of capitalised interast

A rumber of items are not managed by segment by the cniet operating decision maker and therefore have not been allocated to 2 specific segment
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1 Segmental analysis continued

Investment basis Totat
Private continuing Discontinued
Equity Infrastructure Cther' operations operatians’ Total

Year to 31 March 2017 £m £m fm £m £m fm
Realised profits/(iosses} over value on the disposal
of nvestmenits 38 n 1 18 - 38
Unrealised profits on the rewaluation
of investments 1,274 59 % 1,342 3 1,345
Portfolio income

Dividends 8 23 19 50 16 66

Interest income from investment portfolio 50 - - 50 3 53

Fees receivable 6 - - 6 - [
Foreign exchange on invastments 248 6 15 269 16 285
Gross investment return 1,624 87 44 1,755 38 1,793
Fees receivable from external funds 10 34 - 46 25 n
Operating expenses (74) (41} - m7n {13) {130)
Interest receivable 2 - 2
Interest payable 4% - 49}
Exchange movements 28 {9 19
Other income 10 2 12
Qperating profit before carry 1,675 43 1,718

Carried interest
Carried interest and performance

fees receivable 275 4 - 279 1 280

Carried interest and performance

fees payable @310 3 - 434 - 434)
Operating profit 1,520 44 1,564
Prcfit on disposal of Debt Management
business before tax - 48 48
Income taxes 3 40} 2
Other comprehensive income

Re-measurements of defined benefit plans (22) - {22)
Total return 1,51 Al 1,592
Net divestment/(investment}
Realisations? 782 12 1 1.005 2790 1,275
Cash investment (478) {131) (29) (638) {51) (689)

504 (119} {18) 367 219 584

Balance sheet
Opening portfolio value at 1 April 20183 3,741 527 92 4,360 137 4,497
Investment! 548 131 29 708 51 759
Value disposed {944) (13 (10) (@67} 191y {1,158)
Unrealised value movement 1,274 5% 9 1,342 3 1,345
Other movernent® 212 2 18 232 - 232
Closing portfolio value at 31 March 2017 4,831 706 138 5,675 - 5,675

Discontinued caerat-ons relate to the Debt Managemen: business sold 1o Investcorp Other relates to the residual Debt Management investments re1ained by 31

X}

Prrvate Equity does notinclude proceeds pard fram investee halding eompanies of £33 millon Total praceeds from the sale of the Deot Management pusiness were £270 million, of which
£°7 milbon related ta the investment made by 31 Group plc on benalf of Debt Management Investments Ltd and £14 million related to an intercompany loar orovided by 3: Group ple to
Debt Management US LLC and not incluged within the conschidated Group

X}

The apening porticho values have been re-presented ta refect the classiication of the Group's Delat Management business sold to Investcerp as discontinued operatiors The ressdual
Debt Management stakas are included within Other

IS

Includes capitalised interest and ather non-cash investrent

o

Other movemen: relstes Lo foreign excharge and the prowisioning of capital sed interest

Arumbe- of tems are not managed by segment by the chief operating decision maker and therefore have not been allocated 1o a speafic segment
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Audited financial statements

Notes to the accounts
continued

1 Segmental analysis continued

Investmant basis Northern North Rest of
UK Europe America World Total
Year to 31 March 2018 £m £m £m £m £m

Gross investment return
Realised profits/{losses) over value on the

disposal of investments 9 154 {5) 49 207
Unrealised profits on the
revaluation of investments 148 932 &7 16 1,163
Portfolio income 54 104 12 1 171
Foreign exchange on investments - kAl (55) (25) 11
21 1,281 19 4 1,552
Net divestment/{investment)
Realisations 270 782 9 180 1,323
Cash investment (32) 434) (361) — {827)
238 348 (270) 180 496
Balance shaat
Closing portfolio value at 31 March 2018 1.249 4,504 664 240 6,657
Investment basis Narthern Narth Rest of
UK Europe America World Total
Year toc 31 March 2017 fm fm £m fm fm

Gross investment return
Realised {losses)/profits over value an the

disposal of investments (33} 51 12 8 38

Urrealised profits/{losses) on the

revaluation of investments 160 1,183 12 (10) 1,345

Portfolio income/(expense) 34 77 15 1} 125

Foreign exchange on investments 1 196 43 45 285
162 1,507 82 42 1,793

Net divestment/Xinvestment)

Realisations 239 818 179 39 1,275

Cash investment (131) {488) %) 3 (689)
108 330 113 38 584

Balance sheet
Closing portfolio value at 31 March 2017 1,309 3,639 349 378 5,675
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2 Realised profits over value on the disposal of investments

2018 2018
Unquated Quoted 2018
investments investments Total
£m £m £m
Realisations 329 85 414
Valuation of disposed investmerits (315) {81} {396)
14 4 18
Of which:
- profits recognised on realisations 22 4 26
~ losses recognised on realisations (8) - {8}
14 4 18
2017 2017
Unquoted Quoted 2017
investments investments Total
m m fm
Realisations 266 20 286
Valuation of disposed investments {292) {19) {311
26) 1 (25)
Of which:
- profits recognised on realisations 23 1 24
- losses recognised on realisations 49) - 49
(26) 1 (25)
3 Unrealised profits on the revaluation of investments
2018 2018
Unquoted Quoted 2018
investments investments Total
£m £m £m
Movement in the fair vaiue of investments 346 40 386
Of which:
- unrealised gains 365 40 405
— unrealised losses (19) - 119
346 40 386
2017 2017
Unguoted Quoted 2017
investments investments Total
£m £fm fm
Movement in the fair value of investments 22 38 262
Of which:
- unrealised gains 243 38 281
— unrealised losses {19) - ek
224 38 262
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Audited financial statements

Notes to the accounts
continued

4 Operating expenses

Operating expenses of £120 million (2017- £114 million) recognised in the IFRS Consclidated staternent of comprehensive income include the
following arnounts:

2018 2017

£m £m

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2 2
Amortisation of intangible assets 1 -
Audit fees (Note &} 2 2
Staff costs (Note 5) a3 78
Redundancy costs 2 2

Including expenses incurred in the entities accounted for as investment entity subsidiaries of £1 million (2017: £1 million), the Group's total
operating expenses for the year were £121 million (2017. £117 million).

5 Staff costs

The table below is prepared in accordance with Companies Act requirements, which is consistent with both the IFRS and the Investment basis.

2018 2017

£m fm

Wages and salaries from continuing operations 63 57
Social security costs from continuing operations " 10
Share-based payment costs from continuing operations {(Note 27) s 7
Pension costs from continuing operations 4 4
Staff costs from continuing operations 83 78
Wages and salaries from discontinued operations - 9
Social security costs from discontinued operations - 1
Staff costs from discontinued operations - 0
Total staff costs 83 88

The average number of employees during the year was 241 (2017: 281), of which 159 (2077: 189) were employed in the UK.

Wages and salaries shawn above include sataries paid in the year, bonuses and portfolio incentive schemes relating to the year ended
31 March 2018. These costs are included in operating expenses. The table below analyses these costs between fixed and variable elements.

2018 2017

£m fm

Fixed staff costs from continuing operations 40 37
Variable staff costs fram continuing aperations’ 43 41
Staff costs from continuing operations 83 78
Fixed staff costs from discontinued operations - 4
Variable staff costs from discantinued operations’ = )
Staff costs from discontinued operations - 10
Total staff costs 83 88

1 Includes cash bonuses and equity and cash settied share awards

Mare detaill on this information 1s included i the Directors’ remunerat.on repor: on pages 73 ta 82
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4 Information regarding the Group's Auditor

During the year the Group received the following services from its Auditor, Ernst & Young LLP. The table below is prepared in accordance with
Companies Act requirements, which is consistent with both the IFRS and the Investment basis.

2018 2017
fm tm
Audit services

Statutory audit - Company 1.3 1.2
— UK subsidiaries 0.5 0.5
— Overseas subsidiaries 0.1 0.2
Total audit services 19 19

Non-audit services
Other assurance services 0.3 02
Investment due diligence 01 1.0
Tax services {compliance and advisory services) - Q1
Total audit and non-audit services 2.3 3.2

7 Income taxes

Accounting policy:

Income taxes represent the sum of the tax currently payable, withholding taxes sufferec and deferred tax. Tax s charged or credited in the §
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except where it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the 3
tax is also dealt within equity. s

1
The tax currently payable is based on the taxable profit for the year. This may differ from the profit included in the Conscfidated statement

of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.

To enable the tax charge to be based on the profit for the year, deferred tax is provided in full on temporary timing differences, at the rates
of tax expected to apply when these differences crystallise. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available against which temporary differences can be set off. All deferred tax liabllities are offset against
deferred tax assets, where appropriate, in accordance with the provisions of JAS 12,

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is na longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be availabie to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

The main rate of UK corporation tax is 19% and is to be reduced to 17% from 1 April 2020. This change wil! affect future UK corporate taxes
payable and the rate at which deferred tax assets are expected to reverse.

2018 2017
£fm fm
Current taxes )
Current year -UK 22 -
- Qverseas 1 1
Prior year -UK - -
- Qverseas {n (4
Deferred taxes
Deferred income taxes 3 -
Total income tax charge/{credit) in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 25 (3)
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Audited financial statements

Notes to the accounts
continued

7 Income taxes continued

Reconciliation of income taxes in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

The tax charge for the year is different to the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK, currently 19% (2017: 20%), and the differences are
explained below:

2018 2017
£m fm
Profit befare tax 1,488 1,524
Profit before tax multiplied by rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% {2017: 20%) 283 305
Effects of:

Non-taxable capital profits due to UK approved investment trust company status (257} (309)
Non-taxable dividend income (9) (6)
17 (1)

Other differences between accounting and tax profits:
Perrnanent differences — non-deductible items 2 -
Temparary differences on which deferred tax is not recognised 4 4
QOvarseas countries taxes - (3}
Recognition of previously unrecognised deferred tax or losses 5 -
Excess unutilised tax losses arising in the period - 6
Utilisation of brought forward losses Q) -
Total income tax charge/(cradit) in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 25 [©)]

The affairs of the Group's parent company are directed so as to allow it to meet the requisite conditions to continue to operate as an approved
Investment Trust company for UK tax purposes. An approved Investment Trust company is a UK investment company which is required to
meet certain conditions set out in the UK tax rules to obtain and maintain its tax status. This approval allows certain investment profits of the
Comgany, broadly its capital profits, to be exempt from tax in the UK.

The Groug has recognised a current UK corporation tax liability of £22 million (2017: nif) for the year. This is higher than previous years due

to increased levels of taxable interest income from portfolic companies, reduced interest expenditure foltowing the repayment of abond in
March 2017, and a £90 million performance fee from 3iN following its disposals of AWG and Elenia in the year. Finally, the use of losses brought
forward has been restricted with effect from 1 April 2017.

Including a net tax charge of £1 million (2017: nil) in the fair valued entities, the Group recognised a total tax charge of £26 million (2017
tax credit £3 miltion) under the Investment basis.

Deferred income taxes

2018 2017
£m fm
Opening deferred incomae tax asset
Tax |Osses 8 7
Income in accounts taxable in the future (8) 7
Other - 3
- 3
Recognised through Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Tax losses recognised (5) 1
Income in accounts taxable in the future 2 ]
(3) -
Recognised within discontinued operations
Deferred tax asset transferred with discontinued operations - 3
- 3)
Closing deferrad income tax liability
Tax losses 3 8
Incarne in accounts taxable in the future (8) 8
(3) ~

At 31 March 2018, the Group had carried forward tax losses of £1,400 million (31 March 2017 £1,390 millicn). capital losses of £102 million
(31 March 2017: £93 miltion} and other temporary differences of £83 million (31 March 2017 £24 million). With the additicnal restrictions
on utilising brought forward losses introduced from 1 April 2017, and the uncertainty that the Group will generate sufficient or relevant
taxable profits in the foreseeable future to utilise these amaunts, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these losses.
Deferred income taxes are calculated using an expected rate of cerporation tax in the UK of 19% (2017 19%).
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8 Per share information

The calcuiation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to shareholders and the number of basic average shares.
When calculating the diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of shares in issue is adjusted for the effect of all dilutive share

options and awards.

2018 2017
Earnings per share (pence}
Basic earnings per share 151.7 169.2
- of which fram continuing operations 151.7 15%.0
— of which fram discontinued operations - 102
Diluted earnings per share 151.0 1684
- of which from continuing operations 151.0 158.3
— of which fram discontinued operations - 10
Earnings (£m)
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company 1.463 1,625
— of which fram continuing cperations 1,463 1,527
— of which frgm discentirued operations - 78
2018 2017
Weighted average number of shares in issue
Ordirary shares 972,849,842 972,734,609
Own shares (8,758,180) (12,580,145)
964,091,662 960,154,464
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
Share options and awards 4,613,775 4,710,808
Diluted shares 968,705,437 964,865,272
2018 2017
Net assets per share (£)
Basic 7.28 6.07
Diluted 7.24 6.04
Net assets (fm)
Net assets attributable to equity holders of the Company 7,024 5,836
Basic NAV per share is calculated on 965,040,405 shares in 1ssue at 31 March 2018 {31 March 2017: 961,458,801). Diluted NAV per share is
calculated on diluted shares of 969,773,150 at 31 March 2018 (31 March 2017: 966,553,549).
9 Dividends
20318 2018 2017 2017
pence per share £m pence per share £m
Declarad and paid during the year
Ordinary shares
Final dividend 18.5 178 16.0 154
Interim dividend 8.0 77 80 76
26.5 255 24.0 230
Proposed dividend 220 212 18.5 178

The Group's current dividend policy was intraduced in May 2016, in accordance with this policy, the Group pays a base dividend of 16
pence per share and an additional dividend which is based on cash realisaticrs, the investment pipeline and the balance sheet at year end.
The Group will only pay an additional dividend if gross debt is less than £1 billion and gearing is less than 20%, to maintain its conservative

balance sheet approach.

The dividend can be paid out of either the capital reserve ot the revenue reserve subject to the investment trust rules. The distributable
iwaeives Ul e warent company are £1,941 infllon (31 March 2617 £1,742 mition) abd the Hoard teviews the distributable reserves bi-annually
ahead of preposing any dividend. The Board also reviews the proposed dividends in the context of the requirements of being an approved

Investment Trust. Details of the Group's continuing viability and going concern can be found on page 47 and 89.
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Audited financial statements

Notes to the accounts
continued

2 Dividends continued

In light of the Group's continued progress in executing its strategy, we now propose to replace our base and additional dividend policy
with a simpler policy. Further details are on page 34 of the Financial review.

10 Investment portfolio

Accounting policy:
investments are recognised and de-recogmised on the date when their purchase or sale is subject to a relevant contract and the associated

risks and rewards have been transferred. The Group manages its investments with a view to profiting from the receipt of investment income
and capital appreciation from changes in the fair value of investments.

All investrments are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration given and are subsequently measured at fair value, n
accordance with the Group’s valuation palicies.

Quoted investments are designated at fair value through profit and loss and subsequently carried in the Consolidated staternent of
financial pasition at fair value. Fair value is measured using the closing bid price at the reporting date, where the investment is quoted
on an aclive stock market.

Unguoted investments, including both equity and loans are designated at fair value through profit and loss and are subsequently carried
in the Consclidated statement of financial position at fair vatue. Fair value is determined in line with 3i's valuation policy, which is compliant
with the fair value guidelines under IFRS and the International Private Equity and Venture Capital (IPEV) Valuation Guidelines, details of
which are available in "Partfolio valuation - an explanation” on pages 150 and 151.

Interest bearing loans accrue interest which is either settled in cash or capitalised on a regular basis and included as part of the principal
loan balance. The capitalisation of accrued interest is treated as part of investment additions during the year. If the fair value of an
investment is assessed to be below the principal value of the loan the Group recognises a fair value reduction against any interest income
accrued from the date of the assessment going forward. "Capitalisation at nit value” is the term used to describe the capitalisation of
accrued interest which has been fully provided for. These transactions are disclosed as additions to portfolio cost with an equal reduction
made where loan notes have nil value.

In accordance with IFRS 10, the proportion of the investment portfolio held by the Group's unconsolidated subsidiaries is presented as part
of the fair value of investment entity subsidiaries, along with the fair value of their other assets and liabilities. A reconciliation of the fair value
of Investments in investment entities is included in Note 11,

Group Group Company Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

£m fm £m £m

Qpening baok value 1,706 1,540 1,485 1,400
Additicns from continuing cperations 481 29 481 306
- of which loan notes with nil value - (10) - (10)
Additions from discontinued operations - 70 - 18
Disposals, repayments and write-offs from continuing operations (396) {311 (375) {307
Disposals, repayments and write-offs from discontinued operations - (191) - (24)
Fair value movement from continuing operations’ 386 262 386 256
Fair value movement from discontinued operations - 3 - -
Other movements and net cash movements from continuing operations? (81) 71 (81} 65
Other movements and net cash movements from discontinued operations’ - {19) - (19}
Closing book value 2,096 1,706 2,095 1,685
Quoted investments 345 3%0 345 390
Unqucted investments 1,751 1,316 1,751 1,295
Closing book value ) 2,096 1,706 2,096 1,685

7 All far value movemen*s relate 1o assets held at the end of the perod.

2 Other mavements includes the impact of fareign exchange and the transtar of an investment to an investment entity subsidary

The holding period of 3i's investment portfolia is on average greater than one year. For this reason the portfolic is classified as non-current.
It 1s not possible to identify with certainty investments that will be sold within one year.

Additions from continuing operations include cash investment of £470 miflion {2017. £280 milliar} and £11 millian {2017: £11 millian) in
capitalised interest received by way of lcan notes, of which nil (2017: £10 million) has been written down in the period to nil.
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10 Investment portfolio continued

Included within the Consclidated statement of comprehensive income is £26 million (2017: £1C million) of interest income. This is made up
of the £11 million of capitalised interest noted above, £4 million (2017: £4 million) of cash income and the capitalisation of prior year accrued
incorme and non-capitalised accrued income of £31 million {2017 £5 million).

Quoted investments are classified as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy and unquoted investments are classified as Level 3 in the fair value
hierarchy, see Note 12 for details.

11 Investments in investment entity subsidiaries

Accounting policy:
Investments in investment entity subsidiaries are accounted for as financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss.

These entities are typically imited partnerships and other intermediate investment holding structures which hold the Group's interests in
investments in portfolio companies. The fair value can increase or reduce from either cash flows to/from the investment entity subsiciaries
or valuation movemnents in line with the Group's valuation policy.

Substantially all of these entities meet the definition of a Fund under the IPEV guidelines and the fair value and unit of account of these
entities is their net asset values. There were no adjustments to the subsidiaries’ net asset values in the year.

We determine that in the ordinary course of business, the net asset values of investment entity subsidiaries are considered to be the

most appropriate to determine fair value. At each reporting period, we consider whether any additional fair value adjustments need to

be made ta the net asset values of the Investment entity subsidiaries. These adjustments may be required to reflect market participants’
considerations about fair value that may include, but are not limited to, liquidity and the portfolio effect of holding multiple investments
within the investment entity subsidiary. There was no particular circumstance to indicate that a fair value adjustment was required and after
due consideration we conciuded that the net asset values were the most appropriate reflection of fair value at 31 March 2018.

Group Group

2018 2017

Non-current £m fm
Qpening fair value 3,483 2,680
Net cash flow from investment entity subsidiaries (430} {248)
Fair value movements on investment entity subsidiaries 848 1.041
Transfer of assets from investment entity subsidianes 133 3
Closing fair value 4,034 3.483

All investment entity subsidiaries are classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, see Note 12 for details.

A 5% mavement in the closing book value of investments in Investment entities would have an impact of £202 million
(31 March 2017: £174 million).

Restrictions

3i Group ple, the ulumate parent company, receives dividend income from its subsidiaries. There are no restrictions on the ability to transfer
funds from these subsidiaries to the Group except for a cash balance of £85 million (31 March 2017: £56 million) held on escrow in investment
entity subsidiaries for carried interest payabla.

Support

3i Group ple continues to provide, where necessary, ongoing support to its investment entity subsidiaries for the purchase of portifolio
investments. During the year, there were net cash flows to the Group as noted in the tabie above. The Group's current commitments are
disclosed in Note 24.
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Audited financial statements

Notes to the accounts
continued

12 Fair values of assets and liabilities

Accounting policy:

Financial instruments, other than those heid at amortised cost, are held at fair value and are designated irrevocably at inception.

In parucular, 3i designates groups of financial instruments as being at fair value when they are managed, and their performance evaluated,
on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strateqgy, and where information about the groups
of financial instruments is reported tc management on that basis.

(A) Classification

The following tables analyse the Group's assets and liabilities in accordance with the categories of financial instruments in I1AS 39

Group Group Group Group
2018 2018 2017 207
Designated Cther Designated Other
at fair value financial at far value financial
through instruments Group through instrumants Group
profit and at amortised 2018 prafit and at amortised 2017
less cost Total loss cost Total
£m £m £m £m fm fm
Assets )
Quoted investments 345 - 345 390 - 390
Unguoted investments 1,751 - 1,751 1,316 - 1.316
Investments in investment entities , 4,034 - 4,034 3483 - 3,483
Other financial assets - 653 453 - 425 425
Total 6,130 653 6,783 5189 425 5,614
Liabilities
Loans and borrowings - 575 575 - 575 575
Other financial liabilities — 261 261 - 274 274
Total - 836 836 — 849 849
Company Company Company Company
2018 2018 2017 2017
Designated Other Designated Cther
at fair value financial at fair value financal
through Instruments. Company throgugh instruments. Company
profit and at amortised 2018 profitand at amorused 2017
loss cost Total loss cast Total
£m £fm £m £fm £m im
Assets
Quoted invastments 345 - 345 390 - 390
Unquoted investments 1,751 - 1,751 1,295 - 1,295
Other financial assets - 564 564 - 384 384
Total 2,096 564 2,660 1,685 384 2,069
Liabilities
Loans and borrowings - 575 575 - 575 575
Other financial liabilities - 527 527 - 522 522
Total - 1,102 1,102 — 1,097 1,097

Within the Company £4,045 millian (31 March 2017: £3,483 million) of the Interest in Group entities is held at fair value.
{B) Valuation

The fair values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities, not held at fair value, are not materiatly different from their carrying values with the
axception of loans and borrowings, The fair value of the loans and borrowings is £718 million (31 March 2017: £741 million), determined with
reference to their published market prices. The carrying value of the loans and borrowings is £575 million (31 March 2017: £575 million) and
accrued interest payable (included within trade and other payables) is £8 million (31 March 2017: £8 miliian;.
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12 Fair values of assets and liabilities continued

Valuation hierarchy

The Group classifies financial instruments measured at fair value in the investment portfolio according to the following hierarchy:

Level Fair value input description Financial instruments
Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) from active markets Quoted equity instruments
Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable Fixed rate loan notes
either directly {ie as prices) or indirectly (ie derived from prices)
Level 3 Inputs that are not based on observable market data Unquoted equity instruments and loan instruments

Unquoted equity instruments and debt instruments are measured in accordance with the IPEV Guidelines with reference te the most
appropriate information available at the time of measurement. Further information regarding the valuation of unqueted equity instruments
can be found in the section Portfolio valuation - an explanation on pages 150 and 151

The tables below show the dassification of financial instruments held at fair value into the valuation hierarchy at 31 March 2018:

Group Group Group Group Group Group Group Group
2018 2013 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017 207
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Leve! 3 Total
£m £m £m £m fm £m £m fm
Assets

Quoted investments 345 - - 345 390 - - 390
Unguoted investments - - 1,751 1,751 - - 1,314 1,316

Investments in investment
entity subsidiaries - - 4,034 4,034 - - 3,483 3,483
Total 345 - 5,785 6,130 390 — 4,799 5,189

The above disclosure only relates to the investment portfolio and the investments in our investment entity subsidiaries. We determine that
in the ordinary course of business, the net asset values of an investment entity subsidiary are considered to be the most appropriate to

determine fair value. The underlying portfolio is valued under the same methodology as directly held investments, with any other assets or
Iiabilities within investment entity subsidiaries fair valued in accordance with the Group's accounting policies. Note 11 details the Directors’
considerations about the fair value of the underlying investment entity subsidiaries.

Mavements in the directly held investment portfolio categorised as Level 3 during the year:

Group Group Company Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

£m £m £m fm

Opening book value 1,316 1,243 1,295 1,103
Additions from continuing operations 481 213 481 228
— of which loan notes with nil value - [ale - {10}
Additions from discontinued operations - 70 - 18
Disposals, repayments and write-offs from continuing operations {315) (292) (293) {288)
Disposals, repayments and write-offs from discontinued operations - (191} - 24)
Fair value movement from continuing cperations' 346 224 346 218
Fair value movement from discontinued cperations - 3 - -
Other movements and net cash movements from continuing operations? 77 75 (78) &9
Other movements and net cash movements from discontinued operations? - {19 - (19)
Closing book value 1,751 1,316 1,751 1,295

1 Allfar value moverments relate to assets held at the end of the pernioa

2 Other movements include the impact of foreign exchange and the transter of ar investmert to an investrrent entity subsidiary.

3i Group Annual report and accounts 2018

SJUSWBIEIE
|etaueuy pelphy



Audited financial statements

Notes to the accounts
continued

12 Fair values of assets and liabilities continued

On a continuing basis, unquoted investments valued using Level 3 inputs also had the following impact on the Consciidated statement of
comprehensive income: realised profits over value on disposal of investment of £14 mitlion {2017: realised loss of £26 million), dividend inceme
of £13 million (2017: £24 million) and foreign exchange losses of £12 million (2017 foreign exchange gains of £63 million).

Level Jinputs are sensitive to assumptions made when ascertaining fair value as described in the Portfolio valuation — an explanation section.
On an IFRS basis, of assets held at 31 March 2018, classified as Level 3, 40% (31 March 2017. 33%) were valued using a multiple of earnings
and the remaining 40% (3t March 2017: 47%) were valued using alternative valuation methodolegies. Of the underlying portfclio held by
investment entity subsidiaries, 95% (31 March 2017: 96%) were valued using a multiple of earnings and the remaining 5% (31 March 2017: 4%)
were valued using alternative valuation methodolagies.

Assets move between Level 1 and Level 3 when an unguoted equity investment lists on a quoted market exchange. There were no transfers in
or out of Level 3 during the year.

Valuation multiple — The valuation muitiple is the main assumption applied to a multiple of earnings based valuation. The multiple is derived
from comparable listed companies or relevant market transaction multiples. Companies in the same industry and geography and, where
possible, with a similar business model and profile are selected and then adjusted for factors including liquidity risk, growth potential and
relative performance. They are also adjusted to represent our longer term view of performance through the cycle or our exit assumptions.

The value weighted average post discount earnings multiple used when valuing the portfolio at 31 March 2018 was 11.7x (31 March 2017: 10.2x).

if the multiple used to value each unguoted investment valued on an earnings multiple basis as at 31 March 2018 decreased by 5%, the
investmant portfolio would decrease by £43 miflion (31 March 2017: £18 million) or 2% (31 March 2017. 13%). If the same sensitivity was applied to
the underlying portfolio held by investment entity subsidiarias, this would have a negative impact of £270 million (31 March 2017: £224 million)
or 6% (31 March 2017: 6%).

If the tnultiple increased by 5% then the investment portfolio would increase by £35 million (31 March 2017: £14 million) or 2% (31 March
2017: 19%). f the same sensitivity was applied to the underlying portfolic held by investment entity subsidiaries, this would have a positive
impact of £260 million (31 March 2017: £215 million) or 6% (31 March 2017: 5%).

Alternative valuation methodologies — There are a number of alternative investment valuation methodologies used by the Group, for
reasons specific to individual assets. The details of such valuation methodologies, and inputs that are used, are given in the Portfolio valuation
— an explanation section on pages 150 and 151.

Each methodology is used for a proportion of assets by vatue, and at year end the following techniques were used under an IFRS basis:
5% DCF {31 March 2017: 41%), nil broker quotes (31 March 2017: 4%), 45% imminent sale (31 March 2017; 2%), 7% industry metric (31 March
2017 10%) and 3% other {31 March 2017 10%).

If the value of all of the investments valued under alternative methodologies moved by 5%, this would have an impact on the investment

portfolio of £53 million (31 March 2017; £44 millicn) or 3% (31 March 2017: 3%). if the same sensitivity was applied to the underlying portfolio
held by investment entity subsidiaries, this would have an impact of £10 million (31 March 2017: £7 million} or 0.3% (31 March 2017: 0.2%).

13 Carried interest and performance fees receivable

Accounting pelicy:

The Group earns a share of profits (“carried interest and performance fees receivable”) from funds which it manages on behalf of third
parties. These profits are earned when the funds meet certain performance conditions.

Carried interest and performance fees receivable include amounts receivabie from Private Equity and Infrastructure. Each scheme is
separately reviewed at the balance sheet date, and an accrual for carried interest receivable is made once the performance conditions
would be achieved if the remaining assets in that fund were realised at fair value.

Fair value of the assets is determined using the Group's valuation methodology and is measured at the balance sheet date. An accrual is
made equal to the Group's share of profits in excess of the performance conditions, taking into account the cash already returned to fund
investors and the fair value of assets remaining in the fund.

The perfarmance fee receivable from 3iN is based on 3iN's most recently published NAY subject to a performance hurdle and a high
water mark.
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13 Carried interest and performance fees receivable continued

Group Group Company Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
£m fm £m im
Opening carried interest and perfarmance fees receivable 363 17 359 87
Carried interest and performance fees receivable recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income during the year from continuing operations 228 280 183 276
Carried interest and performance fees receivable recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income during the year from discontinued operations - 1 - 4
Cash received in the year from continuing cperations ()] {35) 4) 14}
Cash received in the year from discontinued operations - () - th
Carried interest receivable transferred with discontinued operations - &) - -
Other movernents' 6 9 4 7
Closing carried interest and performance fees receivable 591 363 542 359
Of which: receivable in greater than one year 498 354 539 358

1 Qther -ncludes the impact of foreign exchange

A 5% mavement in the valuation of all individual assets in the underlying nvestment portfolic would result in a £22 million movement in the
carried interest receivable balance. As there is only £5 million of carried interest receivable included within investment entity subsidiaries, there

is no material difference when carried interest receivabie within investment entity subsidiaries is included.

14 Carried interest and performance fees payable

Accounting policy:

The Group offers investment executives the cpportunity to participate in the returns from investments subject to certain performance
conditions. “Carried interest and performance fees payable” is the term used for amounts payable to executives on these investment-

related transactions,

A variety of asset paoling arrangements are in place so that executives may have an interest in one or more carried interest plans.

Carried interest payable is accrued if its perfarmance conditions, measured at the balance sheet date, would be achieved if the remaining
assets in that plan were realised at fair value. An accrual is made equal to the executive’s share of profits in excess of the performance
conditions in place in the carried interest plan, discounted to reflect the likely actual cash payment date, which may be materially later than
the time of the accryal.

The Infrastructure performance fee is accrued based on the expected award. A significant propartion of the amount awarded is deferred
over time and may bie granted in either 3i Group plc or 3i Infrastructure ple shares. This is recegnised over the vesting peried in line with the
requirements of IFRS 2 or IAS 19 depending on the type of award.

Under {FRS 10, where carried interest payable reduces the fair value of an investment entity subsidiary, that movement is recorded through
“Fair value movements on investment entity subsidiaries”. At 31 March 2018, £710 million of carried interest payable was recognised in the
Consolidated statement of financial position of these investment entity subsidiaries (31 March 2017 £538 million).
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Audited financial statements

Notes to the accounts
continued

14 Carried interest and performance fees payable continued

Graup Group

2018 2017

£m fm

Opening carried interest and performance fees payable 147 105
Carried interest and perfarmance fees payable recognised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive

income during the year from continuing operations’ 19 98
Carried interest and performance fees payable recognised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive

income during the year from discontinued operations - -

Cash paid in the year from continuing operations 40) (25)

Cash paid in the year from digcontinued operations - (2}

Carried interest payable transferred with discontinued operations - 3

Other movements? 34 (26)

Closing carried interest and performance fees payable 160 147

Of which: payable in greater than one year 105 124

1 Tne carty payable charge in the table above does not include £13 million (2017 £10 millior} d with the share-b d payment charge ansing from refated carry schemas The totsl

carngd interest and performance fee payable recogmsed in the Consohdated statement of camprehensive income 1s £32 millian (2017- £108 million). See Note 27 Share-based payments
for further details

2 Other includes the impact of foreign exchange and a wransfer from trade 2nd other payables

A 5% increase in the valuation of all individual assets in the underlying investment pertfolia (including those portfolio investments held by
investment entity subsidiaries) would result in a £4 million increase in carried interest payable. Inciuding carried interest payable recognised in
investment entity subsidiaries it would result in a £45 million increase.

A 5% decrease in the valuation of all of individual assets in the underlying investment portfolio would result in a £4 million decrease in carried
interest payable. Including carried interest payable recognised in investment entity subsidiaries it would result in a £35 million decrease.

15 Other assets

Accounting policy:

Assets, other than those specifically accounted for under a separate policy, are stated at their cost less impairment losses. They are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment_ I any such indication exists, the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated based on expected discounted future cash flows. Any change in the level of impairment is recognised
directly in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Group Group Company Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

£m £m £m fm

Prepayments 3 2 - -
Other debtors 59 60 21 24
Amounts due from subsidianes - - 1 1
Total other assets 62 62 22 25
Of which: receivable in greater than one year 28 50 20 21

At 31 March 2018, there were no amaunts that were past due or impaired for the Group or the Company (31 March 2017: nil for the Group or
the Company).
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16 Loans and borrowings

Accounting policy:

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration receved. After initiat recognition, these are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash flows through the expected life of the liabilities. Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished.

[spuEUY peYpIY

Group Group
2018 2017
£m fm
Loans and borrowings are repayable as follows:
Within one year - -
Between the second and fifth year 200 -
Afrar five years 375 575
575 575
Principat barrowings include:
Group Group Company Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
Rate Maturity £m im £m fm
Issued under the £2,000 million note "
issuance programme &
Fixed rate S
£200 million notes {public issue) 46.875% 2023 200 20C 200 200 z
£375 million notes (public issue) 5.750%, 2032 375 375 375 375
575 575 575 575
Committed multi-currency facilities
£350 million LIBOR+0.60% 2021 - - - -
Total loans and borrowings 575 575 575 575

There has been no change in total financing iiabilities for the Group or the Company during the year as the cash flows relating to the financing
ligbilities are equal to the income statement expense. Accordingly, no reconciliation between the mavement in financing liabilities and the
cash flow statement has been presented.

The maturity of the Company's £350 million (31 March 2017: £329 miilion) syndicated multi-currency facility is September 2021. The £350 miillion
facility has no financial covenants.

Alt of the Group's borrawings are repayable in one instalment on the respective maturity dates. None of the Group's interest-bearing loans
and borrowings are secured on the assets of the Group.

The fair value of the loans and borrowings is £718 millian {31 March 2017: £741 million), determined with reference to their published market
prices. The ioans and borrowings are included in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

In accordance with the FCA Handbook {FUNDS 3.2.2. R and Fund 3.2.6. R), 3i Investments plc, as AIFM of the Company is required to calculate
leverage in accordance with a set formula and disclose this to investors. In line with this formula, leverage for the Group is 111% (31 March
2017: 115%) and the Company is 105% (31 March 2017: 107%) under both the gross method and the commitment method. The leverage for

3i Investments plc is 100% (31 March 2017: 100%) under bath the grass method and the commitment method.

Under the Securities Financing Transactions Regulation ("SFTR™) and AIFMD, 3i is required to disclose certain informatian relating to the use of
securities financing transactions {"SFTs"} and total return swaps. At 31 March 2018, 3i was not party to any transactions involving SFTs or total
return swaps.
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17 Provisions

Accounting policy:

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation of uncertain timing or amount as a result of past events and it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate of that obligation can be made. The provisions are
measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the amount to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date and are discounted to present
value if the effect is material. Changes in provisions are recognised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Graup Group Group Group

2018 2018 2018 2018

Property Redundancy  Restructuring Total

£m £m £m £m

Opening balance 3 3 - ]
Charge for the year - - - -
Utilised in the year {1 (3} - {4}
Closing balance 2 - - 2

Of which: payable in greater than one year 1 - - 1
Group Group Group Group

2037 2017 207 2017

Property Redundancy Restructuring Total

£fm £m fm fm

Opening balance 2 5 1 8
Charge for the year 1 2 - 3
Utilised in the year - ) )] 5
Closing balance 3 3 - 6
Of which: payable in greater than one year 2 - - 2

The provision for redundancy related to staff reductions communicated prior to 31 March 2017. The provision was fully utilised during the year.

The Group has 2 number of leasehold properties whose rent and unavoidable costs exceed the economic benefits expected to be received.
These costs arise over the period of the lease, and have been provided for to the extent they are not covered by income from subleases.
The leases covered by the provision have a remaining term of up to two years. The property provision alsc includes an estimate of the costs
required to restore leased property te its original condition at the end of the lease term.

18 Trade and other payables

Accounting policy:

Liabilities, other than those specifically accounted for under & separate policy, are stated based on the amounts which are considered to be
payable in respect of goods or services received up to the balance sheet date.

Graup Group Company Company

2018 2017 2018 207

£m fm £m fm

Amounts due to subsidiaries - - 519 477
Trade and other payables 101 127 8 29
Tatal trade and other payables 101 127 527 506
Of which: payable in greater than one year 1 24 - -
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19 Issued capital

Accounting policy:

Ordinary shares issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds or fair value received with the excess of the amount received over
nominal value being credited to the share premium account. Direct issue costs net of tax are deducted from equity.

2018 2018 2007 2017
Issued and fully paid Number £m Number £rn
Ordinary shares of 73'%:p
Opening balance 972,808,424 719 972661444 M9
lssued on exercise of share opticns and under employee share plans 88,582 - 144,980 —
Closing balance 972,897,006 719 972,808,424 719

The Company issued 88,582 ordinary shares to the Trustee of the 3i Group Share Incentive Plan for a total cash consideration of £809,378 at
various prices frem 799.50 pence to 953.50 pence per share (being the market prices on the issue dates which were the last trading day of each
manth in the year). These shares were ordinary shares with no additional rights attached to them and had a total nominal value of £65,430.

20 Own shares

Accounting policy:

Own shares are recorded by the Group when ordinary shares are acquired by the Campany or by The 3i Group Emgloyee Benefit Trust.
Own shares are deducted from shareholders' equity. A transfer is made tc retained earnings at their weighted average cost in kine with the
vesting of awn shares held for the purposes of share-based payments. The number of own shares held by the Trust and the schemes are
described in Note 27.

2018 2017

£fm £m

Opening cost 33 54
Awards granted and exercised (12) (e
Closing cost 26 38

21 Capital structure

The capital structure of the Group consists of shareholders’ equity and net debt or cash. The type and maturity of the Group's borrowings are
analysed further in Note 16. Capital 1s managed with the abjective of maximising long-term return to shareholders, whilst maintaining a capital
base to allow the Group to operate effectively in the marketplace and sustain the future development of the business.

Group Group Company Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
£m £m £m £m
Cash and depaosits 972 L2 939 927
Borrowings and derivative financial liabilities {575) (575} (575} {575)
Net cash' 397 396 364 352
Total equity 7,024 5,836 6,609 5,441
Gearing (net dett/total equity) nil nil nil nil

t The above numbers have been prepared under IFRS and differ from the Investment basis as detailed in the Strateqic report

Capital constraints

The Group is generally free to transfer capital fram subsidiary undertakings to the parent company subject to maintaining each subsidiary with
sufficient reserves to meet local statutory/regulatory obligations. Na significant constraints (apart from those shown in Note 11) have been
identified and the Group has beer able to distribute profits as appropriate.

The Group's regulated capital requirement is reviewed regularly by the Board of 3i Investments plc, an investment firm regulated by the FCA,
and the Group's Audit and Compliance Committee. in addition, the Groug's Internal Capital Adeguacy Assessment Process (ICAAF) report is
updated as appropriate and reviewed by the Board of 3i Investments plc and the Audit and Compliance Committee. The Group complies with
the Individual Capital Guidance as agreed with the FCA and operates with a significant consclidated regulatory capital surplus, well in excess
of the FCA's nrugdential ruies, The Groun's Pillar 3 disclasure decument can be found on www.3i.com.
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22 Interests in Group entities

Accounting policy:

The Cempany has controlling equity interests in, and makes loans to, both consolidated and fair valued Group entities. Investment entities
are all held at fair value and al! other subsidiaries are held at cost less impairment in the Company’s accounts. The net assets of these
entities are deemed to represent fair value.

Company

2018 Company Company

Equity 2018 2018

investrments Loans Total

£m £m £m

Opening book value 2,139 1,403 3,542
Additions 23 351 384
Share of profits from partnership entities - 532 532
Disposals and repayments {7) (792) 799)
Fair value movements 262 180 442
Exchange movements - 11 jil
Closing book value 2417 1,695 412

Company

2017 Company Company

Equity 2017 2017

investments Loans Total

£m fm fm

Opening book value 1,240 1,608 2,848
Additions 93 405 498
Share of profits from partnership entities - 373 373
Disposals and repayments {12) (1,139 {1,157)
Fair value movernents 818 43 881
Exchange movements - 93 73
Closing book value 2139 1,403 3,542

Details of significant Group entities are given in Note 30.
23 Operating leases
Accounting policy:

The Group leases its office space. Future minimum payments due under non-cancellable operating lease rentals are shown in the table
belaw. The Company held no operating leases during the year.

Leases as lessee

Group Group

2018 2017

£m £m

Within one year 5 7
Between the second and fifth year 18 17
After five years 9 13
32 3?

The Group leases a number of its offices under operating leases. None of the leases include contingent rentals.

During the year to 31 March 2018, £4 million (2017: £5 million) was recogrised as an expense in the Consclidated statement of comprehensive
income in respect of operating leases. There was nil impact (2017: nil} on the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income in respect of
subleases, as the difference between future lease and subiease cbligations was already previded for in pricr years {refer to Note 17). The total
future sublease payments expected to be received under nan-cancelizble subleases are £1 million (2017 £3 mitlion).
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24 Commitments

Accounting policy:

Commitments represent amounts the Group has contractually committed to pay third parties but do not yetrepresent a
charge or asset. This gives an indication of committed future cash flows. Commitments at the year end do not impact the
Group's financial results for the year.

Group . Group
Group 2018 Group Group 2017 Group
2018 due 2018 2017 due 2017
due betwesn due Group due between due Group
within 2 and over 2018 within 2 and over 2017
1 year 5 years 5 years Total 1 year Syears Syears Total
£m £m fm £m fm £m £m £m
Equity and loan investments 1466 1 - 167 393 2 - 395
Company Company
Company 2018 Company Compary 2017 Company
2018 due 2018 2017 due 2017
due between due Company due betwean due Company
within 2 and over 2018 within 2and aver 2017
1 year 5 years 5 ymars Total 1 year Syears Syears Totai
£m £m £m fm £m fm £m fm
Equity and loan investments 85 1 - 86 150 2 - 192 2
- 0.
The amounts shown above include £135 million and £54 million of commitments made by the Group and Company respectively, to invest in £F
one Private Equity company (31 March 2017: £272 million and £109 million in two companies). The Group and Company were contractuaily ] %
committed to this investment as at 31 March 2018, and it completed on 3 April 2018. “ E
[
=

Cperating lease commitments are detailed in Note 23.
25 Contingent liabilities

Accounting policy:

Contingent liabilities are potential liabilities where there is even greater uncertainty, which could include a dependency on events not
within the Group's control, but where there is a possible obligation. Contingent liabilities are only disclosed and not included within the
Cansolidated statement of financial position.

The Company has provided a guarantee to the Trustees of the 3i Group Pensicn Flan in respect of liabilities of 3i plc to the Plan. 3iplcis

the sponsor of the 3i Group Pensicn Plan. On 4 April 2012, the Company transferred eligibte assets {£150 million of ordinary shares in 3i
Infrastructure plc) as defined by the agreement to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The Company will retain all income and capital
rights in relation to the 31 Infrastructure plc shares, as eligible assets, unless the Company becomes insolvent or fails to comply with material
obligations in relation to the agreement with the Trustees, all of which are under its control. The fair value of eligible assets held by this
subsidiary at 31 March 2018 was £237 million (31 March 2017 £265 million). As part of the latest triennial valuation of the Plan, the Company
has agreed to pay up to £50 million to the Plan if the Group's gearing increases above 20%, grass debt above £1 billion or net assets fall below
£2 billion. In addition, if the gearing, gross debt or net assets limits noted are reached, the Graup may also be required to increase

the potential cover provided by the contingent asset arrangement until the gearing, gross debt or net assets improve

At 31 March 2018, there was nc material litigation outstanding against the Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings.
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26 Retirement benefits

Accounting policy:

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged to the Consolidated statement of comprehansive income as they
fall due.

For defined benefit retirement plans, the cost of providing benefits 1s determined using the projected unit method with actuarial valuations
being carried out at each balance sheet date. Interest on the net defined benefit asset/liability, calculated using the discount rate used to
measure the defined benefit obligation, is recagnised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Re-measurement gains or
losses are recognised in full as they arise in other comprehensive income.

A retirement benefit deficit is recagnised in the Consclidated statement of financial position to the extent that the present value of the
defined benefit abligations exceeds the fair value of plan assets.

A retirement benefit surplus is recognised in the Consolidated statement of financial position where the fair value of plan assets exceads
the present value of the defined benefit abligations limited to the extent that the Group can benefit from that surplus.

Retirement benefit plans

(i) Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a number of defined contribution retirement benefit plans for gualifying emplcyees throughout the Group. The assets
of these plans are held separately from those of the Group. The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in France are members of a state
managed retirement benefit plan operated by the country’s government. 3i Europe pic’s French branch is required to contribute a specific
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund these benefits.

The total expense racognised in the Consclidated statement of comprehensive income is £3 millien (2017: £3 million), which represents the
contributions paid to these defined contribution plans. There were no outstanding payments due to these plans at the balance sheet date.

{ii) Defined benefit plans

The Group operates a final salary defined benefit plan for qualifying employees of its subsidiaries in the UK {"the Plan"). The Plan is approved
by HMRC for tax purposes and is operated separately from the Group and managed by an independent set of Trustees, whose appointment
and powers are determined by the Plan's documentation.

Membership of the Plan has not been offered to new employees joining 3i since 1 April 2006, The Plan was closed to the future accrual of
benefits by members with effect from 5 April 2014, although the final salary link is maintained on existing accruals. Members of the Plan have
been invited to join the Group's defined contribution plan with effact from 6 April 2011. The defined benefit plan is a funded scheme, the
assets of which are independent of the Company's finances and are administered by the Trustees. The Trustees are responsible for managing
and investing the Pian’s assets and for monitoring the Plan’s funding position. As the Plan is new closed to future accrual, measures have been
taken to de-risk the Plan, including through changes ta its investment policy.

The valuation of the Plan has been updated on an I1AS 19 basis by an independent qualified actuary as at 31 March 2018.

Employees in Germany and Spain are entitled to a pension based on their length of service. The future liability calculated by German

and Spanish actuaries is £24 million (31 March 2017: £23 mitlion). The Spanish branch of 3i Europe plc cantribiutes to individual investment
policies for its employees and has agreed to indemnify any shortfall on an employee’s investrent policy should it arise. The total value of
these investment policies intended to cover pension liabilities is £1 million (31 March 2017: £1 million). There was no expense (2017: £1 million
expense) recognised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year and a £1 million loss {2017: nil) in other
comprehensive income for these schemes.

The amount recognised in the Consolidated statement of financial position in respect of the Group’s defined benefit plans is as follows:

2018 2017

£fm fm

Present value of funded obligations 782 869
Fait value of the Plan assets {975) {1,055}
Asset restriction 438 45
Retirement benefit surplus in respect of the Plan {125) {121)
Retiremnent benefit deficit in respect of other defined benefit schemes 23 22

A retirament benefit surplus is recagnised in respect of the Plan on the basis that the Group is entitled to a refund of any remaining surplus
once all benefits have been settled in the expected course. The asset restriction relates to tax that would be deducted at source in respect of
arefund of the Plan surplus
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26 Retirement benefits continued

The amounts recognised in the Consolidated staternent of comprehensive income in respect of the Plan are as follows:

2018 2017
£m £m

Included in interest payable
Interest income on net defined benefit asset - 3)
Included in other income
Reduction in past service cost - ©
Included in other comprehensive income
Re-measurement (gain)/loss {2) 30
Asset restriction 1 (8}
Total re-measurement {gain)/loss and asset restriction {1} 22
Total {1} 13

The total re-measurement loss recognised in other comprehensive income is nil {2017: £22 million). There was a £1 million loss on our overseas

schemes {2017: nil), as noted above.

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation were as follows:

2018 2017
fm fm
Opening defined benefit obligation 869 789
Interest on Plan liabilities 20 26
Re-measurement {gain)/loss:
- gain froam change in demographic assumgptions {5) -
—loss from change in financial assumptions 5 210
— experience gains 3 (31)
Benefits paid {104) {119}
Reduction in past service costs - ]
Closing defined benefit obligation 782 869
Changes in the fair value of the Plan assets were as follows:
2018 2017
£m fm
Opening fair value of the Plan assets 1,055 992
Interest on Plan assets 22 32
Actual return an Plan assets less interest on Plan assets in 149
Emplayer contributions ) 3 1
Benefits paid {104} (119}
Closing fair value of the Plan assets 975 1,055
Contributions paid to the Plan are related party transactions as defined by IAS 24 Related party transactions.
The fair value of the Plan's assets at the balance sheet date is as follows:
2014 2017
£m fm
Equities : 150 237
Corporate bonds 160 150
Gilts 474 474
Annuity contract 174 182
Other 17 12
975 1,055
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26 Retirement benefits continued

The Plan's assets are predominantly invested with Legal and General Investment Management in quoted and liquid funds. The annuity
contract is provided by Pension Insurance Corporation as a resuft of a buy-in transaction completed by the 3i Pension Plan Trustees during
FY2017. The buy-in, which is a bulk annuity purchase, reduces member longevity risk for those pensioners covered while improving investment
returns over the assets used to fund the purchase. This contract provides an exact match for the member benefits insured and covers twe in
five pensioners. The fair value of the insurance policy is calculated using the same assumptions and methodclegy as used to calculate the
value of the pension liability as at 31 March 2018.

The Plan's assets do not include any of the Group's own equity instruments nor any property in use by the Group.

Changes in the asset restriction were as follows:

2018 2017

£Em £m

Opening asset restriction &5 i
Interest on asset restriction 2 2
Re-measurements 1 (8)
Closing asset restriction 68 65

The principal assumptions made by the actuaries and used for the purpase of the year end valuation of the Plan were as follows:

2018 2017
Discount rate 2.5% 2.5%
Expected rate of salary increases 5.8% 58%
Expected rate of pension increases 0% to3.4% 0%ta34%
Retail Price Index {RP) inflation 3.3% 3%
Consumer Price Index (CPI) inflation 2.3% 2.3%

In addition, it is assumed that members exchange 25% of pension for lump sum at retirement on the conversion terms in place at 31 March
2018 with an allowance for the terms to increase in future. The duration of the Plan's defined benefit obligation at the accounting date was
around 21 years.

The post-retirement mortality assumption used to value the benefit obligation at 31 March 2018 is 80% of the SZNA Light tables allowing

for improverments in line with the CMI 2015 core projections with a long-term annual rate of improvement of 1.75% (31 March 2017: 80% of
STNA Light tables allowing for improvements in line with the CMI 2012 core projections with a fong-term annual rate of improvement of
1.5%). The life expectancy of a male member reaching age 60 in 2038 (31 March 2017: 2037} is projected to be 34.0 (31 March 2017 33.7) years
compared to 31.3 (31 March 2017: 31.4) years for someone reaching 40 in 2018.

The sensitivity of the defined benefit surplus to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is:

Impact on retirement benefit surplus

Change in assumption 2018 2017
Discount rate Decrease by 0.1% Decrease by £9 million  Decrease by £10 million
Retail Price Index (RPY) inflation Increase by 01% Decrease by £8 million Decrease by £7 million
Life expectancy Increase by 1 year Decrease by £17 million  Decrease by £13 million

The above sensitivity analysis is based on changing one assumption whilst all athers remain constant. In practice this is unlikely to occur
and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.
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26 Retirement benefits continued
Through its defined benefit plan the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:

Asset volatility Adfall in the value of the Plan’s assets may reduce the value of the defined benefit surplus and could affect the future
funding requirements. To reduce the volatility of the Plan's assets, the Trustees have implemented an investment
strategy that reduces the Plan’s equity holdings by switching them to bonds over time. The Plan’s assets are aiso
diversified across different asset classes and during FY2017 it purchased an annuity contract that is an exact match
for a proporticn of the Plan's liabllities.

Changaes in bond yields A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the Plan's IAS 19 defined benefit obligation. However, the Plan
holds a proportion of its assets in corporate bonds and so any increase in the defined benefit obligation would
be partially offset by an increase in the value of the Plan’s assets.

Inflation risk The Plan's defined benefit obligations are linked to inflation, and higher inflation will tead to higher liabilities.
The majority of the Plan’s assets are either unaffected by or only loosely correlated with inflation, meaning that
an increase in inflation could reduce or eliminate the defined benefit surplus.

Life expectancy The Plan’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the members, so increases in life expectancy will result
in an increase in the Ptan’s defined benefit obligation.

As the Plan was closed to future accrual of benefits by members with effect from 5 April 2011, the Group ceased to make regular contributions
to the Plan in the year to 31 March 2012,

The latest triennial valuation for the Flan was completed on 25 September 2017, based on the position at 30 June 2016. The cutcome was an
actuarial deficit of £50 miltion. This valuation is produced for funding purposes and is calculated on a different basis to the IAS 19 valuation
net asset of £125 million which is shown in the Note above. The actuarial funding valuation is as at 30 June 2016 and considers expected
future returns on the Plan’s assets against the expected liabilities, using a more prudent set of assumptions. The |AS 19 accounting valuation
compares the 31 March 2018 fair value of plan assets and liabilities, with the liabilities calculated based on the expected future payments
discounted using AA corporate bond yields.

As part of the triennial valuation it was agreed that it was not necessary for the Group to make any immediate contributions to the Plan, taking
into account the valatile market conditions at the valuation date (immediately after the UK's referendurn to leave the EU), and improvements

in market canditions and liability management actions implemented since then. The Group has agreed to pay up te £50 million to the Plan

if its gearing increases above 20%, gross debt exceeds £1 billion, or net assets fall below £2 billion. The Plan also benefits from a contingent
asset arrangement, details of which are provided in Note 25. If the gearing, net debt or net asset limits noted are reached, the Group may be
required to increase the potential cover provided by the contingent arrangement until the gearing, gross debt or net assets improve. The next
triennial funding valuation will be based on the Plan’s positien as at 30 June 2019

27 Share-based payments

Accounting policy:

The Group has equity-settled and cash-settled share-bhased payment transactions with certain employees. Equity-settied schemes are
measured at fair value at the date of grant, which is then recognised in the Consolidated staterment of comprehensive income over the
period that employees provide services, generally the period between the start of performance period and the vesting date of the shares.
The number of share awards expected to vest takes into account the likelihood that performance and services conditions included in the
terms of the award will be met.

Fair value 15 measured by use of an appropriate model which takes intc account the exercise price of the option {if any), the current share
price, the risk-free interest rate, the expected volatility of the share price over the life of the option and any other relevant factors. In valuing
equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditians, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of 3i Group
ple. The charge is adjusted at each balance sheet date to reflect the actual number of forfeitures, cancellations and leavers during the year.
The movement in cumulative charges since the previous balance sheet is recognised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, with a corresponding entry in equity.

Liabilities arising from cash-settled share-based payment transactions are recognised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive
Income over the vesting period. They are fair valued at each reporting date. The cost of cash-settled share-based payment transactions is
adjusted for the forfeitures of the participants’ rights that no longer meet the plan requirements as well as for early vesting.

Share-based payments are in certain circurmstances made in lieu of annual cash bonuses or carried interest payments. The cost of the
share-based payments is allocated either to operating expenses (bonuses) or carried interest depending on the original driver of the
award. Executive Director Long-Term Incentives are allocated to operating expenses.
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27 Share-based payments continued

The total cost recogrised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income is shown below:

2018 2017

£m £m

Share awards included as operating expenses' ? 8 n
Share awards included as carried interest' 9 7
Cash-settled share awards included within discontinued operations - 2
Cash-settled share awards? 8 5
25 25

1 Credited to equ-ty.
2 For the year ended 31 March 2018, £5 million 15 shown in Nate 5 (2017 £7 million}, which is net of a £3 milion (2017: £4 milhon) release from the banus accrual
3 Recogrised in operating expenses and/or carried interest

The features of the Group's share schemes for Executive Directors are described in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 73 to 82.

To ensure that employees’ interests are aligned with shareholders, a significant amount of variable compensation paid to higher earning
employees s deferred into shares that vest over a number of years. For legal, regulatory or practical reasons certain participants may be
granted “phantorn awards” under these schemes, which are intended to replicate the financial effects of a share award without entitling the
participant to acquire shares, The carrying amount of liabilities arising from share-based payment transactions at 31 March 2018 is £10 million
(31 March 2017 £6 miltion).

For the share-based awards granted during the year, the weighted average fair value of those options at 31 March 2018 was 753 pence
{31 March 2017: 436 pence),

The main assumptions for the valuation of certain share-based awards with market conditions attached comprised:

Expected
. Share price Exercise Expected opton Iife Dividend Risk free
Vsluation methodology atissue price volatility in years yield Interest rate
Mante Carle model 16p - 26% 3 - 0.25%
Black Scholes FJp - 31% 05-4 28% 1.27%

Expected volatility was determined by reviewing share price volatility for the expected life of each option up to the date of grant.

Movements in share awards

The number of share-based awards outstanding as at 31 March are as follows:

2018 2017

Number Number

Outstanding at the start of the year 40,113,875 11,653,772
Granted 1,957,521 3,929,354
Exercised (3,907,971} (5,360,537}
Lapsed {85,77%) (108,714)
Outstanding at the end of year 8,078,446 10,113,875
Weighted average remaining contractual life of awards outstanding in years 19 28
Exercisable at the end of the year 60,254 109,266

The weighted average market price at the date of exercise was 919 pence (2017: 574 pence).

Holdings of 3i Group plic shares

The Group has established an employee benefit trust and the total number of 3i Group pic shares held in this trust at 31 March 2018 was
8 millien (31 March 2017: 11 million). Dividend rights have been waived on these shares. The total market value of the shares held in trust based
on the year end share price of 859 pence {31 March 2017: 750 pence) was £67 million (31 March 2017 £85 million),
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28 Financial risk management

Introduction

A review of the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing and monitaring risk is set out in the Risk management section
on pages 44 to 51. This Note provides further detail on financial risk management, cross-referring to the Risk management section where
applicable, and includes quantitative data on specific financial rsks.

The Group is a highly selective investor and each investment is subject to an individual risk assessment thraugh an investment approval
process. The Group's Investment Committee is part of the overall risk management framework set cut in the Risk sectian. The risk
management pracesses of the Company are aligned with those of the Group and both the Group and the Company share the same
financial risks.

Financial risks
Concentration risk
3i seeks to diversify risk through significant dispersion of investments by geography, economic sector, asset class and size as well as through

the maturity profile of its investment portfolio. Although 3i does not set maximum limits for asset allocation, it does have a maximum exposure

limit for the cost of new investments. This is detalled in the Investment policy on page 84 in the Governance section. Quantitative data
regarding the concentration risk of the portfolic across geographies can be found in the Segmental analysis in Note 1 and in the 20 large
investments table on pages 148 and 149

Credit risk

The Group is subject to credit risk on its unguated investments, cash and deposits. The maximum exposure is the balance sheet amount.
The Group's cash is held with a variety of counterparties with 93% of the Group's surplus cash held on demand in AAA rated money market
funds (31 March 2017 85%).

The credit quality of unquoted investments, which are held at fair value and include debt and equity elements, is based on the financial
perfarmance cof the individual portfolic companies. The credit risk relating to these assets is based on their enterprise value and is reflected
through fair value movements. Further detail can be found in the Price risk — market fluctuations disclasure in this Note and the sensitivity
disclosure to changes in the valuation assumptions is provided in the valuation section of Note 12.

Liquidity risk

The liquidity outlaok is monitored manthly by management and regularly by the Board in the context of periodic strategic reviews of the
balance sheet. The new investment pipeline and forecast realisations are closely monitered and assessed against our vintage control policy,
as described on page 44 of the Risk management section. The table on the next page analyses the maturity of the Group's gross
contractual liabilities.
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Notes to the accounts
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28 Financial risk management continued

Financial liabilities

Due Due
Due between betwaen Due
within 1and 2and maore than
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
As at 31 March 2018 £m £m £m £m £m
Gross commitments:
Fixed loan notes 35 35 306 590 956
Committed multi-currency facility 1 1 1 - 3
Carried interest and performance fees payable within one year 55 - - - 55
Trade and other payables 100 - 1 - 101
Total 1M 36 308 90 1,125

Gross commitments include principal amounts and interest and fees where relevant. Carried interest and performance fees payable greater
than one year of £105 million (31 March 2017: £124 million) have no stated maturity as they result from investment related transactions and it is
not possible to identify with certainty the timing of when the investments will be sold. Carried interest and performance fees payable greater
than one year are shown after discounting which has an impact of £1 million (31 March 2017: £4 million).

Due Due
Due between between Due
within 1 and 2and mare than
1 year 2 years Syears Syears Total
As at 31 March 2017 £ £m fm fm £fm
Gross commitments:
Fixed loan notes 35 35 106 825 1,001
Committed multi-currency facility 1 1 2 - 4
Carried interest and performance fees payable within one year 23 - - - 23
Trade and other payables 103 2 1 21 127
Total 162 38 109 846 1,155

Forward foreign exchange contracts
At 31 March 2018, there were no forward foreign exchange contracts in place (31 March 2017: none).

The Company disclosures are the same as those for the Group with the following exceptions; carried interest and performance fees payable
within one year is nil (31 March 2017: nil) and trade and other payables within one year is £527 million (31 March 2017: £506 million).
Market risk

The valuation of the Group's investment portfolic is largely dependent on the underlying trading performance of the companies within the
portfolio but the valuation and other items in the financial statements can alse be affectad by interest rate, currency and quoted market
fluctuations. The Group’s sensitivity to these items is set out below.
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28 Financial risk management continued

(i} Interest rate risk

On the liability side, the direct impact of a movement in interest rates is limited to any drawings under the committed multi-currency facility as
the Group's outstanding debt is fixed rate. The sensitivities below arise principally from changes in interest receivable on cash and deposits.

An increase of 100 basis points, based on the closing balance sheet position over a 12-month period, would lead to an approximate increase
in total comprehensive income of £11 mitlion (2017: £10 million increase) for the Group and £9 million {2017: £9 million} for the Company.

In addition, the Group and Company have indirect exposure to interest rates through changes to the financial performance and the valuation
of portfolio companies caused by interest rate fluctuations.

{ii) Currency risk

The Group's net assets in euro, LS dollar, Danish krone and all other currencies combined are shown in the table below. This sensitivity analysis
is performed based on the sensitivity of the Group’s net assets to movements in foreign currency exchange rates assuming a 10% movement
in exchange rates against sterling, The sensitivity of the Compary to foreign exchange risk is not materially different from the Group.

The Group considers currency risk on specific investment and realisation transactions. Further information on how currency risk is managed
is provided on page 44.

us Danish
Starling Euro dollar krone Cther Total
As at 31 March 2018 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Net assets 1,390 4,542 B&2 137 93 7,024
Sensitivity analysis
Assuming a 10% movement in exchange rates against sterling:
Impact on net assets n/a 454 B6 14 9 563
us Danish
Steriing Euro dollar krone Other Total
As at 31 March 2017 fm fro fm fm fm £fm
Net assets 1,420 3,373 751 147 145 5836
Sensitivity analysis
Assuming a 10% movement in exchange rates against sterling:
Impact on net assets n/a 337 75 15 14 441

(i) Price risk — market fluctuations

The Group's management of price risk, which arises primarily from quoted and unquoted equity instruments, is through the careful
consideration of the Investment, asset management and divestment decisions at the Investment Committee. The Investment Committee’s
role in risk management is provided on page 46 in the Risk management section. A 15% change in the fair value of those investments would
have the following direct impact on the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

Investment in

investmant
Quoted Unquoted . entity
investment investment subsidiaries Total
Group £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2018 g2 263 605 920
At 31 March 2017 i 197 522 778
Quoted Unquoted
1t i 1t Total
Company £m £m £m
At 31 March 2018 52 263 315
At 31 March 2017 59 194 253
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Audited financial statements

Notes to the accounts
continued

29 Related parties and interests in other entities

The Group has various related parties stemming from relationships with limited partnerships managed by the Group, its investment portfolio
(including unconsolidated subsidiaries), its advisory arrangements and its key management personnet. In addition, the Company has related parties
in respect of its subsidiaries. Some of these subsidiaries are held at fair value (unconsoliddated subsidiaries) due to the treatment prescribed in IFRS 10.

Related parties
Limited partnerships

The Group manages a number of external funds which invest through limited partnerships. Group companies act as the general pariners of these
limited partnerships and exert significant influence over them. The following amounts have been included in respect of these limited partnerships:

Group Group Company Company

208 2017 2018 2017

Staterment of comprehensive income £m £rm £m fm
Carried interest receivable 138 274 183 276
Fees receivable from external funds 29 26 - -
Group Group Company Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

Statement of financial pasition £m fm £m £m
Carried interest receivable 500 356 541 356

Investments

The Group makes investments in the equity of unquoted and guoted investments where it does not have control but may be able to

participate in the financial and operating poficies of that company. IFRS presumes that it is possible to exert significant influence when
the equity holding is greater than 20%. The Group has taken the investment entity exception as permitted by IFRS 10 and has not equity
accounted for these investments, in accordance with EAS 28, but they are related parties. The total amounts included for investments where

the Group has significant influence but not control are as follows:

Group Group Company Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

Statement of comprehansive iIncome £m £m £m £m

Realised profit over value on the disposal of investments 7 - 1 ~

Unrealised profits on the revaluation of investments 36 57 36 51

Portfolic income 9 17 5 7
Profit for the year from discontinued operations - 21 -

Group Group Company Company

2018 2017 2018 2047

Staterment of financial position £m fm £m £m

Unguoted investments 380 429 380 407

Advisory arrangements

The Group acts as an adviser to 3t Infrastructure ple, which is listed on the London Stock Exchange. The following amounts have been

included in respect of this advisery relationship:

Group Group Company Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

Statement of comprehensive income £m fm £m fm
Realised profit over value on the disposal of investments 4 - 4 ~
Unrealised profits on the revaluation of investments 40 38 40 38
Fees receivable frorm external funds 29 2 - -
Performance fees recefvable 20 4 - -
Dividends 16 14 16 14
Group Group Company Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

Statement of financial position £m £m £m £m
Quoted equity investments 345 390 345 390
Performance fees receivable 90 4 - -
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29 Related parties and interests in other entities continued

Subsidiaries

Transactions between the Company and its fully consolidated subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, are eliminated on
consolidation. Details of related party transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries are detailed below.

Management, administrative and secretarial arrangements

The Company has appointed 3i Investments ple, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company incorporated in England and Wales, as investment
manager of the Group. 3i Investrrents plc received a fee of £13 million (2017: £13 million} from 3i ple, a fellow subsidiary, for this service

The Cotnpany has appointed 3i ple, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company incorperated in England and Wales, to provide the Company
with a range of administrative and secretarial services. 3i plc received a fee of £90 million (2017; £89 million) for this service.

Key management personnel

The Group's key management personnel cornprise the members of the Executive Committee and the Board's non-executive Directors.
The following amounts have been included in respect of these individuals:

Group Group
2018 2017
Statement of comprehensive income £m tm
Salarias, fees, supplements and benefits in kind 4 5
Cash bonuses 2 A
Carried interest and performance fees payable 25 43
2y
Share-based payments 2 12 =g
Termination payments - 1 3 a"_
A
i
Group Group Z
2018 2017 1N
Statement of financial pasition £m fm
Bonuses and share-based payments 15 14
Carried interest and performance fees payable within one year 15 4
Carried interest and performance fees payable after one year 80 68

No carried interest was paid or accrued for the Executive or non-executive Directors (2017: nil). Carried interest paid in the year to other key
rmanagement personnel was £1 million {2017: £12 miilion).

Unconsolidated structured entities

The application of IFRS 12 requires additional disclosure on the Group's exposure to unconsolidated structured entities.

The Group has exposure to a number of unconsolidated structured entities as a result of its investment activities across its Private Equity and
Infrastructure business lines. The nature, purpose and activities of these entities are detailed below along with the nature of risks associated
with these entities and the maximum exposure to Joss.

Closed-end limited partnerships

The Group manages a number of closed-end limited partnerships, which are either Private Equity or Infrastructure focused, in return for
amanagement fee. The purpose of these partnerships is to invest in Private Equity or Infrastructure investments for capital appreciation.
Limited Partners, which in some cases may include the Group, finance these entities by committing capital to them and cash is drawn down
or distributed for financing investment actwty.

The Group’s attributable stakes in these entities are held at fair value, fees receivabte are recognised on an accruals basis and carried interest
is accrued when relevant performance hurdles are met.

The risk and maximum expssure to loss arising from the Group's involvement with these entities are summarised below:

Carrying amount

Maximum

Assets Liabilities Net  loss exposure

Balarce sheet ine item of asset or liabiity £m £m £m fm
Carried interest receivable 500 - 500 500
Total 500 - 500 500

At 31 March 2017, the carrying amount of assets and maximum loss exposure of carried interest receivable was £356 million. The carrying
amount of liabilities was nil. C

At 31 March 2018, the total assets under management relating to these entities was £3.9 billion (31 March 2017: £3.0 billion}. The Group earned
fee incame of £29 million (2017- £26 million) and carried interest of £138 million (2017: £276 million) in the year
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29 Related parties and interests in other entities continued

Regulatory information relating to fees

3iinvestments plc acts as the AIFM of 3i Group plc. In performing the activities and functions of the AIFM, the AIFM or anather 3i company
may pay of receive fees, commissions or non-monetary benefits 1o of from third parties of the following natwre:

Transaction fees

3i companies receive menitaring and directors’ fees from partfolio companies. The amaunt is agreed with the portfolia company at the time
of the investment but may be re-negotiated. Where applicable, 3i may also receive fees on the completion of transactions such as acquisitions,
refinancings or synclications either from the portfolio company or a co-investor. Transaction fees paid to 3i are included in portfolio income.

Payments for third-party services

3i companies may retain the services of third-party consultants; for example for an independent director or ather investment management
specialist expertise. The amount paid varies in accordance with the nature of the service and the leagth of the service period and is usually,
but not always, paid/reimbursed by the portfolio companies. The payment may involve a flat fee, retainer or success fee. Such payments,

where borne by 3i companies, are usually included in portfolio income

Payments for services from 3i companies

Cne 3i company may provide investment advisory services to another 3i company and receive payment for such services.

30 Subsidiaries and related undertakings

IFRS 10 deerns control, as opposed to equity ownership, as the key factor when determining what meets the definition of a subsidiary.

If a group s exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the investee, then under IFRS 10 it has control. This is
inconsistent with the UK's Companies Act 2006, where voting rights being greater than 50% is the key factor when identifying subsidiaries.

Under IFRS 10, 23 of the Group's portfolio company investrments are considered to be accounting subsidiaries. As the Group applies the

investment entity exception available under IFRS 10, these investee companies are classified as investment entity subsidiaries.

The Companies Act 2006 requires disctosure of certain information about the Group's related undertakings. Related undertakings are
subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and other significant holdings. In this context, significant means either a shareholding greater than
ar equal to 20% of the nominal value of any class of shares or a book value greater than 20% of the Group's assets.

The Campany’s related undertakings at 31 March 2018 are listed below:

Description

Holding/share class

Footnote

Subsidiaries

3i Holdings plc 100% ordinary shares
i Investments ple ‘ 100% ordinary shares
Jdiple 100% ordinary shares

3i International Holdings

100% ordinary shares

Investors in Industry plc

100% ordinary shares/cumulative preference shares

Mayflower GP Limited

100% ordinary shares

3i Assets LLP

100% partnership interest

3i General Partner No 1 Limited

100% ordinary shares

3i Corporation

100% ordinary shares

3iDM US(SLF) LP

100% partnership interest

3i Deutschland Gesellschaft fur industriebeteiligungen mb

100% ordinary shares

Gardens Nominees Limited

100% ordinary shares

Gardens Pension Trustees Limited

100% ordinary shares

3i DM GIF 2015 GP Limited 100% ordinary shares
3i DM Europe Limited 100% ordinary shares
3i Europe plc 100% ordinary shares
3i Nominees Limited 100% ordinary shares
3i PVL.P Nominees Limited 100% ordinary shares
3i Group Investments LP 100% partnership interest
3i APTech Nominees Limited 100% ordinary shares
3i APTech GP Limited 100% ordinary shares

Mayflower LP

100% partrership interest
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30 Subsidiaries and related undertakings continued

Dascription ‘Holding/share class Foatnote
3i Osprey GP Limited 100% crdinary shares
3i Investrments GP Limited 100% crdinary shares
3i lIF GP Limited 100% ordinary shares
3i Nerdic plc 100% ordinary shares
3i GP 2004 Limited 100% ordinary shares
3j Networks Finfand Limited 100% ordinary shares
3i Ademas LP 100% partnership interest
The 3i Group Employee Trust n/a

Ji International Services plc 100% ordinary shares
3i EFIV Nominees Limited 100% ordinary shares
3i EFV Nominees A Limited 100% ordinary shares
3i EFV Nominees B Limited 100% crdinary shares
3i India Private Limited 100% ordinary shares
3i Sports Media (Mauritius) Limited 90% ordinary shares
3i Asia Limited 100% ordinary shares
31 EFV GP Limited 100% ordinary shares
3i EF4 GP Limited 100% ordinary shares
3isrl 100% ordinary shares
3i Infraprojects {Mauritius) Limited 100% ordinary shares
3i Research (Mauritius) Limited 100% ordinary shares
IIF SLP GP Limited 100% ordinary shares

3i Buyouts 2010 ALP

82% partnership interest

3i Buyouts 20108 LP

75% partnership interest

3i Buyouts 2010 CLP

S50% partrership interest

GP CCC 2010 Limited 100% ordinary shares
3i GC GP Limited 100% ordinary shares
3i GP 2010 Limited 100% ordinary shares

3i Growth Capital A LP

100% partnership interest

3i Growth Capital G LP

100% partnership interest

3i Growth Capital (USA) D L.P.

100% partnership interest

3i Growth 2010 LP

85% partnership interest

3i Growth USA 2010 L.P.

83% partnership interest

31 Growth Capital (USA) P L.P.

100% partnership interest

3i GC Holdings Ref 2 s.a.rl

50% ordinary shares

—

Strategic Investments FM {Mauritius) Alpha Limited

70% ordinary shares
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3i GC Nominees A Limited 100% ordinary shares

3i GC Nominees B Limited 100% ordinary shares

Ebrain 1 Limited 100% ordinary shares 36
Ebrain 2 Limited 100% ordinary shares 36
Ebrain 3 Limited 100% ordinary shares 36
3jIndia Infrastructure B LF 99% partnership interest 1
3i Pan European Growth Capital 2005-06 LP B0% partnership interest 1
3j Asia Pacific 2004-06 LP 100% parthership interest 1
3i UK Private Equity 2004-06 LP B0% partnership interest 1
3i Pan European Buyouts 2004-05 LP 79% partnership interest 1
3i 2004 GrmioH & Co KG 100% partnership interest 4
3i General Partner 2004 GmbH 100% ordinary shares 4
Pan European Buyouts Co-invest 2006-08 LP 100% partnership interest 1
Pan Euro Buyouts {Dutch) A Co-invest 2006-08 LP 100% partnership interest 1
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30 Subsidiaries and related undertakings continued

Description Holding/share class Footnote
3i US Growth Partners LP 94% partnership interest 5
3i US Growth Corporation 100% ordinary shares b}

Global Growth Co-invest 2006-08 LP

100% partnership interest

Pan European Growth Co-invest 2006-08 LP

100% partrership interest

Pan European Growth (Dutch) A Co-invest 2006-08 LP

100% partnership interest

US Growth Co-invest 2006-08 LP

72% partnership interest

Asia Growth Co-invest 2006-08 LP

100% partnership interest

3i GP 2006-08 Limited

100% ordinary shares

Pan European Buyouts {Nordic) Co-invest 2006-08 LP

100% partnership interest

Pan European Growth (Nordic) Co-invest 20046-08 LP

100% partrership interest

3i Buyouts 08-10 A LP

99% partnership interest

3i Buyouts 08-10B LP

8% partnership interest

3i Buyouts 08-10C LP

98% partnership interest

3i Growth 08-10LP

99% partnership interest

GP CCC 08-10 Limited

100% ordinary shares

3i GP 08-10 Limited

100% ordinary shares

3i Growth {Eurcpe) 08-10 LP

99% partnership interest

3i PE 2013-16A LP

10G% partnership interest

3i PE 2013-16C LF

100% partnership interest

FIGP2013 d

100% ordinary shares

GP 2013 Lid 100% ordinary shares
3i BIFM Investments Limited 100% crdinary shares
BIIF GP Limited 100% ordinary shares
BEIF il Limited 100% ordinary shares
BAM General Partner Limited 100% ordinary shares
BEIF Management Limited 100% ordinary shares

3i BIIF GPLLP

100% partnership interest

3i BEIF WGP LLP

100% partnership interest

3i PE 201612 ALP

100% partnership interest

3i Managed Infrastructure Acquisitions GP (2017) LLP

100% partrership interest

3i Managed Infrastructure Acquisitions GP Limited

100% ordinary shares

3i 2016 Gmbh & Co. KG

100% partnership interest

3l European Operaticnal Prajects GmbH & Co. KG

100% partnership interest
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Crown Bidco BV. 100% ordinary shares 1

Crown Holdco BV 100% ordinary shares 12
Craown Midco BV. 100% partnership interest 12
GP 2014 Limited 100% ordinary shares 3
3i GP 2016 Limited 100% ordinary shares 1
3i European Operational Projects GP s.arl 100% ordinary shares 10
3i SCI Holdings Limited 100% ordinary shares 1
2 North America Infrastructure, LLC 80% partnership interest 38
3i Abaca ApS 100% ordinary shares 39
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30 Subsidiaries and related undertakings continued

Description Holding/share class Footnote
Associate;

3i Growth Carry ALP 25% partnership interest 3
31 Growth Carry BLP 25% partnership interest 3
3i GC Holdings Ref 1 S.a.rl 36% ardinary shares 10
Meon Topeo GmbH 49% ordinary shares 13
Laycut Holdco A/S 49% ordinary shares 14
Fuel Holdco SA 43% ordinary shares 10
Baoketto Holdco Limited 47% ordinary shares 15
Klara HoldCo S.A 47% ordinary shares 10
Colorade Holdco Limited 48% ordinary shares 16
Shietd Holdeo LLC 49% ordinary shares 17
Q Holdco Ltd 26% ordinary shares 18
3i Infrastructure plc 34% ordinary shares 19
ACR Capital Holdings Pte Ltd 25% ordinary shares 20
Peer Holding 1 BV 43% ordinary shares 21
AES Engineering Ltd 43% ordinary shares 22
Chrysanthes 1 5.a.r.l 4%% ordinary shares 10
Mito Holdings S.a.r. 47% ordinary shares 10
Carter Thermal Industries Limited 34% ordinary shares 23
Echezeaux Investissement SA 40% ordinary shares 10
Harper Topco Limited 42% ordinary shares 24
MDY Healthcare Limited 27% ordinary shares 25
OneMed AB 29% ordinary shares 24
QOrange County Fundo de Investmento EM Particpacoes 39% equity units 27
Permali Gloucester Limited 32% ordinary shares 28
Scandlines Holding ApS 48% crdinary shares 29
5LR Management Limited 21% ordinary shares 30
Tato Holdings Limited 27% ordinary shares 31
Lilas 1 5AS 49% ordinary shares 32
Indiareit Offshore Fund (Mauritius) 20% partnership interest 33
Nimbus Communications Ltd 30% ordinary shares 34
Artisan du Luxe Molding Limited 26% ordinary shares 35
Asia Strategic MedTech Holdings {(Mauritius) Limited 36% ordinary shares 8
Aurela TopCo Gmbh 43% ordinary shares 37
Retina Holdco BY 49% ordinary shares 41
CMedical Heldco, LLC 49% ordinary shares 2
3i india Infrastructure Holdings Ltd 21% ordinary shares 8
Pearl Group Holdings Limited 44% ordinary shares 40
Racing Topco GmbH 49% ordinary shares 42
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30 Subsidiaries and related undertakings continued

There are no joint ventures or other significant hoidings. The 20 large portfolio companies by fair value are detailed on pages 148 and 149
The combination of the table above and that on pages 148 and 149 is deemed by the Directors to fulfil the requirements under IFRS 12 on the
disclosure of material subsidiaries

Footnota Address

146 Palace Street, London, SW1E 54D, UK

1 Grand Central Place East, 42nd Street, Suite 4100 New York, NY 10185, USA
50 Lothian Road, Festival Square, Edinburgh, EH3 9WJ, UK

Opernlurm, Bockenheimer Landstresse 2-4, 60306 Frankfurt am Main, Germany
Lime Grove House, Green Street, St Helier, JE1 25T, Jersey

Computershare, Queensway House, Hilgrove Street, St Helier, JE1 1ES, Jersey

Level 7, The Capital B-Wing, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra East, Mumbai, 400051, india
Ebene Esplanade, 24 Cybercity, Ebene, Mauritius

Ol Njorjn || =

Via Orefici 2, 20123 Milan, ltaly

10 9 Rue Sainte Zithe, L-2763 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

11 2711 Centervilia Road, Suite 4000, Wiimington, DE 19808, New Castle, USA
12 Cornelis Schuytstraat 72, 1071JL Amsterdam, Netherlands

13 Gruber Str. 48, 85586 Poing, Germany

14 Merupve] 16 Marup 7400 Herning, Denmark

15 New Mill, New Mill Lane, Witney, Oxfordshire, OX29 95X, UK

14 Aspen Building, Apex Way, Hailsham, East Sussex, BNZ7 3WA, UK

17 400 Madison Avenue, Suite 9C, New York, NY 10017, USA

18 Barger House {2nd Floor), 36-38 Berkeley Square, London, W1J SAE, UK

19 12 Castle Street, St Helier, JE2 3RT, Jersey

20 6 Temasek Blvd, Singapore 038984, Singapore

21 Perenmarkt 15, Zwaagdiik East, 1681PG, Netherlands

22 Bradmarsh Business Park, Mill Close, Rotherham, South Yorkshire, 560 1BZ, UK
23 Redhill Rd, Birmingham, B25 8EY, UK

24 5th Floar, 6 St Andraw Street, London, EC4A 3AE, UK

25 First Floor, Quay 2, 137 Fountainbridge, Edinburgh, EH3 9QG, UK

26 Svardvagen 3 B, Danderyd, 182 33, Sweden

27 Av. Ataulfo de Paiva, 1.100, 7th Floor, Leblon, Ria de Janeiro, RJ 22440-035, Brazil
28 Bristol Rd, Gloucester, GL1 51T, UK

29 35 Great 5t Helen's, London, EC3A AP, UK

30 7 Wornal Park Menmarsh Road, Worminghali, Aylesbury, Buckinghamshire, HP18 9JX, UK
A Thor Group Ltd, Bramling House, Bramling, Canterbury, Kent, CT3 INB, UK
32 Park a Eco Vendee Sud Loire, 85600, Bouffere, France

33 IFS Court, TwentyEight, Cybercity, Ebene, Mauritius

34 44 Oberoi Complex, Andthei (West), Mumbai, India

35 42 KCS Chambers, PO BOX 4051, Road Town, Tortala, British Virgin Islands
36 47 Esplanade, St Helier, JE1 0BD, Jersey

37 Seelbide 13, 36110 Schlitz, Germary

38 1202 Crange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801, USA

¥ Heolbergsgade 14, 2tv, 1057, Copenhagen, Denmark

40 1 Gearges Square, Dath Street, Bristal, 851 4BA, UK

4 Papland 21, 4206CK Gorinchem, Netherlands

42 HunsrickstraBe 1, 53842 Frankfurt am Main, Germany
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Independent Auditor’s report to the members of 3i Group plc

Opinion
In our opinion:

» 3i Group ple's Group financial statements and Parent company financial statements (the “financial statements”) give a true and fair view
of the state of the Group's and of the Parent company’s atfairs as at 31 March 2018 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

* the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the European Union {*IFRSs as adopted by the EU");

* the Parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accardance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

¢ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the reguirements of the Companies Act 2004, and, as regards the Group
financial statements, Article 4 of the |AS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements of 3i Group plc which comprise:

Group Parent company

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year to Company statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018

31 March 2018

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018 Company statement of changes in equity for the year to 31 March 2018
Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year to Company cash flow staternent for the year to 31 March 2018

31 March 2018

Consolidated cash flow statement for the year to 31 March 2018

Significant accounting policies

Related notes 1to 30 to the financial statements

The financial reporting framewori that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the EU and, as regards
the Parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006,

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} {ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Gur responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report below.

We are independent of the Group and Parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accardance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.

Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor’s report and for ho other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the cpinions we have formed.

Conclusions relating to principal risks, going concern and viability statement

We have nothing to report in respect of the following information in the annual report, in relation to which the ISAs (UK} require us to report
to you whether we have anything material to add or draw attention to:

» the disclosures in the annual report set cut on pages 47 to 51 that describe the principal risks and explain how they are being managed
or mitigated;

the directars’ confirmation set out on page 47 in the annual repart that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks
facing the entity, including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity;

the directors’ statement set out on page 89 in the financial statements about whether they considered it appropriate to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing them, and their identification of any material uncertainties to the entity’s ability to continue to
do so over a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements;

whether the directors’ statement in relation to going concern required under the Listing Rules in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3)

is materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit; or

the directors’ explanation set out on page 47 in the annual report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the entity, over what
period they have done so and why they consider that perind tniag apprepriate, aod el stawerment as 1 whether they have a reascnable
expettation that the entity will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment,
including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.
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Audited financial statements

independent Auditor’s report to the members of 3i Group plc
continued

Overview of our audit approach

Key audit matters *® Incorrect valuation of unquoted proprietary investrments.
*» Incorrect calculation of carried interest.
= Incorrect recognition of portfolio income and of realised profits on disposal of investments.
The first two risks are considered to be significant risks, consistent with the 2017 audit.

Audit scope » The Group is principally managed from one location in London. All core functions, including finance and operations, are
located in London. The Group operates seven international offices, which are primarily responsible for deal origimation
and mvestment portfolioc monitoring.

The Group comprises 87 consclidated subsidiaries and 62 investment entity subsidiaries. Monitoring and control over
the operations of these subsidiaries, including those located overseas, is centralised in London.

The London based Group audit team performedt direct audit procedures on all items material to the Group financial
statements. Our audit sample covered 99% of the investment portiolio and 99% of carried interest accruals.

This approach is consistent with the 2017 audit.
Materiality = Qverall Group materiality is £70m (2017: £58m) which represents 1% of net assets.

This approach is consistent with the 2017 audit.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in aur audit of the financial statements of

the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due te fraud) that we identified.
These matters included thase which had the greatest effect on: the overal! audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing
the afforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in
aur opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Risk

Qur response to the risk

Group and Parent campany risk

Incarrect valuation of unquoted propriatary investments
(£5,806m, PY comparative £4,782m)

Refer to the Audit and Compliance Committee report (pages 66 to
&9; Significant accounting policies (page 101); and Notes 10, 11
and 12 of the iinancial staternents (pages 112 to 114)

The proprietary investment partfolic comprises a number of
unguoted securities. In the Consclidated statement of financial
position these are shawn both as Investments {which are held directly
by consolidated subsidiaries of the Group and Parent Companyj,

and as Investments in investment entities (which are typically limited
partnerships and other holding structures). In the Company
statement of financial position these are shown both as investments
(which are held directly by the Parent Company), and as Investments
in investment entities (which are included within the Interests in
Group entities line item).

The Group adopts a valuation methodology based on the
International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuaticn 2015 (IPEV)
guidelines, in conformity with IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurements
(IFRS 13). Owing to the unquoted and ifliquid nature of these
investments, the assessment of fair valuation s subjective and
requires a number of significant and cormplex judgments to be made
by management. The exit value will be determined by the market at
the time of realisation and therefore despite the valuation policy
adopted and judgments made by management, the final sales value
may differ materially from the valuation at the year end date.

There is the risk that inaccurate judgments made in the assessment
of fair value, in particular in respect of; earnings multiples, the
application of liquidity discounts, calculation of discount rates and
the estimation of future maintainable earnings, could lead to the
incorrect valuation of the unquoted proprietary investment portfolio.
In turn, this could materially misstate the value of the Investment
portfolio in the Consclidated statement of financial position, the
Gross investrment return and Total return in the Consclidated
statement of comprehensive income, and the Net asset value per
share.

There is also the risk that management may influence the significant
judgments and estimations in respect of unquoted proprietary
investment valuations in order to meet market expectations of the
overall Net asset value of the Group.

The risk has neither increased nar decreased in the current year.

Qur procedures extended to testing 99% of the related balance.

We obtained an understanding of management's processes and
controls for determining the fair valuation of unguoted proprietary
investments, This included discussing with management the
valuation governance structure and protocols around their oversight
of the valuation process and corroborating aur understanding by
attending Valuations Committee meetings. We have identified key
controls in the process, assessed the design adequacy and tested the
operating effectiveness of those controls. We were able to rely on
controls over portfolic company and comparable company data used
in the valuation of unqueted investments.

We compared management’s valuation methodology to IFRS and the
IPEV guidelines. We sought explanations from management where
there were judgments applied in its application of the guidelines

and assessed their appropriateness.

With the assistance of our valuations specialists, we formed an
independent range for the key assumptions used in the valuation

of a sample of unquoted investments, with reference to the relevant
industry and market valuation considerations. We derived a range of
fair values using our assumptions and other quahtative risk factors.
We compared these ranges with management’s assumgtions, and
discussed our results with bath management and the Valuations
Committee.

With respect to unquoted investments in the private equity business
line, on a sample basis we carroborated key inputs in the valuation
models, such as earnings and net debt to source data. We also
performed the foilowing procedures on key judgments made by
management in the calculation of fair value:

» assessed the suitability of the comparable companies used in the
calculation of the earnings multiples;

* chailenged management on the applicability of adjustments
made to earnings multiples by obtaining rationale and supporting
evidence for adjustments made;

& performed corroborative calculations to assess the
appropriateness of discount rates; and

* discussed with management the adjustments made to
calculate future maintainable earnings and corroborated this to
supporting documentation. .
We checked the mathematical accuracy of the valuation models on
a sample basis. We recalculated the unrealised profits on the
revaluation of investments impacting the Censolidated statement
of comprehensive income.
We discussed with management the rationale for any differences
between the exit prices of investments realised during the year and
the prior year fair value, to further verify the reasonableness of the
current year valuation models and methodology adopted by
management.
We performed a site visit, accompanied by our Valuations Specialists,
to the most material asset in the portfclio, which enabled us ta
corroborate our understanding of, and gain specific insights into,
the asset.

Key observations communicated to the Audit and Compliance Committee:

The valuation of the unguoted proprietary investment portfolio is determined to be within a reasonable range of fair values. All valuations
tested are materially in accordance with IFRS and the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines (IPEV Guidelines)
- December 2015. Reascnable inputs to the valuations were used. Based on our procedures performed we had no material matters to report

to the Audit and Compliance Committee.
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Audited financial statements

Independent Auditor’s report to the members of 3i Group plc

continued

Risk

Dur reapeonsa to the risk

Group and Parent company risk

Incorrect calculation of carried interest {carried interest and
performance fees receivable £596m, PY comparative £366m;
carried interast and performance fees payable £870m, PY
comparative £685m)

Refer to the Audit and Compliance Commiittee report (pages 66 to
69); Significant accounting polices (page 101} and Notes 13 and 14
of the financial statements {pages 116 to 118)

Carried interest receivable is an accrual of the share of the profits
from funds managed by the Group on behalf of third parties. Carried
interest payable is an accrual of amounts payable to investment
executives in respact of the returns on successful investments both
from Group proprietary capital and third-party capital. Carried
interest is only paid on realisation of investments.

Carried interest receivable and payable is calculated as 2 percentage

of the profits that would be achieved, if the investments within each
fund or scheme were realised at fair value at the year-end date,
subject to the relevant hurdle rates or performance conditions being
met.

Judgment is required in determining the fair value of the investment
portfalio las described in the preceding risk section) and therefore,
whether hurdles or performance conditions have been achieved.
There are multiple carried interest arrangements in place and
investment executives may participate in more than one scheme.

These arrangements have been structured over multiple periods and

include different pools of investrments. The process of calculating
carried interest receivable and payable relies on manual cafculations.
Due to the complexities inherent in the arrangements and the
manual nature of the recognition process, thera is a risk that the
carried interest calculations are incorrectly caleulated or recognised
in the wrong period.

Carried interest is recarded in the Consclidated statement of

financial position as Carried interest and performance fees receivable

or Carried interest and perfarmance fees payable, and is also
recorded within Investments in investment entity subsidiaries.

The risk has neither increased nor decreased in the current year.

Our procedures extended to testing 99% of the refated balance.

We obtained an understanding of ranagement's processes and
controls for the calcutation of carried interest by performing
walkthrough procedures, and discussing with management the
governance structure and protocols around their oversight of the
carried interest arrangements. We adopted a substantive approach
to our testing,

We agreed a sample of calculation methodologies to their respective
terms and conditions set out in the underlying agreements.

Cur audit procedures an the fair value of the underlying investments
are described in the preceding risk section. We performed analytical
pracedures comparing the perfarmance of the reference investments
in each fund or scheme, taking into account the investment
reahsations, to the related accruals in the financial statements.

On a sample basis we:

* recalculated the returns on the fund or scheme to test that hurdles
or performance conditions had been met where carried interest
was being accrued,

recalculated the carried interest accruals for mathematical accuracy
and agreed the investment fair values to our audit wark on the

fair value of the investment portfolio, the fee rates to the relevant
agreements and realised gains to our audit work on realised profits,
determined the reasonableness of investment exit dates with
reference ta aur audit wark on the fair value of the investment
portfolio and our understanding of the life cycle of the relevant
investments, and then compared this against the anticipated
payment dates used to discount the carried interest accrual; and
ensured the resulting cash flow was as a result of a triggering event
such as a realisation or a re-finance by verifying the cash flow to
bank statements {and in the case of carry payable to award letters
sent to investment executives).

Key observations communicated to the Audit and Compliance Committee:

Qur audit procedures did not identify any matters regarding the recognition of carried interest in accardance with IFRSs as adopted by the
EU. All calculations tested have been performed materially in accordance with contractual terms. Based on aur pracedures performed we
had no material matters to report to the Audit and Compliance Committee. ]
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Risk

Qur responsa to the risk

Group and Parent company risk

Incorrect recognition of partfolic income and of realised profits
on disposal of investments (£364m, PY comparative £138m)

Refer to the Audit and Compliance Committee report (pages 66
to 69); Significant accounting policies (page 102); and Note 2 of
the financial statements (page 107)

Portfolio income is directly attributabsle to the return from
investments. This includes: dividends from investee companies and
interest income from the investment portfolio.

Realised profits originate from disposals of investments. Realised
profits are calculated as the difference between the net proceeds
and the investment's fair value at the beginning of the year.

Market expectations and revenue based targets may place pressure
on management ta influence the recagnition of portfalic income or
realised gains. This may result in overstatement or deferral of
revenues to assist in meeting current or future targets or
expectations.

Where income is recorded in a consolidated subsidiary, in the
Cansalidated statement of comprehensive income itis recorded as
Portfolio Income and Realised profits/losses} aver vaiue on the
disposal of investments. Where the income is recorded in an
investment entity subsidiary, it is recorded as Fair value movements
an investment entity subsidiaries.

The risk has neither increased nor decreased in the current year.

Our procedures extended to testing 81% of the related amount.

We obtained an understanding of the processes and controls around
accounting for portfolio income and realised gains by performing
walkthroughs of the processes. We identified key controls in the
processes, assessed design adequacy and tested the operating
effectiveness of those controls.

We performed detailed testing on a sample of transactions in order

to confirm whether they had been appropriately recorded in the

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

For portfolio income, on a sample basis, we:

* agreed dividends from investee companies to the dividend notice;
and

= recalculated interest income based on the terms of the
underlying agreements.

For all samples selected for testing we verified that revenue s

recognised when the rights to receive the income have been

established.

For realised gains, on a sample basis, we:

analysed the contract and terms of the sale to determine whether
the Group has met the stipulated requirements, confirming that
the net praceeds and therefore the realised profits over opening
value can be reliably measured; and
* re-performed management’s calculations to determine
mathematical accuracy and cenfirmed the collection of the net
proceeds by agreeing the cash receipt to bank statements.
For all samptes selected for testing we verified that revenue is
recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have
been transferred.
In order to address the risk of cut-off, we performed enguiries of
management, read minutes of meetings throughout the year and
subsequent to the year end, and performed journal entry testing in
order to address the risk of management override of controls to
overstate or defer revenue recognition.

Key observations communicated to the Audit and Compliance Committee:

QOur audit procedures did not identify any material matters regarding the recognition of portfolio income and of realised profits on dispesal
of iInvestments. All transactions tested have been materially recagnised in accordance with contractual terms and IFRSs as adopted by the
EU. Based cn our procedures performed we had no material matters 1o report to the Audit and Compliance Committee.

In the pricr year, our auditor’s repart included a key audit matter in relation to incorrect accounting treatment of the sale of the Debt
Management business and calculation of the profit on disposal. This key audit matter is no lenger applicable for the current year, as the
Debt Management business was sold during the prior year and there are no discontinued operations as at 31 March 2018.

An overview of the scope of our audit

Tailoring the scope

Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and cur allocation of performance materiality determine our audit scope for each
entity within the Group. Taken together, this enables us to form an opinion on the Consolidated financial statements. We take into account
size, risk profile, the organisation of the Group and effectiveness of Group-wide controls, changes in the business environment and other
factors such as recent Internal audit results when assessing the level of work to be performed at each entity.

The investment portfolio balance is the most material part of the Consclidated statement of financial position. Monitoring and centrol cver

the valuation of investments is exercised by management centrally in London, and as such is audited wholly by the London based Group audit

team. Monitoring and control over the operations of the subsidiaries within the Group, including those Jocated coverseas, is centralised in

London. The Group audit team performed all the work necessary to issue the Group and Parent company audit opinien, including undertaking

ali of the audit work on the risks of material misstatement identified above.

Involvement with component teams

All audit work performed for the purposes of the audit was undertaken by the Growip andit team
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Audited financial statements

Independent Auditor’s report to the members of 3i Group plc
continued

Our application of materiality

We apply the concent of materiality in planning and perfarming the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified misstatements on the audit and
in forming our audit apinion

Materiality

The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of the users of the financial statements. Materiality provides a basis for determining the nature and extent of ur audit pracedures.

We determined materiality for the Group to be £70 million {2017: £58 million), which is 1% (2017: 1%) of net assets. We believe that net assets
provides us with a consistent year on year basis for determining materiality, and is the most relevant measure to the stakeholders of the entity.

We deterrmined materiality for the Parent Company to be £66 million (2017 £41 million), which is 1% (2017: 1%) of net assets.

We calculated materiality during the planning stage of the audit and then during the course of our audit, we reassessed initial materiality
based on 31 March 2018 net asset value, and adjusted our audit procedures accordingly

Performance materiality

The application of materiality at the individual account or balance level. It is set at an amount to reduce to an appropristely iow level the
probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstaterents exceeds materiality.

On the basis of our risk assessrments, tagether with our assessment of the Group's overall cantrel enviranment, our judgment was that
performance materiality was 50% {2017 50%) of our planning materiality, namely £35m (2017 £29m). We have set performance materiality at
this percentage due to the judgmental nature of the valuations in the Consalidated statement of financial position and the relative value of
transactions recorded in the other primary statements, to ensure that total uncorrected and undetected audit differences in all accounts did
not excead our materiality of £20m.

Reporting threshold

An amount below which identified misstatements are considered as being clearly trivial.

We agreed with the Audit and Compliance Committee that we would report to them afl uncorrected audit differences in excess of £3.5m
{2017: £2.9m), which is set at 5% of planning materiality, as well as differences below that threshold that, in cur view, warranted reporting on
qualitative grounds.

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed abave and in fight of other
relevant qualitative considerations in forming our opinion.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report (set out on pages 110 90 and 147 to 136), including the
Strategic repert {including sections on: Introduction, Performance highlights, Chairman’s statement, Chief Executive's statement, Action,

Our business at a glance, Cur business model, Our strategic objectives, Key performance indicators, Private Equity, Infrastructure, Financial
review, Investment basis, Reconciliation of Investment basis and IFRS, Alternative Performance Measures, Risk management, Principal risks and
mitigations and Sustainability), Directors’ report {including sections on: Chairman’s introduction, Board of Directors and Executive Committee,
Naminations Committee repart, Audit and Compliance Committee report, Valuations Committee report, Relations with shareholders and
Additicnal statutory and corporate governance information), Directors’ remuneration report and Portfolio and other information (including
sections on: 20 Large investments, Portfolio valuation — an explanation, Information for shareholders and Glossary) sections, other than the
financial statements and our auditor's report therean. The diractors are responsisle for the other infarmation.

Our opinion on the financial staterments does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this
report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon,

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other infarmation is materially inconsistent with the financial statements ar our knowledge obtained in the audit ar otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. if we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether
there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. i, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstaternent of the other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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tn this context, we also have nothing to report in regard to our responsibility to specifically address the following items in the other
information and to report as uncorrected material misstatements of the other information where we conclude that those items meet the
following conditions:

Fair, balanced and understandable (set out on page 90) - the statement given by the directers that they consider the annual report

and accounts taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandabie and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the
Group's performance, business model and strategy, is materially inconsistent with cur knowledge obtained in the audit; or

Audit committee reporting (set out on pages 64 to §9) — the section describing the work of the audit committee does not appropriately
address matters communicated by us to the audit committee is materially inconsistent with cur knowledge obtained in the audit, or

+ Directors’ statement of compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code (set out on page 85} - the parts of the directors’
statement required under the Listing Rules relating to the company's compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code containing
provisions specified for review by the auditor in accordance with Listing Rule 98.10R(2) do nat properly disclose a departure from a relevant
provision of the UK Corporate Governance Code.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ remuneration repert 1o be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the

Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

s the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared
is consistent with the financial statements; and

* the Strategic report and the Directars’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent company and its environment obtained in the course

of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic report or the Directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the fellowing matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report

to you if, in our apinion:

* adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

* the Parent cormpany financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns; or

* certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

= we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
P q

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities set out on page 0. the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is hecessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free fram material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group and Parent company’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters refated to geing concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent company or te cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due ta fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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Audited financial statements

Independent Auditor’s report to the members of 3i Group plc
continued

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud

The objectives of our audit, in respect to fraud, are; to identity and assess the nsks of material misstatement of the financial statements due to
fraud; to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the assessed risks of materisl misstatement due to fraud, through designing
and implementing appropriate responses; and to respond appropriately to fraud or suspected fraud identified during the audit. However, the
primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both thase charged with governance of the entity and management.

QOur approach was as follows:

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Group and have a direct impact on

the preparation of the financial statements. We determined that the most significant frameworks which are directly relevant to specific
assertions in the financial staterments are those that relate to the reporting framework (IFRS as adopted by the EU, the Companies Act 2006
and UK Corparate Gavernance Code} and relevant tax compliance regulations. In addition, we concluded thet there are certam significant
laws and regulations which may have an effect on the determination of the amaunts and disclosures in the financial statements being the
Listing Rules of the UK tisting Authority anid relevant FCA rules and regulations.

We understood haw 3i Group plc is complying with those frameworks by making enquiries of seniar managerment, including the General
Counsel and Company Secretary, Group Finance Director, Head of Compliance, Head of Internal Audit and also Non-Executive Directors
including the Chairmen of the Audit and Comgliance Committee and Valuations Committee. We corroborated our understanding
through our review of board minutes, papers provided to the Audit and Compliance Committee and correspondence received from
regulatory bodies.

We assessed the susceptibility of the Group's financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud might occur by meeting
with management to understand where they considerad there was susceptibility to fraud. We also considered performance targets and
their potential nfluence on efforts made by management to manage riet asset value per share or the tatal return on equity. We considered
the controls that the Group has established to address risks identified, or that otherwise pravent, dater and detect fraud; and how senior
management monitars those contrals. Where the risk was consiclered to be higher, we performed audit procedures to address each
identified fraud risk.

Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify non-compliance with such laws and regulations idertified in the
paragraphs above. Our procedures involved: jousnal entry testing, with a focus on manua! journals and journals indicating large or unusual

transactions based on our understanding of the business; enquiries of senior management; and focused testing, as referred to in the key
audit matters section above.

The FCA has regulatary oversight aver 3i Group plc and certain other entities within the Group.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website
at https:/Awww.fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Other matters we are required to address

We were appointed by the board on 5 November 1973 to audit the financial statements of the Parent campany for the period ending
31 March 1974 and subsequent financial periods. Qur appointment was subsequently ratified at the annual general meeting of the Parent
company on & August 1974,

Qur total uninterrupted pericd of engagement is 45 years, cavering periods from our appoeintment through to the periad ending
31 March 2018.

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Cthical Standard were not pravided to the Graup ar the Parent company and we remain
independent of the Group and the Parent company in conducting the audit.

® The audit opinien is consistent with the additional report ta the audit committee.

Julian Yoaung {Senior statutory auditar)

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor L

London o 0

16 May 2018 V- j .

Notes:

1 The maintenance and integnity of the 31 Group plc web site 1§ the résponsibiity of the directors, the work carried out by the auditors daes not mvolve consideration of these matters and,
accordingly, the sudstors accept po responsibility for any changes that may have occyrred 1o the financis) statements since they were initiafly presented on the web ute

2 Legisiatgn i the Umited Kingdom govern.ng the prep and of fnancial may differ from legusiation in other junsdictions
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Portfolic and other information

20 Large investments

The 20 investments listed below account for 93% of the portfalic at 31 March 2018 {31 March 2017: 89%). Fer each of aur investments we have
assessed whether they classify as accounting subsidiaries under IFRS and/or subsidiaries urider the UK Companies Act. This assessment forms
the basis of our disclosure of accounting subsidiaries in the financial statements,

The UK Companies Act defines a subsidiary based on voting rights, with a greater than 50% majority of voting rights resulting in an entity
teing classified as a subsidiary. (FRS 10 apphes a wider test and, if a group is exposed, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect these returns through its power over the investee then it has control, and hence the investee
is deemed an accounting subsidiary. Controlied subsidiaries under IFRS are noted below. None of these investments are UK Companies

Act subsidiaries.

In accordance with Part 5 of The Alternative Investment Fund Managers Regulations 2013 {("the Regulations”), 3i Investments plc, as AIFM,
reguires all controlled portfolio companies to make available to employees an annual report which meets the disclosure requirements of the
Regulations. These are available either an the portlolio carnpany’s website or through filing with the relevant local autherities

Residual Residual
Business line cost! cost Valuation Valuation
Geoagraphy March March March* March?  Relevant
investment Firstinvestedin 7 2018 anr 2018 transactions
Description of busmess Valuation basis £ £nr £m £m in the year
Action® Private Equity 1 12 1,708 2,064  Refinancing returned
Non-food discount retailer Netherlands £307m of proceeds
2011
Earnings
Scandlines* Private Equity 14 114 538 803  Refinancing returned
Ferry operator between Denmark/Germany £50m of proceeds in
Dermark and Germany 2007/2013 July 2017, sale announced
{mminent sale in March 2018
3i Infrastructure ple* Infrastructure 399 310 655 581 Special dividend returned
Quoted investment company, £143m of proceeds
investing in infrastructure 2007
Quoted
Basic-Fit Private Equity " " 184 270
Discount gyms operator Netherlands
2013
Quoted
Wp* Private Equity 181 175 200 244
Supplier of plastic Netherlands
packaging solutions 2015
Earnings
Audley Travel* Private Equity 177 195 185 233
Provider of experiential UK
tailor-rmade trave! 205
Earnings
Q Holding* Private Equity 162 162 222 229
Manufacturer of precision Us
engineered elastomeric 2014
campanents Earnings
Cirtec Medical* Private Equity - 172 - 190 Newinvestment
Qutsourced medical us
device manufacturing 2017
Earnings
Hans Anders* Private Equity - 186 - 189  Newinvestment

Value-for-money Netherlands
optical retailer 2007
Earnings
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Residual Residual

Business hne cost cost Valuation Valuation

Geography March Mareh March* March?  Relevant
Invastment First invested n 2017 2018 2017 2018  transactions
Description of business Valuation basis £m £m fm £m in the year
Smarte Carte* Infrastructure - 166 - 167  Newinvestment
Provider of self-serve vended us
luggage carts, electronic lockers 2017
and cohcession carts DCF
Schlemmer Group* Private Equity 162 124 154 152
Manufacturer of cable Germany :
management solutions for the 2014
automative industry Earnings
Ponroy Santé* Private Equity 123 139 122 145
Manufacturer of natural France
healthcare and 2017
cosmetics products Earnings
AES Engineering Private Equity 30 30 113 139
Manufacturer of mechanical uK
seals and support systems 1996

Earnings
BoConcept* Private Equity 140 142 146 137
Urban living designer Denmark

2016

Earnings
Formel D* Private Equity - 138 - 133  Newinvestment
Quality assurance provider Germany
far the automative industry 2017

Earnings
ACR Private Equity 105 105 135 129
Pan-Asian non-life reinsurance  Singapore

2006

Industry metric
Tato Private Equity 2 2 12 114
Manufacturer and seller of UK
speciality chemicals 1989

Earnings
Lampenwelt* Private Equity - 98 - 111 Newinvestment
Oniline lighting specialist retailer Germany

2017

Earnings
Aspen Pumps* Private Equity 78 86 88 108
Manufacturer of pumps and UK
accessaries for the air 2015
conditioning, heating and Earnings
refrigeration industry
Euro-Diesel* Private Equity 57 62 5 82
Manufacturer of uninterruptible  Belgium
power supply systems 2015

Earnings

1,722 2,479 4,657 4,220

* Controlled naccordance with IFRS,
1 Resictual cost includes capitalised nisrest
2 Numbers shown on ar Investment 9asis
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Partfolio and other information

Portfolio valuation - an explanation

Policy

The valuation pelicy is the responsibility

of the Board, with additional oversight
and annual review from the Valuations
Committee. Our policy is to value 3i's
investment portfolio at fair value and

we achieve this by valuing investments

an an appropriate basis, applying a
consistent approach across the portfolia.
The policy ensures that the portfolia
valuation is compliant with the fair value
guidelines under IFRS and, in so doing, is
also compliant with the guidelines issued
by the International Private Equity and
Venture Capital valuation board (the “IPEV
guidelines"). The policy cavers the Group’s
Private Equity and Infrastructure investmant
valuations. Valuations of the investment
portiolio of the Group and its subsidiaries
are performed at each quarter end.

Fair value is the underlying principle and

is defined as “the price that would be
received to sefll an asset in an orderly
transaction between market participants at
the measurement date” (IPEV guidelines,
December 2015). Fair vahse is therefore an
estimate and, as such, determining fair value
requires the use of judgement.

The quoted assets in aur portfolio are valued
at their closing bid price at the balance sheet
date. The majority of the portiolio, however,
is represented by unquoted investments.

Private Equity unguoted valuation

To arrive at the fair value of the Group's
unquoted Private Equity investments, we
first estimate the entire value of the company
we have invested in — the enterprise value.
We then appartion that enterprise value
between 3, other shareholders and lenders.

Daetermining enterprise value

The enterprise value is determined using one
of a selection of methodologies depending
on the nature, facts and circumstances of

the investment.

Where possible, we use methodologies
which draw heavily on observable market
prices, whether listed equity markets

of reported merger and acquisition
transactions, and trading updates from
our portfolic,
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As unquoted investments are not traded
on an active market, the Group adjusts the
estimated enterprise value by a hquidity
discount. The liquidity discount is applied
to the total enterprise value and we apply a
higher discount rate for investments where
there are material restrictions on our sbility
to sell at a time of cur choosing.

The table opposite autlines in mare detail
the range of valuation methodologies
available to us, as well as the infuts and
adjustments necessary for each.

Apportioning the enterprise value
between 3i, other shareholders
and fenders

Once we have estimated the enterprise
value, the following steps are taker:

1. We subtract the value of any claims, net
of free cash bafances that are more senior
to the most senior of our investments.

2. The resulting attributable enterprise
value is apportioned to the Group's
investment, and equal ranking investrnents
by other parties, according to contractual
terms and conditions, to arrive at a fair
value of the entirety of the investment.
The value is then distributed amongst the
different loan, equity and other financial
instruments accordingly.

w

If the value attributed to a specific
shareholder loan investment in a company
is less than its carrying value, a shortfall

is implied, which is recagnised in our
valuation. in exceptl'onaf cases, we may
judge that the shortfall is temporary;

1o recognise the shortfall in such a
scenara would lead to unrepresentative
valatility and hence we may choose not to
recognise the shortfall.

Other factors

In applying this frarmework, there are
additional considerations that are factored
inta the valuation of some assets.

{mpacts from structuring

Structural rights are instruments convertible
into equity or cash at specific points in time
or linked to specific events. Far example,
where a majority shareholder chooses to
sell, and we have a minarity interest, we
may have the right to a minimum return on
our investment.

Debt instruments, in particular, may have
structural rights. In the valuation, it is
assurned third parties, such as lenders or
hoiders of convertible instruments, fully
exercise any structural rights they might have
if they are "in the money”, and that the value
to the Group may therefore be reducad by
such rights held by third parties. The Group's
own structural rights are valued on the hasis
they are exercisable on the reporting date.

Assets classified as "terminal”

{f we believe an investrment has more than a
50% probability of failing in the 12 maonths
following the valuation date, we value the
investment on the basis of its expected
recaverable amount in the event of failure.
Itis important to distinguish between

our investment failing and the business
falling; the failure of our investment does
not always mean that the business has
failed, just that cur recoverable value has
dropped significantly. This would generally
result in the equity and loan components
of our investment baing valued at nil.
Value mavements in the period relating

to investments classified as terminal

are classified as provisions in our value
moverment analysis.

Infrastructure unquoted valuation

The primary valuation methodology used
for unquoted Infrastructure investments is
the discounted cash flow method {("DCF™),
Fair value is estimated by deriving the
present value of the investmant using
reasonable assumptions of expected future
cash flows and the terminal value and date,
and the appropriate risk-adjusted discount
rate that quantifies the risk inherent to the
investment. The discount rate is estimated
with reference to the market risk-free rate,
a risk adjusted premium and information
specific to the investment or market sector.



Methodology Description

Inputs

% of investment
basis portfoiio
valued on

Adjustments this basis

Most commonly used
Private Equity valuation
methodology

Earnings
(Private Equity)

Used for investments
which are profitable and
for which we can
determine a set of listed
companies and precadent
transactions, where
relevant, with similar
characteristics

Earnings multiples are applied to the earnings of
the Company to determine the enterprise value

Earnings

Reported earnings adjusted for non-recurring
items, such as restructuring expenses, for
significant corporate actions and, in exceptional
cases, run-rate adjustments to arrive at
maintainable earnings

Most common measure is earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation

("EBITDA")

Earnings used are usually the management
accounts for the 12 months to the quarter end
preceding the reporting period, unless data from
{forecasts or the latest audited accounts provides
a more reliable picture of maintainable earnings

Earnings multiples

The earnings multiple is derived from comparable
listed companies or relevant market transaction
multiples

We select companies in the same industry and,
where possibie, with a similar business model and
profile in terms of size, products, services and
customers, growth rates and geagraphic focus

We adjust for relative performance in the set
of comparables, exit expectations and other
company specific factors

Aliquidity discount is 68%
applied to the entergrise

value, typically between

5% and 15%, using factors

such as our alignment

with management and

other investors and our

investment rights in the

deal structure

Used for investments
in listed companies

Quoted
(Infrastructure/
Private Equity)

Closing bid price at balance sheet date

No adjustments 13%
or discounts applied

Used where an asset is

in a sales process, a price
has been agreed but the
transaction has not

Imminent sale
{Private Equity)

Contracted proceeds for the transaction,
or best estimate of the expected proceeds

A discount of typically 12%
2.5% is applied to reflect

any uncertain adjustments

to expected proceeds

yet settled
Discounted Appropriate for
cash flow businesses with long-term
(Private Equity/ stable cash flows, typically
Infrastructure)  in infrastructure

Long-term cash flows are discounted at a rate
which is benchmarked against market data,
where possible, or adjusted from the rate at the
initial investment based on changes in the risk
profile of the investment

Discount already implicit 4%
in the discount rate

applied to long-term

cash flows — no further

discounts applied

Specific industry Used for investments in

metrics industries which have wel

{Private Equity) defined metrics as bases
for valuation - eg book
value for insurance
underwriters

We create a set of comparable listed companies
and derive the implied values of the relevant
metric

We track and adjust this metric for relative
performance, as in the case of earnings multiples

Comparable companies are selected using the
same criteria as described for the earnings
methedology

An appropriate discount 2%
is applied, depending on
the valuation metric used

NAV Used for investments in Net asset value reported by the fund manager Typically no further 1%
{Private Equity/ unlisted funds discount applied
Infrastructure) in addition to that applied
by the fund manager
Other Used where elements Values of separate elements prepared on ane Discounts applied -%
(Private Equity) of 2 business arevalued  of the methodologies listed above to separate elements
"on different bases as above

Consistent with IPEV guidelines, all equity investments are held at fair value using the most appropriate methodology and no investments are

held at historical cast.
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Portfolio and other information

Information for shareholders

Financial calendar

Ex-dividend date Thursday 14 June 2018
Record date Friday 15 June 2018
Annual General Meeting” ‘ Thursday 28 June 2018
FY2018 dividend to be paid Friday 20 July 2018
Half-year results (avaitable online only) Novernber 2018
Interim dividend expected to be paid January 2017

* The 2018 Annual General Mesting will be held at The Ciueen Elizabeth 1l Conference Centre, Broad Sanctuary, Westmimster, London SW1P 3EE on 28 June 2018 at 11 0dam
For further details piease see the Notice of Annual General Mesting 2018

Information on ordinary shares
Shareholder profile: Location of investors at 31 March 2018

UK 594%
North America 24.9%,
Continental Eurape M1.7%
Cther international A0%

Share price

Share price at 31 March 2018 B859.0p
High during the year (31 August 2017) 969.5p
Low during the year {3 April 2017) 736.5p

Dividends paid in the year to 31 March 2018

FY2017 Final dividend, paid 21 July 2G17 18.5.0
FY2018 Interim dividend, paid 10 January 2018 8.0p

Balance analysis summary

Number of
Number of holdings
holdings corporate Balance as at

individuals bodies 31 March 2018 %
11,000 12,048 379 5,531,176 0.57
1,001-10,000 4978 601 13,000,089 1.34
16,001-100,0060 144 494 23,836,983 245
100,001-1,000,000 17 335 126,484,523 1300
1,003,001-10.000,000 - 123 351,784,545 36.16
10,000,001-highest - 16 452,259,620 4648
Total 17,189 1948 972897006 100.00

The table above provides details of the number of shareholdings within each of the bands stated in the register of members at 31 March 2018,
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The Common
Reporting Standard

New tax legislation under the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and
Development ("OECD") Comman

Reporting Standard for Automatic Exchange
of Financial Account Information was
intraduced on 1 January 2016. The legislation
requires investment trust companies to
provide personal information about certain
investors who hold shares in investment
trusts to HMRC. As an investment company,
3i Group plcis therefore required to provide
information anrually t¢ the local tax authority
on certain certificated shareholders and
corporate entities. This information includes
country of tax residency as well as details of
shares held and dividends received. The local
tax authority to which the information is
initially passed may i turn exchange the
information with the tax authorities of
ancther country or countries in which the
shareholder may be tax resident, where
those countries {or tax authorities in those
countries) have entered into agreements

to exchange financial account informatian.
Certain shareholders have been and willin
future be sent a certification form for the
purposes of collecting required information.

Boiler room and other scams

In the past, some of cur sharehclders have
received unsolicited tetephene calls or
correspondence concerning investment
matters from organisations ar persons
claiming or implying that they have some
connection with the Company. These are
typically from overseas based "brokers” who
target UK shareholders offering to sell them
what often turn out to be worthless or high
risk shares in UK or overseas investments
Shareholders are advised to be vary wary of
any unsolicited advice, offers to buy shares
at a discount or offers of free reports into the
Company. These approaches are operated
out of what is more commonly known as a
“boiter roormn”. You may also be appreached
by brokers offering to purchase your shares
for an upfrant payment in the form of a
broker fee, tax payment or de-restriction fee
This is a common secondary scam operated
by the boifer rooms.

If you receive any unsolicited
investment advice:

* Always ensure the firm is on the Financial
Conduct Authority {"FCA") Register and
is allowed to give financial advice befare
handing over your money. You can check
at www.fca.org.uk/register;

* Double-check the caller 15 from the firm
they say they are - ask for their name and
telephone number and say you will call
them back. Check their identity by calling
the firm using the contact number fisted
on the FCA Register. This is important
as there have been instances where
an authorised firm’s website has been
cloned but with a few subtle changes,
such as a different phone number or false
email address;

Check the FCA's list of known
unauthorised overseas firms. However,
these firms change their name regularly, so
even if a firm is not listed it does not mean
they are legitimate. Always check that they
are listed on the FCA Register; and

if you have any doubts, call the Financial
Conduct Autherity Consumer Helpline

an 0800 111 6768. If you deal with an
unauthorised firm, you will not be eligible
to receive payment under the Financial
Services Compensation Schermne.

Annual reports and half-yearly
reports online

If you would prefer to receive shareholder
communications electronically in future,
including annual reports and notices

of meetings, please visit our Registrars’
website at www.shareview.co,uk/
clients/3isignup and follow the instructicns
there to register.

The 2018 half-yearly report will be available
oniine only. Please register to ensure you
are notified when it becomes available

at www.3i.com/investor-relations/
financial-news.

Mere general information on electronic
communications is available on our
website at www.3i.com/investor-relations/
shareholder-information.

Investor relations and
general enquiries

For all investor relations and general
enquiries about, 3i Group ple, including
requests for further copies of the Report
and accounts, please contact:

Investor relations
3i Group ple

16 Palace Street
London, SWIE 51D

Telephone +44 (0)20 7975 3131
email IRTeam@3i.com

or visit the Investor relations section of our
website at www.3i.com/investor-refations,
for full up-to-clate investar relations
information, including the latest share price,
results presentations and financial news.

Registrars

for shareholder administration enquiries,
ncluding changes of address please contact:
Equiniti

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lancing

West Sussex, BN?9 6DA

Teiephcne 0371 384 2031

Lines are open from 8.30am te 5.30pm,
Manday to Friday (international callers
+44 121 415 7183).
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Portfaliao and other information

Glossary

2013-2016 vintage includes Aspen Pumps,
Audiey Travel, Basic-Fit, Dynatect, Euro-
Diasel, ATESTED, JMJ, Q Holdings, WP
Scandlines further (completed in December
2013), Christ, Geka, Oticas Carol and

Blue Interactive,

2016-2019 vintage includes BoConcept,
Cirtec, Forme! D, Hans Anders, Lampenwelt,
Panroy $anté and Schlemmer.

Alternative Investment Funds (“AiFs") At

31 March 2018, 3i investments plc as AIFM,
managed five AlFs. These were 3i Group plc,
3j Growth Capital Fund, 3i Eurcfund V,

3i Maneaged Infrastructure Acguisitions LP
and 3i European Operational Projects Fund.

Alternative Investrnent Fund Manager
(“"AIFM"} is the regulated manager of AlFs.
Within 3i, this is 3i Investments plc

Approved Investment Trust Company This
is @ particular UK tax status maintained by 3i
Graup ple, the parent company of 3i Group.
An appraved investrent Trust company is a
UK company which meets certain conditions
set aut in the UK tax rules which include a
requirement for the company to undertake
portfolio investment activity that aims to
spread investment risk and for the company's
shares to be listed on an approved
exchange. The "approved” status for an
investment trust must be agreed by the UK
tax authorities and its benefit is that certain
profits of the company, principally its capital
profits, are not taxable in the UK.
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Assets under management ("AUM”)

A measure of the total assets that 3i has to
nvest or manages on behalt of shareholders
and third-party investors for which it
receives a fee. AUM is measured at fair
value. In the absence of a third-party fund

ini Private Equity, it is not a measure of fee
generating capability.

Automatic Exchange of Information
{"AECI") regulation cavers the combined
legislative requirements of Common
Reporting Standards ("CRS") and the Foreign
Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA").
Both sets of rules require financial groups

to identify investars and report details to
their local authority who will then exchange
the information with other relevant

tax authorities,

Board The Board of Directars
of the Company.

Capital redemption reserve is established in
respect of the redemption of the Company's
ordinary shares.

Capital reserve recognises 3l profits that
are capital in nature or have been allocated
to capital. Following changes to the
Companies Act, the Company amended its
Articles of Assaciation at the 2012 Annual
General Meeting to allow these profits to be
distributable by way of a dividend.

Carried interest is accruad on the

realisad and unrealised profits generated
taking refevant performance hurdles into
consideration, assuming all investments
were realised at the prevalling book value.
Carried interest is only actuslly paid or
recewed when the relevant performance
hurdles are met and the accrual is discounted
to reflect expected payment periods.

Carried interest recewable is generated on
third-party capitai over the life of the relevant
fund when relevant performance criteria

are met.

Cofllateralised Loan Obligation ("CLO")

A form of securitisation where payments
from multiple loans are pooled together
ard passed or to different classes of awners
in various tranches.

Company 3i Group plc.

Country by Country Reparting

{"CbC Reporting”) refers to a requirement
for large multinational groups, operating

in different countries, to file an annual

report with their head office tax authority.
This provides information about the activities
of the entities in the Group, on a country-by-
country basis, across the countries in which
the Group operates. This new requirement
applied to the Group from 1 April 2016

Discounting The reduction in present value
at a given date of & future cash transaction

at an assumed rate, using a discount factor
reflecting the time value of money.

Discontinued operations are comprised of
the assets and liabilities associated with the
Group's Debit Management business scid
to Investcorp in March 2017

Dividend income from CLO capital

is recagrised in the Statement of
comprehensive income when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment
have been established.

EBITDA is defined as earnings before
interast, taxation, depreciation and
amortisation and is used as the typical
reasure of portfolio company performance.



EBITDA myltiple Calculated as the
enterprise value over EBITDA, it is used to
determine the value of a company.

Executive Committee The Executive
Committee is responsible for the day-to-day
running of the Group and comprises: the
Chief Executive, Group Finance Director, the
Managing Partners of the Private Equity and
Infrastructure businesses and the Group’s
General Caunsel.

Fair value movements on investment entity
subsidiaries The movement in the carrying
value of Group subsidiaries, classified as
investment entities under IFRS 10, between
the start and end of the accounting period
converted into sterling using the exchange
rates at the date of the movement.

Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")
is an IFRS measurement basis permitted
for assets and liabilities which meet
certain criteria. Gains and losses on assets
and liakilities measured as FVTPL are
recognised directly in the Statement of
comprehensive income.

Fee incoma is earned directly from investee
companies when an investment 1s first made
and through the life of the investment.

Fees that are earned on a financing
arrangement are considered to refate to a
financial asset measured at fair value through
prefit or loss and are recognised when that
investment is made. Fees that are earned on
the basis of providing an ongoing service to
the Investee company are recognised as that
service is provided.

Fees receivable from external funds are
fees received by the Group, from third
parties, for the management of private
equity and infrastructure funds.

Foreign exchange on investments arises
on investments made in currencies that are
different from the functional currency of the
Group entity. Investments are translated at
the exchange rate ruiing at the date of the
transaction. At each subsequent reporting
date, investments are translated to sterling
at the exchange rate ruling at that date.

Gross investment return {*GIR"} includes
profit and loss on reatisations, increases and
decreases in the value of the investments
we hold at the end of a period, any income
recaived from the investments such as
interest, dividends and fee income and
foreign exchange movements. GIR s
measured as a percentage of the opening
portfolic value.

Interest income from investment portfolio is
recognised as it accrues. When the fair value
of an investment is assessed to be below

the principal value of a loan, the Group
recognises a provision against any interest
accrued from the date of the assessment
going forward until the investment 1s
assessed to have recovered in value.

International Financial Reporting Standards
(“JFRS") are accounting standards issued

by the International Aceounting Standards
Board ("IASB"). The Group's consolidated
financial statements are reqguired to be
prepared in accordance with IFRS, as
endorsed by the ELi.

Investment basis Accounts prepared
assurning that IFRS 10 had not been
ntroduced. Under this basis, we fair

value portfolio companies at the level we
believe provides the most comprehensive
financial information.

The commentary in the Strategic report
refers ta this basis as we believe it
provides a more understandable view of
aur performance,

Key Performance Indicators ("KP1")

is a measure by reference to which the
development, performance or position
of the Group can be measured effectively

Money multiple is calculated as the
cumulative distributions plus any resicual
value divided by paid-in capital.

Net asseat value ("NAV"} is a measure of the
fair value of our proprietary investments and
the net costs of operating the business.

OEM is an original equipment manufacturer.

QOperating cash profit is the difference
betweeh our cash income (consisting

of portfolio interest received, portfolio
dividends received, portfalic fees received
and fees received from external funds as per
the Investment basis Consclidated cash flow
statement} and our cperating expenses {as
per the Investment basis Consolidated cash
flow statement).

Operating profit includes gross investment
return, management fee income generated
from managing external funds, the costs of
running our business, net interest payable,
movements in the fair value of derivatives,
other losses and carried interest.
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Portfolio and other information

Glossary
continued

Portfolio income is that which is directly
related to the return from individual
investments. |t 1s recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be economic
benefit and the income can be reliably
measured. It is comprised of dividend
income, income from {oans and receivables
and fee income.

Proprietary capital Sharehalders’
capital which is available to invest to
generate profits.

Public Private Partnership ("PPP*}1s a
government service or private business
venture which is funded and operated
through a partnership of gavernment and
one cr More private sector companies.

Realised profits or Josses over value on

the disposat of investments The diffarerce
between the fair value of the consideration
received, less any directly attributable costs,
on the sale of equity and the repayment

of loans and receivables and its carrying
value at the start of the accounting period,
converted into stering using the exchangs
rates at the date of disposal.

Revenue reserve recognises all profits that
are revenye in nature or have been allocated
1o revenue.

Segmental reporting Operating segments
are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reparting provided to the Chief
Executive who is considered to be the
Group's chief operating decision maker.

All transactions between business segments
are conducted on an arm’s length basis,
with intrasegment revenue and costs being
eliminated on consolidation. Income and
expenses directly associated with each
segment are included in determining
business segment gerformance.
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Share-based payment reserve is a
reserve to recognise those amounts in
retained earnings in respect of share~
based payments.

SORP means the Statement of
Recommended Practice: Financial
Statemnents of Investment Trust Companies
and Venture Capital Trusts.

Total return comprises operating profit
less tax charge iess movement in actuarial
valuation of the histaric defined benefit
pension scheme.

Total shareholder return (“TSR”) is the
measure of the overall return to shareholders
and includes the movement in the share
price and any dividends paid, assuming that
2l dividends are reinvested on their
ex-dividend date.

Transiation reserve comprises !
exchange differences arising from the
transiation of the financial statements of
international operations.

Unrealised profits or losses on the
revaluation of investments The movement
in the carrying value of investments between
the start and end of the accaunting period
converted into sterling using the exchange
rates at the date of the movemnent.
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Register online

To receive shareholder communications
electronically, including reports and notices
of meetings, please register at

www.3i.com/investor-relations

Sign up for 3i news

To be kept up-to-date with 3i’s {atest financial
news and press releases, sign up for alerts at

www. 3i.com/investor-relations




